Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

ASTROCYTES MODULATE MICROGLIAL PHENOTYPE AND DENDRITIC CELL-LIKE PROPERTIES

by Nischal K. Padala

Microglia are the resident immune cells of the CNS. In the healthy CNS, they express negligible levels of MHC II molecules as well as co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86 necessary for antigen presentation to and activation of T cells. Co-stimulatory molecule expression can be induced in isolated microglia in vitro by sequential treatment with granulocyte monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) followed by lipopolysaccharide (LPS). Upon such treatment, they become mature dendritic cells (DCs), capable of activating T cells. However, microglia are not isolated in life, but rather exist in an environment enriched by other cells, notably astrocytes.

Therefore, to determine the effect of astrocytes on the assumption by microglia of the DC phenotype, microglia were treated with GM-CSF and LPS either in the presence or absence of astrocytes and assayed for the DC phenotypic marker CD11c and the costimulatory CD40, CD80, CD86 and MHC II by flow cytometry. When compared to isolated microglia, a significantly lower percentage of microglia co-cultured with astrocytes expressed these markers. Astrocytes also prevent the expression of these molecules in bone marrow-derived DCs. Neither interleukin-10, transforming growth factor-beta, nor prostaglandin E2 are responsible for the inhibition. Rather, contact with the astrocytic environment is responsible for the suppressive qualities.

Microglia cultured in the presence of astrocytes are also functionally distinct from those cultured in isolation. Microglia in association with astrocytes promote T cell proliferation more robustly than do microglia in isolation. By contrast, a significantly higher percentage of CD4⁺ T cells stimulated with α CD3 in the presence of isolated microglia acquire an anti-inflammatory Foxp3⁺ T regulatory phenotype when compared to T cells cultured with microglia in the presence of astrocytes. This is not due to interactions between CD80/CD86 and CTLA4. The elevated presence of Foxp3⁺ T cells appears to be responsible for the lower level of T cell proliferation in the presence of isolated microglia. Finally, analysis of the supernatants from the T cell co-culture experiments reveal that astrocytic interaction(s) with microglia suppress T cell production of pro-inflammatory cytokines interferon- γ and interleukin-17. These data taken together suggest that astrocytes play a crucial role in modulating the microglial immune response in the CNS

ASTROCYTES MODULATE MICROGLIAL PHENOTYPE AND DENDRITIC CELL-LIKE PROPERTIES

by Nischal K. Padala

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey – Newark in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Federated Biological Sciences Department

January 2013

Copyright © 2013 by Nischal K. Padala

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

APPROVAL PAGE

ASTROCYTES MODULATE MICROGLIAL PHENOTYPE AND DENDRITIC CELL-LIKE PROPERTIES

Nischal K. Padala

Dr. Gene Miller Jonakait, Dissertation Advisor	Date
Distinguished Professor of Biology, NJIT	
Dr. Haesun Kim, Committee Member	Date
Assistant Professor of Biology, Rutgers University	
Dr. Wilma Friedman, Committee Member	Date
Professor of Biology, Rutgers University	
Dr. Nick Ponzio, Committee Member	Date
Professor of Pathology, UMDNJ	

Dr. Christine Rohowsky-Kochan, Committee Member Professor of Neurology & Neurosciences, UMDNJ Date

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author: Nischal K. Padala

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Date: January 2013

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Biology, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, 2013
- Bachelor of Arts in Biology, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, Newark, NJ 2005

Major: Biology

Presentations and Publications:

- N. Padala, L. Ni, L. Pratt, G.M. Jonakait, "Astrocytes mediate the ability of microglia to become antigen presenting cells," The 10th European Meeting on Glial Cells in Health and Disease, Prague, Czech Republic, September 2011.
- N. Padala, L. Ni, L. Pratt, G.M. Jonakait, "Astrocytes actively modulate the ability of microglia to become antigen presenting cells," American Society for Neurochemistry, Charleston, SC, March 2009.

Mom, Dad, Brother and Sister

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I am extremely grateful to my advisor Dr. Jonakait for giving me the opportunity to work in her lab. She has provided me with excellent guidance on life and academics throughout the past 8 years. If not for her encouragement and dedication I would not be in this position today.

I am indebted to Dr. Haesun Kim, Dr. Wilma Friedman, Dr. Nick Ponzio and Dr. Christine Rohowsky-Kochan for agreeing to be a part of my dissertation committee and for expending their valuable time and energy to guide me through this whole process.

I am thankful for the National Science Foundation for providing us with the funds for this project and for the lab.

None of this would have been possible without the support of Dr. Ni Li, our outstanding and extraordinary "lab-tech". Thanks for always being so patient with my repeated inane questions.

I am incredibly appreciative and thankful to my lab-mates past and present especially Lori and Giselles who have always been so kind and helpful.

Dar and John for being fantastic and your great friendship.

Sue and Felix for the random afternoon coffee chats

And thanks Jess!

Chapter Pag		
1	RATIONALE AND SPECIFIC AIMS	1
	1.1 Rationale	1
	1.2 Specific Aims	2
2	INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	. 3
	2.1 Microglia	. 3
	2.2 Astrocytes	. 9
	2.3 Dendritic Cells	12
	2.4 CD4 ⁺ T Cells	. 18
	2.4.1 Activation.	18
	2.4.2 Th1 Cells	21
	2.4.3 Th2 Cells	23
	2.4.4 Th17 Cells	25
	2.4.5 T-regulatory Cells	30
	2.5 Maintenance of Tolerance and Prevention of Autoimmunity	. 35
3	POTENTIAL SOLUBLE CANDIDATES	40
	3.1 Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)	40
	3.2 Interleukin-10 (IL-10)	42
	3.3 Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β)	44
	3.4 Rationale for Current Studies	45
4	MATERIAL AND METHODS	46
	4.1 Mice	. 46

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Cha	apter	Page
	4.2	Reagents	46
	4.3	Generation of Mixed Glial Cultures	47
	4.4	Generation and purification of BM-DCs	48
	4.5	Generation of Enriched Astrocytic Cultures	48
	4.6	T-cell Isolation and Culture	49
	4.7	Flow Cytometric Analysis	50
	4.8	Real-Time PCR	50
	4.9	ELISAs	51
5	RES	SULTS	53
	5.1	Astrocytes modulate the efficient maturation of microglial cells into a dendritic cell-like phenotype	53
	5.2	Microglia in the presence of astrocytes express higher levels of co-stimulatory molecule mRNA	58
	5.3	Astrocytes prevent the efficient maturation of bone marrow-derived DC (BM-DC) precursor cells into fully mature DCs	60
	5.4	Astrocytes preserve the expression of the fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) on microglia	63
	5.5	Prostaglandin E2, interleukin-10 or transforming growth factor- β are not the mediators of microglial suppression	67
	5.6	Repression of microglial activation and maintenance of microglial CX3CR1 requires continued astrocytic contact	73
	5.7	Astrocytic extracellular matrix molecules may play a role in suppressing microglial expression of co-stimulatory molecules	75
	5.8	A mixed glial environment is more conducive for T cell activation and proliferation	78

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Chapter	Page
	5.9 Isolated microglia promote the differentiation of Foxp3 ⁺ T cells	81
	5.10 CD80/CD86 stimulation of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) is not responsible for the increased percentage of $Foxp3^+ T_{regs}$ in the isolation cultures	83
	5.11Foxp3 ⁺ T regulatory cells in the isolated microglial cultures suppress T cell proliferation	85
	5.12 A mixed glial environment is less conducive for cytokine production	87
6	DISCUSSION	90
7	REFERENCES	112

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Molecular Signals and Modulators of Microglial Activation	6
2.2	TLRs and Their Ligands	17
4.1	Primers Used	51

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	re	Page
4.3	Diagram of treatment protocol	48
5.1	Astrocytes inhibit microglial production of a mature DC phenotype	56
5.2	RT-PCR analysis of microglial expression of mRNA for MHC Class II and co- stimulatory molecules following a 24-hr LPS time course	- 59
5.3	Astrocytes inhibit the expression of a mature DC phenotype in bone marrow- derived cells	61
5.4	Astrocytes preserve microglial CX3CR1 ^{GFP/GFP} expression	65
5.5	Neither PGE2, IL-10 nor TGF- β mediate microglial suppression	70
5.6	Cell-cell contact is necessary for astrocytes to modulate microglial DC maturation.	74
5.7	Matrigel TM partially mimics the effect of astrocytes on microglia	76
5.8	Glia affect T cell proliferation	80
5.9	Isolated microglia promote the generation of Foxp3 ⁺ T cells	82
5.10	Foxp3 induction is not affected by CTLA-4 inhibition	84
5.11	Depletion of CD25 ⁺ cells rescues CD4 ⁺ T cell proliferation	86
5.12	Mixed glial environment suppresses cytokine production	88

CHAPTER 1

RATIONALE AND SPECIFIC AIMS

1.1 Rationale

Microglia – like other monocytically-derived cells – are capable of expressing a dendritic cell (DC) phenotype. When isolated in culture and properly stimulated, microglia produce major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC Class II) as well as the costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86 that allow them to present antigen and activate T cells. The production of an appropriate T cell response is of vital importance to the healthy brain, and understanding the role of microglia in regulating this T cell response is crucial. During multiple sclerosis (MS) or its animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), pro-inflammatory myelin-specific T cells invade the brain parenchyma destroying the myelin sheath. On the other hand, glial tumors suppress T cell responses. While these tumors contain resident microglia, they are immune incompetent, unable to mount an attack against the tumor. Their immaturity with respect to antigen-presentation may contribute to an environment in which antiinflammatory $Foxp3^+$ T regulatory cells are able to invade tumors and protect them against autoimmunity. The abundance of these regulatory cells is correlated with poor prognosis.

The interaction between both normal and malignant astrocytes and microglia is an essential one. Nevertheless, studies revealing the antigen-presenting capabilities of microglia almost exclusively been performed in the absence of astrocytes. Thus, how astrocytes might affect antigen presentation has been largely unknown. Data presented in

this thesis will indicate how important it is to understand this interaction for a complete understanding of microglial biology.

This thesis investigates the nature of an astrocytic/microglial cross-talk that affects the ability of microglia to assume a dendritic cell-like phenotype. Furthermore, the ability of microglia cultured in the presence or absence of astrocytes to influence CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and Foxp3 T cell differentiation is also examined. These studies address several specific aims, outlined below.

1.2 Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1. To determine whether the presence of astrocytes affects the ability of microglia to express dendritic cell (DC) markers CD11c, MHC Class II and co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86.

Specific Aim 2. To determine whether differences in surface expression of these DC-specific molecules is the result of soluble or contact-mediated events.

Specific Aim 3. To examine the effects of differences in surface expression of these DC-specific molecules on T cell proliferation, Foxp3 expression and cytokine production

CHAPTER 2

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Microglia

The CNS comprises two major cell types: neurons and glial cells. The glial cells include microglia, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (He and Sun, 2007). Microglia are the resident immune cells of the CNS and are derived from CD45⁺ myeloid precursors. The same lineage also gives rise to bone marrow-derived dendritic cells and granulocytes (Aloisi, 2001; Barron, 1995; Chan et al., 2007; Gehrmann et al., 1995; Kaur et al., 2001; Rezaie and Male, 2002). Microglia represent up to 20% of the total glial population in a healthy brain (Barron, 1995). It is generally accepted that microglial precursors migrate into the developing CNS from blood-producing centers during the mid-to-late embryonic and early postnatal periods (Kaur et al., 2001). There are two types of microglia in the CNS: perivascular and parenchymal. As their names suggest, perivascular microglia are found surrounding the vasculature of the CNS whereas parenchymal microglia are distributed throughout the brain and spinal cord (Barron, 1995; Chan et al., 2007; Kaur et al., 2001; Ling et al., 2001; Streit et al., 1988). Bone marrow chimera studies indicate that the perivascular population of microglia is slowly yet constantly replaced throughout life by bone marrow-derived precursors, whereas the parenchymal population is not (Simard and Rivest, 2004).

Microglia are among the first responders to CNS insults such as ischemia, trauma, and neurodegeneration (Aloisi, 1999; Glezer et al., 2007; Hickey, 2001; Kreutzberg, 1996; Minghetti and Levi, 1998; Nakamura, 2002; Rock et al., 2004; Streit et al., 1999; van Rossum and Hanisch, 2004). Microglia, by secreting brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) and anti-inflammatory cytokines can influence the survival and regeneration of neural tissue after injury. On the other hand, microglial secretion of nitric oxide (NO), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and proinflammatory cytokines can be neurotoxic (Banati et al., 1993; Minghetti and Levi, 1998; Stoll and Jander, 1999; Wu et al., 2009). The composition of microglial products seems to be determined by the nature and potency of the activating signals.

In the normal brain microglia exhibit a ramified morphology, and, in the absence of an activation signal, exist in an "immature" phenotype (Nakamura, 2002; Ponomarev et al., 2005). Though un-activated, microglia constantly survey their microenvironment. Nimmerjahn and co-workers established that microglia *in vivo* are "highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma." They further reported that microglia appear to "sample" their neighboring parenchyma by rapidly extending and retracting their processes. In fact, this process is fast enough for the population of microglia to survey the entire CNS parenchyma within a few hours (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005).

Microglia express or can be induced to express a wide variety of cell surface receptors that can detect the consequences of almost any CNS insult as illustrated in Table 2.1. Prominent among these are receptors for phagocytosis, chemotaxis, pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and stress-related heat shock proteins (Olson and Miller, 2004; Raivich et al., 1993; Ransohoff et al., 2007). Microglial phagocytic activity is critical for removing debris resulting from apoptotic or necrotic cells in the CNS. The timely removal of apoptotic cells is of great importance as it prevents potentially destructive inflammation in the CNS. Unlike necrosis, apoptosis is the orderly destruction of a cell that ultimately results in the phagocytosis of the apoptotic cell by macrophages or by microglia in the CNS.

The expression of chemotactic receptors facilitates the migration of microglia to sites of injury within the CNS. Besides accumulating locally at the site of injury, chemokines released by activated microglia can further recruit infiltrating T cells, DCs, and macrophages (Cardona et al., 2008; Ransohoff et al., 2007; Rebenko-Moll et al., 2006). Befitting their role as "CNS resident immune cells," microglia activated by PAMPs can secrete numerous immunomodulatory compounds. Upon activation microglia in vitro can assume a dendritic cell-like phenotype characterized by high expression of CD40, CD80, CD86, MHC Class II and the capacity to stimulate T cell activation (Aloisi et al., 2000; Matyszak et al., 1999; Ponomarev et al., 2005; Ponomarev et al., 2006; Ponomarev et al., 2007). Moreover, activated microglia can produce cytokines including tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-3, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) and the prostanoid prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) all of which can modulate the T cell response (Aloisi et al., 1997; Aloisi et al., 1999; Aloisi, 2001; Banati et al., 1993; Mizuno et al., 1994b; Mizuno et al., 1994a; Suzumura et al., 1996; Wu et al., 2009). Table 2.1 on following page.

Class of Compound	<u>Examples</u>
Surface structures of infectious agents	Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), bacterial cell wall proteoglycans, teichoic acid, gp41, gp120
Abnormal endogenous proteins	β-amyloid, prion protein
Complement	Complement factor Clq, C5a
Antibodies	Immunoglogulin A (IgA), IgG, IgM
Cytokines	Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL6, IL-10, IL-12, interferon-gamma (IFN γ), TGF β , TNF α
Chemokines (ligands for the chemokine receptors)	CCR3, CCR5, CXCR2, CXCR4
Neurotrophic factors	Brain-derived neuronotrophic factor (BDNF0, glial cell line- derived neuronotrophic factor (GDNF)
Serum factors and proteases	Albumin, thrombin
Other proteins and peptides	Apolipoprotein E, CD40L, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP)
Neurotransmission-related compounds	β-adrenergic agonists, ATP, glutamate, NMDA
Ions	K^{+}, Mn^{2+}
Other compounds	Cannabinoids, ceramide, gangliosides, melatonin, platelet- activating factor, PGE2

 Table 2.1
 Molecular Signals and Modulators of Microglial Activation

activating factor, PGE2 Source: Adapted from van Rossum, D. and Hanisch, U.-K. (2004), *Metabolic Brain Disease*, 19:399

By being immunocompetent microglia may play a role in the induction and etiology of autoimmune disorders such as multiple sclerosis (MS) (Becher et al., 2000b; Lubetzki et al., 2005; McQuaid et al., 2009; Ponomarev et al., 2005). The role of microglia in MS has come under intense scrutiny over the years, and yet the precise function of microglia during MS is not entirely clear. MS is an autoimmune disorder characterized by the loss of the myelin sheath surrounding axons. Most of the extant knowledge about MS pathology comes from studies using the animal model of experimental autoimmune encephelomyelities (EAE). EAE can be induced in rodents by immunization with myelin basic protein (MBP) or proteolipoprotein (PLP) or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) in complete Freund's adjuvant (McMahon et al., 2005). Although the precise cause of MS is not presently known, it is obvious that $CD4^+$ T cells specific for myelin-derived antigens are responsible for the progression of MS (Adamus et al., 1996; Aggarwal et al., 2003; Bailey et al., 2007; Becher et al., 2000a). It is important to note that naïve T cells specific for myelin-derived antigens exist in most however, they only cause disease in a relatively small number of people. people; Several theories have been put forth to explain this apparent anomaly. The theory of molecular mimicry posits that antigens from pathogens such as viruses or bacteria may resemble myelin antigens closely enough that the immune system fails to differentiate between structurally similar self and non-self resulting in autoimmunity. It has been hypothesized that chronic inflammation may result in the activation of T cells of unrelated antigen specificities through a process called epitope spreading (McMahon et al., 2005).

Rodent studies show that auto-reactive T cells activated in the periphery need to be re-stimulated upon arrival in the CNS. In vitro, microglia can be prompted to assume a dendritic cell (DC) phenotype through a multi-step activation process. Exposure to the hematopoietic growth factors such as granulocyte/monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) can prime microglia to enter a DC differentiation pathway (Aloisi et al., 2000; Ponomarev et al., 2007; Re et al., 2002). Further activation in the form of inflammatory signal such as interferon gamma (IFN- γ) or LPS or exposure to activated T cells can push microglia into a fully competent antigen-presenting cell (APC) phenotype (Aloisi et al., 2000; Ponomarev et al., 2007; Re et al., 2002; Shrikant and Benveniste, 1996).

The state of microglial activation appears to dictate whether they can activate a T cell or induce anergy. Matyszak and colleagues report that microglia treated with GM-CSF, IFN- γ or CD40 ligand (CD40L; CD154) alone are not mature APCs. They also demonstrate that microglia only partially activated induce anergy in T cells whereas microglia in the presence of GM-CSF and a pro-inflammatory secondary signal promote T cell activation and proliferation (Matyszak et al., 1999).

Given their competence in vitro as DCs microglia were initially thought to restimulate encephalitogenic T cells during MS episodes. There is conflicting evidence whether this re-stimulation is accomplished by microglia or by infiltrating DCs from the periphery. Furthermore, the re-stimulation of T cells either by DCs and/or microglia is accompanied by the failure of the usual protective immunosuppressive mechanism(s) employed by the CNS. Studies indicate that at least some part of this failure may be a consequence by dysfunctional or compromised astrocytes.

2.2 Astrocytes

Astrocytes are the most abundant glial cell type in the CNS. Originating from the neuroectoderm during development, astrocytes are absolutely essential for maintaining the homeostatic conditions in the CNS (Dong and Benveniste, 2001; He and Sun, 2007; Malipiero et al., 1990). Immunohistochemically identified by the expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), astrocytes provide a stable environment for neurons by preventing fluctuations in local ion concentrations and pH (He and Sun, 2007). Moreover, they clear neuronal waste and prevent excitotoxicity by removing excessive neurotrasmitters such as glutamate from the synaptic cleft. Astrocytes also foster neuronal and oligodendrocyte survival by releasing BDNF, NGF and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) among others. In addition to these functions astrocytes maintain and regulate the blood brain barrier (BBB) (Aloisi et al., 1995; Becher et al., 2000b; Bechmann et al., 2007; Compston et al., 1997; He and Sun, 2007).

Traditionally, the CNS has been viewed as an immune privileged site, partly as a consequence of its separation from the rest of the body by the BBB (Hickey, 2001; Suter et al., 2003). Though the BBB is highly permeable to water and lipid soluble molecules and possesses carrier mechanisms for essential nutrients, it generally inhibits the free passage of solutes from systemic circulation into the CNS (Hickey, 2001). Also the CNS expresses very low levels of adhesion molecules necessary for the transit of immune cells into the CNS. Additionally, the CNS expresses copious amounts of TGF- β , a molecule that suppresses chemokine and adhesion molecule production as well as T cell proliferation (DeGroot et al., 1999; Li et al., 2006; Logan et al., 1992; Wesolowska et al., 2008). In addition to limiting the number of T cells that traffic through the CNS, the

microenvironment of the CNS seems to be detrimental to the fate of the T cells that do enter the CNS. Numerous studies show that T cells at least in the healthy CNS are quickly eliminated through apoptosis. The proposed mechanisms include the withdrawal of T cell trophic factors such as IL-2 or IL-7, encounter with T regulatory cells, the activation of TNF receptor 1 and/or CD95-CD95L death-inducing pathways(Kwidzinski et al., 2005; Meinl et al., 1994).

However, in the past few years the definition of CNS immune privilege has been refined. Evidence has steadily emerged demonstrating that during an immune response, activated T cells pass through the BBB and into the CNS irrespective of the involvement of CNS antigens in the initiation of the inflammation (Cayrol et al., 2008; Engelhardt, 2006; Ifergan et al., 2008; Lees et al., 2006). Furthermore, contrary to prior opinion, CNS derived antigens have also been shown to drain to cervical lymph nodes where they may be endocytosed by DCs and presented to T cells in the periphery. Though the CNS has an elaborate mechanism that seems to discourage T cell activity, under certain conditions T cells can and do overcome this inhibitory effect. During infections or autoimmune MS/EAE, for example, T cells proliferate and accumulate in the CNS resulting in inflammation that is detrimental to the health of the organism (Becher et al., 1999; Cayrol et al., 2008; Dittel, 2008; Engelhardt, 2006; Kebir et al., 2007; Lees et al., 2006; McQuaid et al., 2009; Meinl et al., 1994).

Until relatively recently, astrocytes were thought of only as "housekeeping" or "support cells," and their immunological functions were somewhat overlooked. Though their capacity to activate T cells through antigen capture and presentation is controversial, there is no dispute about their capability to produce a wide variety of cytokines and chemokines. These include the cytokines IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- α , IFN- β , GM-CSF, TGF- β , TNF- α , PGE2 and the chemokines monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1, CCL2), IFN- γ inducible protein 10 (IP-10), CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CCL20, CXCL12 (Aloisi et al., 1995; Constantinescu et al., 1996; Dong and Benveniste, 2001; Farina et al., 2007; Frei et al., 1989; He and Sun, 2007; Malipiero et al., 1990; Mizuno et al., 1994b; Mizuno et al., 1994a; Ohno et al., 1990; Sawada et al., 1989; Sawada et al., 1992). These immunomodulatory proteins not only affect T cells that find their way into the CNS directly, but they can also affect T cells indirectly by influencing the maturation and or function of infiltrating peripheral DCs and of potential CNS DCs like microglia.

There is some evidence that points to the modulatory affect of astrocytes on microglia and monocyte-derived cells. Astrocytes appear to down-regulate microglial expression of the IL-10 receptor (Ledeboer et al., 2002). Moreover, astrocyte-derived molecules down-regulate the production of IL-12 by microglia activated by IFN-γ/LPS (Aloisi et al., 1997). IL-12 suppression is mediated incompletely by soluble factors indicating that astrocytic cell membrane bound molecules may be important. Though the study did not identify the active molecules, IL-10 and PGE2 were found not to be responsible. Further evidence for the suppressive quality of astrocytes comes from a study conducted by Hailer and co-workers. Human peripheral blood-derived monocytes (PBMCs) activated with LPS in the presence of rat astrocytic supernatant expressed significantly lower levels of MHC Class II. Reduced PBMC MHC Class II expression could only be partially mimicked by the addition of exogenous IL-4, IL-10 or the receptor antagonist for IL-1 (Hailer et al., 1998). Furthermore, soluble astrocytic factors increase the expression of hemeoxygenase-1 in microglia under inflammatory conditions

(HO-1) and inducible-nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in a TGF- β mediated process (Min et al., 2010; Vincent et al., 1997). More importantly, microglia, in the presence of astrocytes or astrocytic-conditioned medium (ACM) were markedly less active/neurotoxic even when exposed to amyloid peptide (A β), a potent activator of microglia in vitro (von Bernhardi and Eugenin, 2004). Taken together these reports clearly demonstrate that astrocytes and microglia behave quite differently when they are together than when they are alone.

2.3 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the primary antigen presenting cells (APCs) of the immune system, and play an important role in linking the innate (antigen-nonspecific) and the adaptive (antigen-specific) arms of the immune system (Banchereau et al., 2000; Banchereau et al., 2003; Banchereau and Steinman, 1998). As such, they are essential for the activation and maturation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into fully functional T helper cells (Th cells). Additionally, DCs are also crucial for B-cell maturation, boosting antibody production, Ig class switching and cytotoxic T cell activities (Banchereau et al., 2000; Mellman and Steinman, 2001; Palucka and Banchereau, 1999a; Steinman et al., 1999; Thery and Amigorena, 2001). Furthermore, they play a critical role in preventing autoimmunity by tolerizing T cells to self antigens (Blanco et al., 2008; Coquerelle and Moser, 2008; Hawiger et al., 2001; Wallet et al., 2005). Newly-generated immature dendritic cells (iDCs) from the bone marrow migrate via the bloodstream and take up residence in peripheral tissues where they are poised to respond to any pathogenic challenge (Hopken and Lipp, 2004; MartIn-Fontecha et al., 2003).

In the periphery, the iDCs constantly sample their microenvironment through a variety of processes. These include macropinocytois, phagocytosis and endocytosis triggered by C-type lectin receptors, type I and II Fcγ receptors and various integrins that recognize apoptotic or necrotic cell death. "Self" antigens, arising as a consequence of apoptotic or necrotic cell death, and "non-self" antigens from invading pathogens are all efficiently captured and processed by iDCs (Basu et al., 2000; Manfredi et al., 2009; Maresz et al., 2007; Meloni et al., 2008; Sauter et al., 2000; Steinman et al., 2000). Though competent at capturing antigens, iDCs are poor activators of T cells since they either lack or express low levels of T cell stimulatory molecules such as major histocompatibility complex I or II (MHCs), CD40, CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) (Dhodapkar et al., 2001; Hawiger et al., 2001; Jin et al., 2003).

The maturation of iDC from an antigen-capturing to an antigen-presenting phenotype capable of activating naïve T cells is a complex process. In order to finish maturation they must travel to the lymph nodes or the spleen and interact with T cells (Allavena et al., 1999; McColl, 2002). Changes in the expression of various chemokine receptors (CCRs) expressed by iDCs undergoing maturation facilitate their voyage to the secondary lymphoid organs. Chemokines such as macrophage inflammatory protein- 1α (MIP- 1α /CCL3), MCP-1/CCL2) and the chemokine Regulated Upon Activation in Normal T cells, Expressed, Secreted (RANTES/CCL5) recruit CCR5- and CCR6-expressing iDCs to the site of inflammation (Sallusto et al., 1998).

As the iDCs mature, CCR7, the receptor for CCL19 and CCL21, is upregulated at the expense of CCR5 and CCR6 (Allavena et al., 1999; McColl, 2002; Randolph et al.,

2005). CCL19 is constitutively expressed by stromal cells and by mature DCs in the "T cell zone" of the secondary lymphoid organs. On the other hand, CCL21 is expressed mainly by cells of the lymphatic vessels. The restrictive expression of CCL19 and CCL21 in the lymphoid organs coupled with the switch in the expression of CCRs in DCs undergoing maturation ensures that only iDCs that are sufficiently activated undergo migration (Sallusto et al., 1998). Once the iDCs reach the lymphoid organs, chemokines released by the maturing DCs attract naïve T cells. Naïve T cells expressing high quantities of CD40L complete the DC activation process by binding to CD40 on the maturing DCs (McColl, 2002; Sozzani et al., 1998). Besides T cells, mature DCs already present in the lymphoid organs can provide the final maturation signal to the maturing DCs by secreting cytokines such as TNF α and IFN- γ . Upon receiving maturation signals iDCs undergo significant phenotypical and morphological changes that culminate in the generation of fully mature APC. Changes in the expression of many cell surface receptors and various intracellular processes are observed during this time. Down-regulation of antigen uptake activities while up-regulating the T cell stimulatory molecules and cytokine secretion are some of the hallmarks of iDCs undergoing maturation. Compared to iDCs, mature DCs (mDCs) express high levels of MHC Class I and II, CD40, CD80, CD86 and various cytokines and chemokines (Lutz and Schuler, 2002; Turley et al., 2000).

iDCs are set upon the path to maturation when they encounter a "danger signal." Various endogenous and exogenous cues can serve as the danger signal (Bianchi, 2007; Lotze et al., 2007a). Endogenous signals released by necrotic or damaged cells (but not apoptotic cells) in the form of "damage associated molecular patterns" (DAMPs) like heat shock proteins (HSP), nucleotides, or high mobility group 1 protein (HMGB1) can serve as activating signals. Human iDCs treated with HSP60, HSP70 or gp96 assume a mature dendritic cell phenotype (Bianchi, 2007; Flohe et al., 2003; Lotze et al., 2007a; Matzinger, 2002; Singh-Jasuja et al., 2000b; Singh-Jasuja et al., 2000a; Willart and Lambrecht, 2009). Likewise, HMGB1, a chromatin binding protein, passively released by necrotic cells can efficiently induce iDC maturation (Lotze et al., 2007b; Scaffidi et al., 2002). Furthermore, iDCs can respond to pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF α , IL-1 α , and IL-4 that are produced during early stages of the immune reaction by innate immune system cells such as macrophages, neutrophils and eosinophils.

Exogenous signals in the form of PAMPs like LPS recognized by particular "pattern recognition receptors" (PRRs) such as those belonging to the Toll-like family of receptors (TLR) may also serve to induce iDC maturation (Akira et al., 2000; Bianchi, 2007; Edwards et al., 2002; Kaisho and Akira, 2003; Kaisho and Akira, 2006; Medzhitov, 2001; Miller et al., 2005; O'Neill, 2008). TLRs are the most widely studied PRRs in mammals. At least 10 different TLRs in humans and 13 in mice have been identified (Medzhitov and Janeway, Jr., 2000b). All TLRs share a common extracellular domain rich in leucine repeats and an intracellular Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) homology domain (O'Neill, 2008). The downstream signaling pathways for TLRs are activated by the binding of the appropriate ligand as illustrated in Table 2.2.

Downstream TLR signaling can occur in one of two ways. All TLRs, with the exception of TLR 3, can activate either the MyD88 adapter dependent or independent pathway (Akira et al., 2000; Yamamoto et al., 2003). TLR 3 can only activate the MyD88-independent pathway. However, regardless of the stimulating ligand, all TLR

ligation culminates with the activation of the transcription factors NF-kB, activating protein 1 (AP-1) and/or interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3).

In the MyD88 dependent pathway, MyD88 is recruited to the intracellular TIR domain by the adapter protein TIR Activating Protein (TIRAP/MAL). MyD88 in turn recruits the IL-1 Receptor Associated Kinase (IRAK) family members IRAK-4 and IRAK-1 to further the signaling event. Phosphorylated IRAK-1 associates with the TNF Receptor Associated Factor-6 (TRAF-6) and activates it through phosphorylation. At this point the signal bifurcates with one arm leading to the activation of MAP kinases and AP-1 and the other arm leading to the activation of NF- κ B by the ubiquitination and degradation of the NF-kB inhibitor, IkB. TLR activation of the MyD88 independent pathway requires the TIR domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-β (TRIF) protein. Intracellular TLR 3 activated by dsRNA can interact directly with TRIF. TRIF activation leads to the activation of the kinase IKK which phosphorylates the interferon regulatory factor-3 (IRF-3) and facilitates its nuclear translocation. The activation of the transcription factors NF- κ B, AP-1 and IRF-3 can lead to the maturation and up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules and secretion of chemokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines in iDCs (Medzhitov and Janeway, Jr., 2000a; O'Neill, 2008). Table 2.2 on page 17.

Га	ble	2.2	TLRs	and	Their	Ligands
----	-----	-----	------	-----	-------	---------

,

TLR	Ligands
TLR 1	Triacyl lipopeptides
TLR 2	Peptidoglycan
TLR 3	dsRNA
TLR 4	LPS, taxol, HSP's, envelop protein
TLR 5	Flagellin
TLR 6	Diacyl lipopeptides
TLR 7	ssRNA
TLR 8	ssRNA (only in humans)
TLR 9	CpG DNA

Source: Takeda and Akira, 2007

In the lymphoid organs, the captured and by-now-processed foreign antigen is presented by DCs expressing MHC I or II molecule to an antigen-specific naïve CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ TCR respectively (Banchereau et al., 2000; Guermonprez et al., 2002; Mellman et al., 1998; Mellman and Steinman, 2001; Pierre et al., 1997; Wallet et al., 2005). This is one of the two signals required for T cell activation. The second signal is provided by costimulatory molecules belonging to the B7 family (CD80, CD86) or CD40 (Avni and Rao, 2000; Brehin et al., 2008; Bretscher, 1999; Cardona et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2003; Green et al., 1995). These molecules engage their binding partners CD28/CTLA-4 and the CD40L to mediate T cell responses.

2.4 CD4⁺ T Cells

2.4.1 Activation

 $CD4^+$ T cells are critical mediators of the adaptive immune system. Activated T cells can recruit other members of the immune system such as B cells, basophils, and neutrophils by producing various cytokines and chemokines, to further bolster the immune response (Palucka and Banchereau, 1999b). Naïve $CD4^+$ T cells responses can be polarized into at least four important categories: Th1, Th2, Th17 and T_{regs}. Of these, Th1 and Th17 are generally considered to be pro-inflammatory whereas, Th2 and T_{regs} are usually thought of as anti-inflammatory.

The proper activation of naïve T cells requires two distinct signals. Evidence for the existence of a two-signal mechanism in T cell activation was first presented by Lafferty and Woolnough. In a report on the mechanism of allograft rejection, they proposed that proper T cell activation requires an "antigenic" as well as an "inductive stimulus." They further claimed that neither stimulus by itself was sufficient to induce T cell activation (Lafferty and Woolnough, 1977). Further studies since then have proved this to be the case (Acuto et al., 2003; Tuosto and Acuto, 1998). Sufficiently mature DCs can supply T cells with the required signals, both in vivo and in vitro. In case of naïve CD4⁺ T cells, DCs present a captured and processed antigen peptide in the context of MHC II to the TCR to provide signal one. The TCR is a multi-subunit complex composed of variable α and β chains non-covalently linked to a non-variable CD3 unit (Dietrich et al., 1996). The variable $\alpha\beta$ subunit of the TCR possesses the capacity to bind the multitude of antigens that may be encountered during the lifetime of an organism. The non-variable CD3 seems to serve primarily as a signal transducing protein since T cells in vitro may be activated by agonist CD3 antibodies without the help of APCs or antigens (Hermans and Malissen, 1993; Wegener et al., 1992). Stimulation of the TCR leads to a complex chain of events that culminates in the activation of transcription factors including nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) (Masuda et al., 1998). The activation of NF- κ B and NFAT results in the transcription of various genes necessary for the further maturation of T cells.

In spite of all the changes in gene transcription and translation, signal one alone cannot elicit a proper response from T cells. Belying its name as mere "co-stimulation," signal two is as important as the signal provided by the MHCII:antigen-peptide complex. Various B7 family members such as B7.1 (CD80), B7.2 (CD86), B7-H1/programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) and B7-H2 expressed by DCs can provide the secondary stimulus when they interact with their cognate receptors CD28, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), inducible co-stimulator (ICOS) and programmed death (PD-1) expressed on T cells.

T cells constitutively express CD28 (Gross et al., 1992). Stimulation of CD28 by either CD80 or CD86 can lead to the enhancement of IL-2 production which then acts in a paracrine/autocrine manner to promote T cell proliferation (Appleman et al., 2000; Lucas et al., 1995). Additionally, CD28 stimulation also increases the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-xl in an IL-2 independent manner to further bolster the ability of T cells to resist apoptosis (Boise et al., 1995). Unlike CD28, CTLA-4, PD-L1 and ICOS are rapidly upregulated upon T cell activation (Latchman et al., 2004; Teft et al., 2006). ICOS is a positive regulator of T cell function. ICOS stimulation after T cell activation appears to be important for enhancement of effector T cell functions and cytokine secretion, especially for Th2 polarized cells (Watanabe et al., 2005). On the other hand, CTLA-4 and PD-L1 act negatively to limit the T cell response (Nishimura et al., 2001; Walunas et al., 1994).

Co-stimulation can also be provided by stimulation of the T cell CD40L by CD40-expressing DCs (Fujii et al., 2004). CD40 is a member of the TNF super family of receptors and is expressed by a variety of cells such as DCs, monocytes, B and epithelial cells (van Kooten and Banchereau, 1997). Stimulation of CD40/CD40L pathway has been shown to improve the efficiency of DCs by upregulating their expression of CD80/CD86 while simultaneously providing T cells with a secondary stimulus (Quezada et al., 2004; van Kooten and Banchereau, 1997).

Not only are DCs capable of activating T cells but they also have the capacity to modulate and fine-tune the T cell response. The strength and duration of DC signaling seems to play a role in determining the direction of the immune response, with evidence showing that a "strong" and prolonged signaling leads to type 1 inflammatory response (Th1), whereas a "weak" signal gives rise to anti-inflammatory Th2 responses (Bretscher, 1999; Green et al., 1995; Guermonprez et al., 2002). Another important factor in determining T cell fate is the cytokine milieu present during their activation. To date, four main differentiation pathways have been identified for naïve CD4⁺ T helper cells. T cells can become T helper (Th) 1, -2, -17, or T regulatory cells (T_{regs}) (Murphy and Reiner, 2002). Development of the appropriate subset of Th cells is of vital importance not only to fight off infections but also to prevent autoimmunity.

DCs at different stages of maturation or belonging to different subsets can affect the outcome of an immune response (Lutz and Schuler, 2002; Mahnke et al., 2002). Depending on conditions, DCs can secrete many immunomodulatory chemokines and cytokines that can affect the quality of the immune response. For instance, DCs stimulated by LPS primarily secrete IL-12 and stimulate a pro-inflammatory Th1 response (Hsieh et al., 1993; Murphy et al., 1997).

2.4.2 Th1 Cells

First described more than two decades ago by Mosmann and Coffman, Th1 and Th2 cells are probably the most widely studied subsets of T helper cells (Mosmann et al., 2005). In that seminal study, two distinct clones of T cells were identified, based mainly on the production of certain "signature" cytokines. Since then, knowledge of these two closely related Th cells has expanded considerably.

Th1 is a pro-inflammatory phenotype of T cell characterized by high production of IFN- γ , lymphotoxin- α (LT- α /TNF- β), and IL-2. Naïve CD4⁺ cells can be polarized into attaining a Th1 phenotype on TCR stimulation in the presence of IL-12 (Manetti et al., 1993). DCs activated by TLR ligation or pro-inflammatory cytokines acquire the ability to produce copious amounts of IL-12. IL-12 is a heterodimeric pro-inflammatory cytokine and the founding member of the IL-12 family of cytokines which also includes IL-23, IL-27 and IL-35. An IL-12-specific p35 subunit combines with a common p40 subunit to form bioactive IL-12p70 (Trinchieri et al., 2003). DCs and other innate immune cells such as monocytes, neutrophils and natural killer (NK) cells are able to produce IL-12. Naïve T cells constitutively express the receptors for IFN- γ and IL-12R β 1, which act together with the inducible β 2 subunit to confer IL-12 sensitivity (Chua et al., 1995; Presky et al., 1996; Wu et al., 1996). IL-12 β 2 subunit expression is rapidly upregulated by T cells upon TCR stimulation in an interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1)
dependent manner (Kano et al., 2008). The activation of IRF-1 is a critical step in making T cells responsive to the effects of IL-12. Abrogation of IRF-1 signaling in vivo or in vitro results in a significant skewing of the Th response in favor of Th2 cells while simultaneously reducing the number of Th1 cells significantly (Taki et al., 1997).

IL-12 acts in an autocrine manner to maintain its own expression through the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription-4 (STAT-4) (Nishikomori et al., 2002). The activation of STAT-4 also leads to the production of IFN- γ , that acts in a paracrine/autocrine manner to activate STAT-1 and the Th1-specific transcription factor "t-bet" (Lighvani et al., 2001; Szabo et al., 2000). Moreover, IFN- γ can initiate the Th1 developmental pathway by itself in the absence of IL-12 though not as efficiently as IL-12 (Lugo-Villarino et al., 2003). The activation of STAT-1 stabilizes the expression of the IL-12R complex thereby maintaining Th1 IL-12 responsiveness over their lifetime. Interestingly, the expression of STAT-1 appears to be absolutely required to promote Th1 development only in the presence of both Th1 and Th2 polarizing cytokines. The deletion of STAT-1 in the absence of Th2 cytokines and in the presence of IL-12 does not affect the ability of CD4⁺ T cells to become Th1 cells (Afkarian et al., 2002). However, the expression of t-bet is required in all instances and naïve T cells lacking t-bet cannot efficiently differentiate into Th1 cells (Szabo et al., 2000).

Proper Th1 responses are critical for the clearance of certain intracellular pathogens such as protozoa, bacteria and fungi. IFN- γ , the main effector cytokine produced by Th1 cells, is indispensable for their action. For instance, infections by the bacterium *Listeria monocytogenes* require a robust Th1 response to be cleared (Scott et al., 1988; Sher and Coffman, 1992) Though originally implicated as the critical players in

the etiology of many autoimmune disorders, the role of Th1 cells has been significantly downgraded upon the recent discovery of Th17 cells and findings about their role in autoimmune pathology (See below).

2.4.3 Th2 Cells

Along with Th1 cells, Th2 cells were one of the two subsets of Th cells originally described by Mosmann et al. in 1986. Th2 cells are considered primarily to be antiinflammatory in nature and are defined by their production of the cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13 and IL-25 (Mosmann et al., 1986; Swain et al., 1988; Zhu and Paul, 2008). While mostly anti-inflammatory in nature, Th2 cells are responsible for airway allergy inflammation and are required for efficient action against certain extracellular pathogens such as helminthes and nematodes (Zhu and Paul, 2008). Furthermore, the cytokines produced by Th2 cells can promote antibody class switching by B cells (Sher et al., 1990).

Not unlike Th1 cells, the polarization of Th2 cells also depends on TCR signaling and the presence of the requisite cytokines in the immediate microenviroment. IL-4, the signature cytokine produced by Th2 cells, is also required to initiate their development from CD4⁺ naïve T cells (Swain et al., 1990). In vitro, T cells can be polarized into Th2 cells by TCR stimulation in the presence of exogenous IL-4. Moreover, Th2 cells can also be generated in the absence of exogenously added IL-4 through TCR stimulation and the simultaneous blockade of Th1 polarizing signals. Upon TCR stimulation CD4⁺ T cells produce low amounts of IL-4 which appear to be sufficient to elicit a positive feedback loop resulting in Th2 differentiation when antagonizing stimuli are neutralized (Rao and Avni, 2000). Also, as mentioned above, the strength of DC-T cell signaling plays an important role in Th1 or Th2 polarization. Naïve T cells weakly stimulated by DCs tend to produce low quantities of IL-4 and IL-2 which act in a paracrine manner to drive Th2 polarization whereas a strong TCR stimulation leads to a Th1 phenotype.

The presence of exogenous or endogenous IL-4 when the TCR is activated leads to the induction of the Th2-specific transcription factor GATA binding protein-3 (GATA-3) in a STAT-6 dependent manner (Ho et al., 2009; Pai et al., 2004). STAT-6 is both necessary and sufficient for IL-4 signal transduction and Th2 induction (Zhu et al., 2001). Conditional knockout studies of GATA-3 provide ample evidence of the role GATA-3 plays in directing Th2 cell function Studies using STAT-6 negative mice prove that activation of GATA-3, independent of IL-4/STAT-6, pathway is sufficient for Th2 differentiation and function (Zheng and Flavell, 1997). Although IL-4 is required for Th2 differentiation, recent evidence reveals that IL-2 induced STAT-5 may be just as important as IL-4 induced GATA-3 signaling. Neutralizing IL-2 signaling in vitro in the presence of the requisite Th2-polarizing conditions results in a near elimination of Th2 cells (Cote-Sierra et al., 2004). Furthermore, the effect of IL-2 was a result of impaired Th2 differentiation and was independent of cell survival or proliferation. The same study also reveals that IL-2 signaling is not required for the induction of Th2 differentiation; rather it is required for the continued expression of the Th2 phenotype, and it does so by maintaining the accessibility of the IL-4 gene to transcription factors. These findings have been recapitulated in vivo.

A dichotomy of sorts exists between Th1 and Th2 phenotypes. Under unambiguous polarizing conditions, induction of t-bet actively antagonizes GATA-3 and vice versa. Abrogation of either transcription factor leads to a deficiency in the generation of the phenotype associated with that particular factor both in vivo and in vitro, even in the most favorable of polarizing stimuli. Unlike t-bet, GATA-3 is expressed at a very low level under basal conditions and seems to negatively affect t-bet transcription. The deletion of basal GATA-3 signaling promotes Th1 induction even under strong Th2promoting and Th1-impeding stimuli (Pai et al., 2004). It appears that the basal levels of GATA-3 are required for the maintenance of an immature phenotype in naïve CD4⁺ T cells and to prevent "spontaneous" Th1 polarization.

2.4.4 Th17 Cells

Th17 cells are a relatively newly-identified subset of T cells and are so named due to their ability to efficiently produce the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17 (Harrington et al., 2005). IL-17 is an inflammatory cytokine with roles in inflammation and autoimmune disorders. In addition to their main effector cytokine, Th17 cells can also produce IL-17F, IL-6, TNF, IL-21 and IL-22. The development and regulation of these cells has remained obscure until the past few years. Various studies have shown that efficient Th17 polarization from naïve CD4⁺ T cells can be achieved through the combined action of TGF- β and IL-6/IL-21 and IL-23 at distinct points during the differentiation process or IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 simultaneously.

Naïve CD4⁺ T cells can be induced to differentiate into Th17 cells by TGF- β and IL-6 or IL-21 (Korn et al., 2007; Veldhoen et al., 2006). Because TGF- β is primarily antiinflammatory in nature whereas IL-6 and IL-21 are pro-inflammatory, it is surprising that cytokines with apparently contradictory characteristics can work together to induce Th17 polarization. TGF- β by itself can generate T regulatory cells (T_{regs}, see below), but the presence of IL-6/IL-21 in the cytokine milieu promotes the differentiation of Th17 cells. There is conflicting information about the requirement of TGF- β in Th17 polarization with the majority of reports claiming that TGF- β is absolutely required for Th17 differentiation. Mice with TGF- β -unresponsive CD4⁺ T cells appear to be unable to produce Th17 cells whereas mice with CD4⁺ T cells that overexpress TGF- β have significantly more Th17 cells (Qin et al., 2009). However, a very recent study by Ghoreschi et al. reports that IL-1 β with IL-6 and IL-23 can also induce Th17 cells from naïve T cells in the absence of TGF- β (Ghoreschi et al., 2010).

IL-6 was originally thought to be as indispensable as TGF-β for Th17 induction. However, in vitro, Th17 cells can also be generated from naove CD4⁺ T cells by TGF-β and IL-21. Although IL-21 can efficiently replace IL-6 in vitro, the scenario in vivo is peculiar. IL-6 knockout mice can produce Th17 cells only upon the depletion of naturally occurring T_{regs} (Korn et al., 2007). During pathological conditions a variety of cells including Th1, Th2, NK cells, and T follicular cells can produce IL-21 (Suto et al., 2008). It would appear that TGF-β and IL-21 produced by other immune cells coupled with the abrogation of normal anti-inflammatory controls can produce Th17 cells even in the absence of IL-6.

TGF- β and IL-6/IL-21 acting through the SMAD and STAT-3 pathways respectively lead to the induction of the Th17-specific transcription factor RAR-related orphan receptor gamma (ROR γ t) (Ivanov et al., 2006). Activation of SMAD or STAT-3 alone is not sufficient to induce fully functional ROR γ t. STAT-3 deficient mice cannot induce ROR γ t and are, therefore, incapable of generating Th17 cells (Wei et al., 2007). Interestingly, a study by Zhou and colleagues suggests that TGF- β alone may be enough to induce the expression of ROR γ t but its activity is suppressed through an unknown post-translational mechanism and IL-6 or IL-21 through STAT-3 somehow relieve RORγt suppression (Xiao et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2007). Additionally, STAT-3 leads to the upregulation of IL-21 production by Th17 cells undergoing polarization. IL-21 acts in a self-amplifying loop to increase Th17 cell numbers by promoting their survival and by actively inhibiting the differentiation of Th1 cells leading to skewing of the Th cell repertoire towards the Th17 phenotype (Wei et al., 2007). And as noted above, under certain situations in vivo, IL-21 produced by innate immune cells may substitute for IL-6.

In addition to TGF- β , IL-6 and IL-21, IL-23 stimulation of T cells undergoing Th17 differentiation is required to stabilize their phenotype and complete the maturation process (Langrish et al., 2005). IL-23 is a heterodimeric cytokine belonging to the IL-12 family of cytokines. It is composed of the novel IL-23p19 and the IL-12 shared IL-12p40 subunits (Oppmann et al., 2000). It is important to note that IL-23 is not a Th17 differentiation factor and naïve CD4⁺ T cells do not express the IL-23 receptor (McGeachy et al., 2009). Nonetheless, the activation of RORyt and STAT-3 leads to the expression of IL-23R on T cells stimulated with TGF- β and IL-6/IL-21 thus rendering them responsive to IL-23 (Xiao et al., 2008). IL-23 derived from innate immune cells such as DCs and macrophages acts on Th17 cells to not only maintain their phenotype but also to promote their survival. In fact, mice lacking IL-23p19 or IL-23R cannot generate Th17 cells in substantial numbers (Cua et al., 2003; Langrish et al., 2005; McGeachy et al., 2009). Furthermore, since uncontrolled inflammation is detrimental to the health of the organism, Th17 sensitivity to IL-23 may also serve to limit the duration and potency of Th17 mediated inflammation. However, Ghoreschi at al. report the existence of another pathway that is similar to the above-mentioned one in some respects

but also differs in significant ways. In their hands IL-1 β in conjunction with IL-6 and IL-23 was also able to induce Th17 differentiation independent of TGF- β . The upregulation of IL-23R through IL-6-dependent activation of STAT-3 renders differentiating T cells responsive to IL-23, which then acts in a positive feedback manner to further upregulate IL-23R and Th17 polarization (Ghoreschi et al., 2010). Although contrary to prior opinion suggesting that TGF- β and IL-6 have both been shown to be dispensable, IL-23 still appears to be required for Th17 polarization.

Th17 cells are an essential part of the adaptive immune system and their proper function is obligatory for the health of an individual. A well-regulated Th17-derived cytokine response is absolutely critical for the proper clearance of certain bacterial and fungal infections (Khader et al., 2007; Rudner et al., 2007; Ye et al., 2001). The exposure of naïve Th cells to cell components of particular pathogens seems to polarize them towards a Th17-inducing phenotype characterized by high expression of IL-23 and IL-6 among other cytokines (Infante-Duarte et al., 2000). In addition to contributing to host defense, Th17 cells have also been identified to play a critical role in the etiology of many autoimmune diseases. These include psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), MS, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and asthma (Komiyama et al., 2006; Murphy et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2007).

The discovery of Th17 cells has fundamentally changed the understanding of autoimmune disorders. Studies utilizing rodent models or MS and RA have provided many insights into the mechanism of Th17-mediated autoimmunity. These disorders were originally thought to be the result of unchecked Th1 related activities. However, support for the involvement of Th17 cells in these pathologies has been accumulating steadily.

Studies using mice deficient in the molecules required for Th1 differentiation conclusively show that EAE and collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) are Th17-dependent conditions. IL-12 receptor KO mice which are unable to induce Th1 polarization, as well as mice with IFN-γ-unresponsive T cells remain highly susceptible to EAE (Krakowski and Owens, 1996) suggesting an alternative T cell requirement. Furthermore, Gran et al. show that targeted deletion of the IL-12p40 (a subunit shared with IL-23) but not of IL-12p35 confers immunity against EAE induction in mice (Gran et al., 2002). Taken together, these revelations provide an explanation for the discrepancies regarding Th1 cells being the cause of certain autoimmune disorders. Inadvertent interference with molecules required for Th17 polarization while examining the roles of IL-12 and Th1 cells may have led to the mistaken conclusion that Th1 cells were the culprits in autoimmunity. Further evidence against Th1 cells and in favor of Th17 cells comes in the form of adoptive transfer studies. When transferred into naïve mice, myelin basic protein (MBP) specific Th17 cells induce potent EAE whereas transfer of Th1 or Th2 cells does not (Stockinger et al., 2007).

Intriguingly, the two Th17 polarization pathways described above appear to give rise to subsets of Th17 cells with very distinct phenotypes. T cells polarized in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6 seem to be non-pathogenic in relation to autoimmune diseases and have the capacity to produce anti-inflammatory IL-10 and IL-9 while suppressing pro-inflammatory IL-22 secretion (McGeachy et al., 2007). On the other hand, T cells polarized in the absence of TGF- β and in the presence of IL-1 β and IL-23 have a greater potential to cause autoimmune harm. The pathogenic subset of Th17 expresses not only ROR γ t but also the Th1 transcription factor t-bet, as illustrated by

their capacity to produce IFN- γ . Additionally, they also express markers such as IL-18R1 and CXCR3 that have been shown to be prevalent during episodes of autoimmunity (Ghoreschi et al., 2010).

2.4.5 **T–Regulatory Cells**

In a healthy individual, pro- and anti-inflammatory events are kept on a tight leash. This tight control helps the immune system to respond appropriately to various pathogens and prevents autoimmunity. The job of preventing autoimmunity falls to a subset of Th cells called T regulatory cells (T_{regs}). The hypothesis that there exists an innate regulatory mechanism to keep the immune system in check and autoimmunity at bay has been around for decades. Initial evidence for this hypothesis came from studies examining the role of the thymus in the immune system. It was observed that neonatally thymectomized rodents developed a "wasting disease" similar to "host vs. graft" syndrome as a result of severe autoimmunity (Yunis et al., 1967). This broad hypothesis has been refined over the past few years and accumulating evidence has identified T_{regs} as playing the crucial role of preventing autoimmunity.

Sakaguchi et al. identified a subset of $CD4^+$ T cells expressing the IL-2 receptor α -chain, as a key mediator of autoimmunity (Sakaguchi et al., 1995). Adoptive transfer of $CD4^+$ T cells depleted of $CD25^+$ cells into nude mice was able to spontaneously produce severe autoimmunity in the host whereas transfer of $CD4^+$ cells containing $CD25^+$ T cells did not. The same group further demonstrated that neonatally thymectomized mice cannot produce $CD4^+CD25^+$ cells and therefore develop autoimmunity as a result of self-reactive T cells (Sakaguchi et al., 1996). The discovery of a new T_{reg} -specific forkhead/winged helix protein transcription factor ("Foxp3") has eased the difficulty of

study of these cells and has led to important findings about the mechanism behind their differentiation and mode action. Brunknow et al. identified Foxp3 deficiency as the cause of autoimmunity in "scurfy" mice (Brunkow et al., 2001). Mice affected with scurfy are remarkably similar to neonatally thymectomized mice in that both conditions are characterized by excessive proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells resulting in death within weeks of birth. Significantly, a scurfy-like human disease called immune dysregulation polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) has been shown to be a consequence of mutant Foxp3 (Bennett et al., 2001). Moreover, utilizing Foxp3 KO mice, Fontenot and colleagues established that the development of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells originally identified by Sakaguchi et al. is contingent upon the expression and proper function of Foxp3 (Fontenot et al., 2003; Fontenot et al., 2005). Furthermore, they also showed that CD4⁺CD25⁻ cells could be endowed with suppressive functions simply by transducing them with a retroviral vector containing Foxp3.

CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells have been classified into innately occurring natural T_{regs} (n T_{regs}), produced in a fully mature state by the thymus or inducible T_{regs} (i T_{regs}) that are generated locally in the periphery as required in response to various self and non-self antigens (Bensinger et al., 2001). Though n T_{regs} and i T_{regs} essentially perform the same function in the host and share certain traits, there are important differences between them. n T_{regs} acquire a suppressive phenotype as a consequence of strong TCR stimulation by DCs presenting self-antigen and co-stimulatory interactions between CD28 and CD80/CD86 in a thymic microenvironment (Guo et al., 2008; Jordan et al., 2001; Salomon et al., 2000). Conditional deletion of the co-stimulatory molecules significantly decreases the number of circulating nTregs. Additionally, TGF- β and IL-2 have also been

implicated in nTreg development, though their involvement is controversial (Curotto de Lafaille et al., 2004; D'Cruz and Klein, 2005). Unlike nT_{regs} , TGF- β and IL-2 seem to be indispensable for the development of iTreg_s, both in vitro and in vivo (Guo et al., 2008). Furthermore, it is also clear that maintenance of the suppressive phenotype by nTreg_s and iTreg_s is contingent upon the availability of TGF- β and IL-2 in the immediate cytokine milieu.

Naïve CD4⁺ T cells are set on the path towards acquiring an iT_{reg} phenotype through the combined efforts of TGF-β-activated transcription factor SMAD-3 and TCR activated transcription factor NFAT. SMAD-3 and NFAT bind a Foxp3 enhancer region and drive its transcription. NFAT, in addition to binding to the Foxp3 enhancer region, also upregulates the expression of IL-2 and its receptor CD25 on T cells destined to become iT_{regs} (Wu et al., 2006). Unlike conventionally activated T cells which upregulate CD25 only transiently, iT_{regs} (and nT_{regs}) maintain their expression of CD25 throughout their life as a T_{reg}. This is an important distinction since induction and maintenance of Foxp3 requires IL-2-induced STAT-5 signaling (Wu et al., 2006). Mice deficient in IL-2 signaling as a result of deletion of the β subunit of the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R β) have a drastically reduced CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ number of cells both in the periphery and in the thymus resulting in severe autoimmune disorders (Burchill et al., 2007). However, this defect can be rescued through the constitutive ectopic expression of STAT-5 (Antov et al., 2003). Moreover the study by Burchill et al. also shows that STAT-5 drives T_{reg} development by binding the promoter region of the Foxp3 gene thus regulating its transcription (Yu et al., 2009). Interestingly, the effects of IL-2 but not those of the IL- $2R\beta$ subunit are redundant. IL-15, a cytokine structurally similar to IL-2, can act as a

substitute in the absence of IL-2. Consequently, IL-2 KO mice do not show any deficiencies in CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} whereas double IL-2 and IL-15 KO mice mimic the phenotype seen in IL-2R β KO mice (Burchill et al., 2007). Also, it appears that T_{regs} can be generated and maintained even under suboptimal IL-2/IL-15 signaling. Using a transgenic mouse model that expresses a mutant form of IL-2R β that can activate STAT-5 weakly and only transiently, Yu et al. demonstrate that T_{regs} remain prevalent and functional (Yu et al., 2009).

 T_{regs} can exert their influence on the immune system in many ways. They can secrete large amounts of immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF-β, IL-10 and IL-35 (Collison et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2006). TGF-β and IL-10 are well known suppressors of the immune system both in vitro and in vivo. IL-35 is a newly-identified member of the IL-12 family of cytokines. Like the rest of its family members, IL-35 is a heterodimer consisting of the IL-12p35 subunit and a novel Epstein barr virus-induced-3 (EBI-3) subunit (Niedbala et al., 2007). Unlike IL-12 and IL-23, IL-35 possesses anti-inflammatory properties and has been implicated as a potential T_{reg} -mediated supressive mechanism (Collison et al., 2007). In vitro, stimulation of T_{regs} with IL-35 under co-stimulatory conditions promotes their proliferation (Castellani et al., 2010). Furthermore, the presence of IL-35 in the cytokine milieu suppressed the differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells. In addition, exogenous administration of IL-35 reduced the severity of CIA in vivo (Niedbala et al., 2007).

 T_{regs} have also been reported to mediate immune suppression through contactmediated inhibition of DC maturation and/or function. In vitro, co-culture of mature DCs with T_{regs} resulted in the downregulation of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 expressed by the DCs (Cederborn et al., 2000). This was later found to be mediated by CTLA-4, which is expressed constitutively by T_{regs} (Takahashi et al., 2000). T_{reg} bound CTLA-4 stimulation of mature or maturing DCs turns them into poor stimulators of T cell activation. Furthermore, CTLA-4 stimulation also plays a critical role in controlling inflammation in a mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease (Read et al., 2000). By producing the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), CTLA-4stimulated DCs can induce apoptosis in activated T cells by depriving them of tryptophan (Fallarino et al., 2006). IDO is the enzyme responsible for tryptophan catabolism and thus reduces the amount of tryptophan available to T cells in the immediate microenvironment resulting in the apoptosis of nearby activated Th cells (Lee et al., 2002a).

In addition to this, two unconventional yet equally effective mechanisms of T_{reg} mediated control of inflammation have been proposed: Granzyme B-mediated cytolysis of effector T cells and T_{reg} -induced cytokine deprivation resulting in effector T cell apoptosis. T_{regs} obtained from granzyme-B deficient mice show a reduced capacity to suppress T effectors as a result of being incapable of inducing granzyme B-mediated cytolysis in the target T effector cells (Gondek et al., 2005). Building on this study, Cao et al. demonstrated in vivo, that T_{regs} induced by a tumor microenvironment (in a yet unknown mechanism) were incapable of suppressing the host immune response against the tumor cells if the T_{regs} were granzyme B- and perforin-deficient (Cao et al., 2007).

Death of effector T cells through cytokine deprivation is yet another suppressive mechanism available for T_{regs} . A study by Pandiyan and colleagues suggests that T_{regs} might literally "consume" more than their share of various cytokines thus depriving other Th subsets of vital cytokines required for survival and proliferation (Pandiyan et al.,

2007). Also, this mechanism seems to be functional only when the T_{regs} are in close proximity to the Th cells since separation of the two subsets with a TranswellTM apparatus abrogates T_{reg} suppression.

The dichotomous relationship between Th1 and Th2 cells seems to be recapitulated with Th17 and T_{regs} (Bettelli et al., 2006). Furthermore, a functionally antagonistic relationship also exists between the two. The decision of a naïve T cell to embark on either a T_{reg} or a Th17 polarization pathway appears to be the result of the sum of all the favorable stimuli weighed against all the opposing stimuli. In the presence of appropriate stimuli, Foxp3 and ROR γ t both have the capacity not only to antagonize each other's induction but also have the capability to reprogram an already differentiated T cell (Zhou et al., 2008). As previously stated, TGF- β in combination with IL-6 or IL-21 can drive Th17 polarization and both nT_{regs} and iT_{regs} produce TGF- β . Evidence demonstrates that IL-6 stimulation can not only inhibit the suppressive functions of a nT_{reg} but it can also reprogram the nT_{reg} into a Th17 cell capable of IL-17 production (Zheng et al., 2008). iT_{regs} do not seem to be affected in the same manner; moreover, they retain their suppressive capacity in the presence of IL-6, at least in vitro.

2.5 Maintenance of Tolerance and Prevention of Autoimmunity

Tolerance against self-antigens is a vital component of the healthy immune system. Several mechanisms seem to work in conjunction with each other to tolerize the immune system against self antigens and prevent autoimmunity. These mechanisms can be roughly classified into central and peripheral tolerance.

In the so-called "central" or "thymic" tolerance, developing T cells that react strongly to self antigens presented by thymic DCs are deleted or polarized into natural T_{regs} (Hollander and Peterson, 2009; Jordan et al., 2001). In this first line of defense against autoimmunity, developing T cell progenitors interact with cortical thymic epithelial cells (CTEC) in the cortex of the thymus in a process that can, in the absence of further stimulus, result in apoptosis of the progenitor cell. T cell progenitors are prevented from undergoing apoptosis when they encounter and respond appropriately to co-stimulation and an MHC/self-antigen complex on DCs in the medulla of the thymus (Murphy et al., 1990; Punt et al., 1994). Only those that react with a moderate affinity to the stimulation are allowed to persist while those that react too strongly or not at all are "deleted" (Starr et al., 2003). However, the efficacy of this mechanism is limited by several factors. For instance, not all self antigens may find their way to the thymus. As a consequence, some T cells invariably escape the editing mechanism in the thymus. In addition to negatively selecting for T cells that react too strongly, the thymus also produces a phenotype of suppressive T cells called natural T_{regs} (nTregs) (Pacholczyk et al., 2002). These nT_{regs} then migrate to the periphery where they exert their function. Curiously enough, the same mechanism that deletes self-reactive T cells also gives rise to nT_{regs} (See below).

According to some studies, up to 25%-40% of developing T cells may escape negative selection and enter the periphery. Unchecked, these T cells have the potential to cause harm through autoimmune disorders. The job of suppressing the activity of these potentially harmful falls to nT_{regs} or peripherally generated T_{regs} called inducible T_{regs} (i T_{regs}). DCs play a vital role in maintaining tolerance by generating i T_{regs} to suppress autoreactive T cells in the periphery (Banchereau et al., 2003; Coquerelle and Moser, 2008; Lutz and Schuler, 2002; Mahnke et al., 2002; Steinman et al., 2000; Wallet et al., 2005). Moreover, DCs also terminate the T cell response at its conclusion. The activation of "co-inhibitory" CTLA-4 or PD-1 by DCs at the appropriate time can prevent wayward T cell responses and potential autoimmunity. CTLA-4 can be activated by either CD80 or CD86 whereas, PD-1 can be stimulated by PD-L1. During the course of a normal T cell response CTLA-4 and PD-1 help to inhibit T cells in part by downregulating the production of IL-2 and induction of cell cycle arrest that eventually leads to apoptosis (Fife and Bluestone, 2008; Guleria et al., 2007). However, in the absence of either CTLA-4 or PD-1, mice develop severe autoimmune/ lymphoproliferative disorders resulting in their death within a few weeks (Latchman et al., 2004; Nishimura et al., 2001; Vijayakrishnan et al., 2004).

It is hypothesized that in the "steady state" characterized by the absence of inflammation, iDCs with their high phagocytic rate and low expression of stimulatory molecules, tolerize T cells to self antigens whereas iDCs matured in response to non-self antigens and accompanying danger signals evoke an immune response (Lutz and Schuler, 2002; Steinman and Nussenzweig, 2002; Tan and O'Neill, 2005; Wallet et al., 2005).

Evidence for the role of APCs and particularly DCs in producing tolerance in the periphery was been obtained relatively recently. Finkelman et al. demonstrated that APCs in addition to being immunogenic can also be tolerogenic (Finkelman et al., 1996). Mice injected with a rat monoclonal antibody (mAb) alone in the absence of other stimulatory signals induced antigen-specific T cell and B cell tolerance. This study, however, did not address the mechanism of tolerance induction or the specific type of APC responsible for it. Adler and colleagues reported that tolerizing of T cells through anergy to specific antigens requires that the antigen be processed and presented by steady state APCs to

antigen-specific T cells (Adler et al., 1998). By selectively targeting the antigen hen egg lysozyme (HEL) to a sub-population of APCs expressing the endocytic receptor DEC-205 Hawiger et al. were able to show that during steady state, DEC-205-expressing DCs captured the antigen and presented it to adoptively transferred HEL-specific T cells inducing tolerance by anergy and deletion. By contrast, the same antigen in the presence of co-stimulatory CD40L elicited a profound pro-inflammatory immune response in vivo (Hawiger et al., 2001).

iDCs along with other phagocytic cells play an essential role in clearing the body of apoptotic cells (a prime source of self antigens). Numerous studies show that DCs presenting antigens derived from apoptotic cells will induce T cell tolerization in the periphery (Basu et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2001a; Sauter et al., 2000; Steinman et al., 2000). By loading ovalbumin (OVA) into apoptotic cells and transferring them to syngeneic hosts, Liu et al. were able to induce experimental peripheral tolerance in mice. Mice thus tolerized were resistant to further immune stimulation by OVA even in complete Freund's adjuvant. The same transfer of apoptotic cells in the presence of CD40L, however, did not induce tolerance (Liu et al., 2002).

In addition to inducing tolerance directly by anergizing and deleting self responsive T cells, DCs can induce tolerance indirectly by inducing the differentiation of T_{regs} (Coquerelle and Moser, 2008; Steinman et al., 2003; Workman et al., 2009). Certain subsets of DCs present in antigen-rich environments such as the intestines, lungs and skin are especially proficient in generating iT_{regs} . For instance, DCs associated with the lamina propria of the small intestine turn naïve CD4⁺ T cells into iT_{regs} through a retinoic acid-dependent mechanism (Manicassamy et al., 2010). Moreover, the immediate

microenvironment present while DCs are undergoing maturation also seems to play a role in their promotion of tolerogenic T cell responses. A well defined example of this is DCs matured in the presence of anti-inflammatory IL-10 (DC-10). DC-10s can induce oral allergenic tolerance in asthmatic mice by generating iT_{regs} (Huang et al., 2010).

CHAPTER 3

POTENTIAL SOLUBLE CANDIDATES

3.1 PGE2

In the studies here, astrocytes prevent the microglial assumption of a mature DC phenotype. Possible astrocyte-derived soluble molecules are proposed as possible mediators of this response. Among these are prostaglandins, IL-10 and TGF- β .

Prostaglandins are a class of small lipid molecules derived from arachidonic acid (AA) (Needleman et al., 1986). Prostaglandins have the capacity to modulate a wide variety of bodily functions including the immune system (Gualde and Harizi, 2004; Harizi and Gualde, 2002). The conversion of AA into prostaglandins begins at the cytosolic face of the cell membrane. AA cleaved by phospholipase A2 from membrane phospholipids is acted upon by prostaglandin H synthase (also called cyclooxygenase [COX]) to form the intermediate common precursor PGH2. PGH2 is in turn converted into the different prostanoids by the action of cell-specific synthases. COX is the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of prostanoids (Needleman et al., 1986). There are two forms of COX. COX-1 is constitutively expressed and is responsible for basal synthesis of prostanoids within the body whereas the expression of COX-2 can be altered by a host of modulators. The expression of COX-2 and its metabolites have been demonstrated to play important roles during the course of inflammation (Boniface et al., 2009; Cheon et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2002b).

There are five different prostaglandins: PGE2, PGI2, PGD2, PGE2 α , and thromboxane (TXA2) (Needleman et al., 1986). Among these PGE2 is the most widely expressed prostanoid in the CNS under stressful conditions and is also the best

characterized (Johann et al., 2008).

The expression of PGE2 is tightly regulated by COX2. LPS, IL-1, and TNF- α can induce COX2 whereas anti-inflammatory IL-10 and IL-4 can downregulate the enzyme's expression. PGE2 has been reported to have a dual role in the immune system. Possessing both pro- and anti-inflammatory properties, PGE2 is capable of regulating DC activation, antigen presentation, migration and survival (Boniface et al., 2009; Kabashima et al., 2003; Slepko et al., 1997; Vassiliou et al., 2003). By downregulating DCattracting/activating chemokines and cytokines and up-regulating anti-inflammatory agents, PGE2 can prevent DCs not only from migrating into an inflamed region but can also prevent and or quell the activation of DCs already in the vicinity. Conversely, by enhancing the maturation, survival and migration of certain sub-types of DCs like Langerhans cells, PGE2 can operate as a pro-inflammatory agent (Kabashima et al., 2003). For example, PGE2 can synergize with TNF- α or IL-1 β to efficiently promote the maturation of DCs. However, it can also inhibit the production of the chemokines CCL-3/4 and inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-12 while up-regulating the expression of IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine (Aloisi et al., 1999; Minghetti et al., 1998; Vassiliou et al., 2003). Moreover, PGE2 can also suppress the expression of MHC Class II in DCs (Harizi and Gualde, 2002).

The ability of astrocytes to produce PGE2 in large quantities in response to inflammatory mediators is well documented. In vitro, astrocytes treated with IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β or LPS upregulate the expression of PGE2 whereas treatment with IL-10 or IL-4 suppresses PGE2 production (Cheon et al., 2006; Chikuma et al., 2009; Johann et al., 2008).

3.2 Interleukin-10 (IL-10)

IL-10 was originally identified as a Th2-derived cytokine capable of inhibiting proinflammatory cytokine synthesis by APC-stimulated Th1 cells (Fiorentino et al., 1991). IL-10 is the "founding member" of a super family of cytokines based on their similar genomic organization, structure of receptors and signaling pathways used. The IL-10 super family includes IL-19, -20, -22, -24, -26, -28 and -29 (Conti et al., 2003). Appropriately stimulated immune and non-immune cell types including Th2, Th17, monocytes, macrophages, DCs, astrocytes, microglia, keratinocytes, epithelial cells and tumor cells can secrete IL-10 in significant quantities (Cheon et al., 2006; de Waal et al., 1991; O'Garra and Murphy, 2009; Williams et al., 1996).

Similar to other cytokines, IL-10 signaling uses the JAK/STAT pathway. The IL-10 receptor (IL-10R) is a heterodimer composed of IL-10R1 and IL-10R2 subunits. IL-10 ligation of its receptor activates the tyrosine kinases Jak1 and Tyk2, which induce the phosphorylation and activation of the downstream transcription factors STAT-1, -3 and -5 (Gonzalez et al., 2009; Moore et al., 2001; Mosser and Zhang, 2008).

IL-10 modulates Th1 activity indirectly by mediating the maturation and function of DCs IL-10 can regulate almost every aspect of DC maturation/function. It inhibits the expression of MHC Class II and the co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86 on activated monocytes and isolated microglia and prevents their APC functions (Ding et al., 1993; Ding and Shevach, 1992; Fiorentino et al., 1991; Frei et al., 1994; Kim et al., 2002; O'Garra and Murphy, 2009; O'Keefe et al., 1999; Qin et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2007; Wei and Jonakait, 1999). IL-10 also has the ability to inhibit the cyokines a multitide of cytokines chemokines justifying its label as an anti-inflammatory molecule (Bogdan et al., 1991; de Waal et al., 1991; Fiorentino et al., 1991; Harizi and Gualde, 2006; Heyen et al., 2000; Hu et al., 1999; Ledeboer et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000). A low amount of endogenous IL-10 produced by immature monocyte-derived DCs is a potent inhibitor of DC "spontaneous" maturation (Corinti et al., 2001).

LPS treatment of isolated murine microglial cells in the presence of IL-10 leads to a reduction in the amount of CD40 expressed through the induction of the suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS-3) gene mechanism (Qin et al., 2007). Similarly, IL-10 prevents IFNy-induced CD40 and MHC Class II expression (O'Keefe et al., 1999; Wei and Jonakait, 1999). Furthermore, IL-10 inhibits microglial expression of both cytokines and cytokine receptors. Microglia stimulated with LPS and IL-10 show a significant decrease in the amount of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 secreted in addition to reducing the expression of receptors for IL-2 and IL-6 (Ledeboer et al., 2000; Sawada et al., 1999). Importantly, mixed glial cultures express IL-10 in biologically relevant quantities (Ledeboer et al., 2002). In their hands mixed glial cultures treated with LPS show a robust time-dependent increase in the amount of IL-10 secreted, with both astrocytes and microglia contributing to this increase. Interestingly, IL-10 has very little direct effect on mature T cells since the IL-10R is downregulated in activated T cells (Fiorentino et al., 1991). However, stimulation of naïve T cells in the presence of IL-10 can result in anergy and death. It accomplishes this by interfering with the important secondary CD28-CD80/86 signaling between DCs and naïve T cells (Taylor et al., 2007). Consistent with its role in immune-suppression, IL-10 deficient mice exhibit exacerbated symptoms of EAE compared to wildtype mice (Cohen et al., 2010).

3.3 Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β)

TGF- β is a pleiotropic cytokine with diverse functions, and is a potent immunoregulator. There are three members in the TGF family: TGF- β 1, -2 and -3(DeGroot et al., 1999). Upon ligating TGF- β , the TGF- β type I receptor dimerizes with the type II TGF- β receptor which in turn induces the phosphorylation of the type I receptor. The activation of the receptor leads to phosphorylation of the receptor-SMADs (R-SMAD) transcription factors. Activated R-SMADs then recruit the common-SMAD (co-SMAD) and translocate into the nucleus to initiate gene transcription (Attisano and Wrana, 2002).

TGF- β can affect T cell function directly by influencing their proliferation, differentiation and survival (Chen et al., 2001b; Dardalhon et al., 2008; Fahlen et al., 2005; Fontana et al., 1992; Ghoreschi et al., 2010; Gorelik and Flavell, 2002; Li and Flavell, 2008; Licona-Limon and Soldevila, 2007; Mangan et al., 2006; McGeachy et al., 2007; Qin et al., 2009; Veldhoen et al., 2006; Wan and Flavell, 2006; Xu et al., 2002; Zheng et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2008). It can also effect T cells by influencing the maturation and function of DCs (Borkowski et al., 1997; Coquerelle and Moser, 2008; Dong et al., 2001; Laouar et al., 2008; Manicassamy et al., 2010; O'Keefe et al., 1999; Pazmany et al., 2000; Wei and Jonakait, 1999; Xiao et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2002; Yamazaki et al., 2007). TGF- β signaling-deficient DCs are incapable of tolerizing T cells which results in spontaneous EAE-like disease with poor prognosis (Laouar et al., 2008). However, in a few scenarios TGF- β can serve to promote the differentiation and maturation of DCs. Langerhans cells (LCs), a sub-type of DCs present in the epidermis, absolutely require TGF-\beta1 for development as mice deficient in TGF-\beta1 expression do not develop LCs (Borkowski et al., 1997; Caux et al., 1999).

TGF- β also prevents the maturation of isolated microglia when stimulated with LPS or inflammatory cytokines (Kim et al., 2004; Lodge and Sriram, 1996; Paglinawan et al., 2003; Suzumura et al., 1993). It inhibits the expression of co-stimulatory molecules particularly of CD40, CD80, CD86 and MHC II (Lodge and Sriram, 1996; Wei and Jonakait, 1999). It also prevents microglia from expressing pro-inflammatory agents such as IL-12, nitrous oxide (NO), RANTES and further induces the production of anti-inflammatory products (Hu et al., 1999; Paglinawan et al., 2003; Vincent et al., 1998). Importantly for these studies, TGF- β is expressed in vitro by astrocytes and microglia in mixed glial cultures and in the healthy CNS in vivo (Dhandapani et al., 2003; Hailer et al., 1998; Logan et al., 1992). Thus, it is a prime candidate to be the astrocytically-derived inhibitor of microglial activation.

3.4 Rationale for the Current Studies

This thesis investigates the nature of an astrocytic/microglial cross-talk that affects the ability of microglia to assume a DC-like phenotype. Furthermore, the ability of microglia cultured in the presence or absence of astrocytes to influence CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and Foxp3 T cell differentiation is also examined.

CHAPTER 4

MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Mice

B10.A, and B6.129P-CX3R1^{tm1Litt/J} mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) and bred at the Rutgers-Newark AAALAC-approved animal care facility. In order to obtain neonates for glial cultures, males and females were placed together for 5-7 days. 16-21 days thereafter, 1-3 day old pups were taken for glial cultures (see below).

4.2 Reagents

Recombinant mouse GM-CSF, rmIL-10 and rhTGF- β 1 were purchased from Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS; 055:B5) was from Sigma-Aldrich. Rabbit polyclonal antibodies against murine IL-10 and against all forms of TGF- β (pan-TGF β) were from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). PE-conjugated Armenian hamster antimouse CD11c monoclonal antibody (clone N418) and IgG isotype control antibodies and the IL-17A, IFN- γ , IL-4 and IL-10 ELISA kits were from BioLegend (San Diego, CA). MatrigelTM, purified rat anti-mouse CD3, rat anti-mouse CD28, FITC-conjugated monoclonal rat anti-mouse CD40 (IgG_{2A}, κ), Armenian hamster anti-mouse CD80 (IgG₂, κ), rat anti-mouse CD86 (IgG_{2A}, κ), mouse anti-mouse MHC Class II antibodies (IgG_{2A}, κ) and the appropriate isotype control antibodies along with Mouse Fc BlockTM were obtained from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Rabbit polyclonal antibodies against CX3CR1 and FITC- and PE-labeled goat polyclonal anti-rabbit IgG were from Abcam.

TranswellTM inserts were from Corning (Lowell, MA). Anti-CD11c and anti-CD4 magnetic beads were from Miltenyi Biotec (Sunnyvale, CA). PE-conjugated rat anti-mouse/rat Foxp3 (IgG_{2A}, κ) and IgG isotype control antibodies were from eBioScience (San Diego, CA). ProstaglandinE2 is from Cayman Biologicals.

4.3 Generation of Mixed Glial Cultures

Mixed glial cultures were prepared as described previously from the cortices of neonatal (P1-P3) pups (Kreutzberg, 1995). Cortices were cleared of meninges, minced and triturated with a fire-polished Pasteur pipette and plated into poly-lysine-coated 75 cm² flasks in medium containing D-MEM/F12 (1:1), penicillin (25 U/ml), streptomycin (25 μ g/ml), D-glucose (0.6%), and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (BioAtlantic). Medium was replaced on day 3 and half the medium exchanged every 3 days thereafter. Isolated microglial cultures were generated by shaking microglia off of 12-14-day old mixed glial cultures on an orbital shaker (250 RPM X 15-20 min). Floating cells were collected and plated onto uncoated 75mm² flasks and allowed to adhere to the substrate before being treated with GM-CSF and LPS (see diagram below).

Unless stated otherwise, both mixed glial and isolated microglial cultures were treated with rmGM-CSF (25ng/ml) for 5 days and LPS (50ng/ml) for an additional 2 days to promote final maturation. A diagram of the treatment protocol on following page.



Figure 4.3 A diagram of the treatment protocol.

4.4 Generation and Purification of BM-DCs

Bone marrow (BM) cells were flushed with ice-cold RPMI medium from the femurs of 12-16 week old B10.A mice. BM cells were cultured in 100-mm Petri dishes containing 10 mL RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS (BioAtlantic), 2 mM L-glutamine, penicillin (25 U/ml), streptomycin (25 µg/ml), 50 µM betamercaptoethanol (BME) and 15 ng/mL recombinant GM-CSF. After 3 days floating cells were harvested, pelleted and plated onto 75cm² flasks with or without enriched astrocytes (see below) in fresh RPMI medium containing GM-CSF (15 ng/ml). LPS (50 ng/ml) was added for 48 hrs on the 5th day of GM-CSF treatment. For experiments involving CD11c⁺ purified BM precursors, BM precursors were purified by CD11c immunomagnetic sorting using the AutoMACSTM system (Miltenyi Biotec). CD11c⁺ cells were plated into 75cm² flasks and treated with GM-CSF and LPS as described above. The purity of the sorted cells was determined by flow cytometric analysis (>97% for CD11c⁺ cells).

4.5 Generation of Enriched Astrocytic Cultures

Enriched astrocyte cultures were prepared from mixed glial cultures from which microglia had been shaken off. Following the removal of loosely adherent microglia, astrocyte cultures were treated for 3 days with cytosine arabinoside (AraC, 100 μ M).

They were passaged 2-3 times by light trypsinization (0.2% trypsin) followed by washing and replating into poly-lysine-coated flasks. Thus processed, they are >95% pure as defined by staining of microglial contaminants with antibodies against CD11b.

4.6 T cell Isolation and Culture

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated and purified by positive selection from spleens of B10.A mice $(I-E^k)$ using the AutoMACSTM System. These were cultured in 48 well plates either alone or with microglia taken from the two culture settings in a microglia:T cell ratio of 1:10. Cells were plated in medium containing RPMI 1640, BME (10 µM), 10% FCS, penicillin (25 U/ml) and streptomycin (25 µg/ml) in the presence and absence of antibodies against CD3 (1.0 µg/ml, BD Biosciences). After 3 days, T cells were harvested and prepared for analysis by flow cytometry and determination of cytokines by ELISA. Mixed glia were stimulated with GM-CSF for 5 days followed by LPS for 2 days. Microglia were then shaken off and replated with CD4⁺ T cells or were reseeded with CD4⁺ T cells onto a bed of enriched astrocytes previously treated with GM-CSF and LPS.

For analysis of regulatory T cells, T cells were fixed and permeabilized with Foxp3 Fixation/Permeabilization Concentrate and Diluent (eBioscience) before being stained with PE-conjugated rat anti-mouse antibodies against Foxp3 (eBioscience, 0.5µg). Isotype control antibodies were handled similarly.

T cell proliferaton was determined in a T cell activation assay using CD4⁺ B10.A T cells on B10.A glia that had been previously treated with GM-CSF and LPS as described above. In all cases, T cells were labeled with 5 μ M carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE; Molecular Probes, CA) prior to plating with microglia. CFSE dilution was assessed by flow cytometry.

4.7 Flow Cytometric Analysis

Microglial cells were shaken off of the mixed glial cultures or gently lifted off the isolated microglial cultures with a "cell lifter." Cells were pelleted and re-suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 2% fetal bovine serum. Cells were then stained with PE-conjugated anti-CD11c and FITC-conjugated CD40, CD80, CD86 or MHC Class II or the appropriate IgG isotype control for 1 hour on ice. To minimize non-specific staining, cells were incubated with Fc Block[™] (BD Bioscience) according to manufacturer's instructions. After incubation cells were washed twice and resuspended in the same buffer before being assayed on a FACSCalibur[™]flow cytometer (BD, Mountainview, CA). Data analysis was accomplished using CellQuest® software. Gating was done by using the appropriate isotype controls as reference. Non-specific staining for each experimental group was assessed through staining by isotype controls and was excluded from analysis by only counting events that were not a part of the isotype controls.

4.8 Real-time PCR

Total microglial RNA was prepared using Ultraspec[™] RNA Isolation Reagent (Biotecx Laboratories, Inc., Houston, TX). cDNA was produced from 1µg of RNA by using random hexamer and MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The primers used for real-time PCR were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc. (Coralville, IA) and were designed using Primer Express (Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA). They are listed in Table 4.1. For real-time PCR, cDNA was amplified using the SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. PCR conditions

were 10 minutes at 95°C, followed by 35 cycles of 15 seconds at 95°C and 15 seconds at 60°C to amplify. After amplification, an additional cycle consisting of 95°C and 60°C (each for 15 seconds) was used for a dissociation curve to verify that the signal is generated from a single target amplicon and not from primer dimers or contaminating DNA. Serially diluted cDNA of each sample was amplified to measure the efficiencies of PCR and to draw the standard curve for each sample to calculate relative concentration of target message. The PCR products and their dissociation curves were detected using the ABI Prism 7900HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA).

Molecule	Forward Reverse	Sequence
CD40	F	5'-CTG CCC AGT CGG CTT CTT CTC-3'
	R	5'-CCT GTG TGA CAG GCT GAC AC-3'
CD80	F	5'-CTG GGA AAA ACC CCC AGA AG-3'
	R	5'-TGA GAA CGA TGA CGA CGA CTG-3'
CD86	F	5'-TTA GGG AAG CAC CCA TGA TG-3'
	R	5'-CGT CTC CAC GGA AAC AGC AT-3'
MHC CLASS II	F	5'-CAA CAC TCT GGT CTG CTC AGT GA-3'
	R	5'-TGT GTG GAT GAG ACC CCC A-3'

Table 4.1 Primers Used

4.9 ELISAs

Supernatants were collected from T cells cultured in the presence of microglia from various culture settings. IL-17A was estimated using sandwich ELISA kits from Biolegend according to manufacturers' instructions. Both capture and biotinylated detection antibodies for measuring interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-10 were from BDPharmingen. For IFN- γ , the capture antibody was purified monoclonal anti-mouse IFN- γ (3.5 µg/ml); the biotinylated detection antibody was used at 1.0 µg/ml. The detection limits of the assay were 7.8-4,000 pg/ml. For IL-4, the

capture antibody was rat anti-mouse (3 μ g/ml); the detection antibody was used at 1.5 μ g/ml. The detection limits of the assay were 7.8-2,000 pg/ml. For IL-10, the capture antibody was a monoclonal anti-mouse (3 μ g/ml); the detection antibody was used at 1.5 μ g/ml. The detection limits of the assay were 7.8-2,000 pg/ml. Optical density (OD) of standards and samples was measured using an ELISA plate reader (Packard Biosciences). Standard curves were generated for each assay and sample concentrations were obtained from the standard curve by comparing OD of samples to that of standards. Samples were assayed in triplicate and compared using an ANOVA with a post-hoc Student-Newman-Keuls test for significance at the 95% confidence level.

CHAPTER 5

RESULTS

Specific Aim 1. To determine the effect of astrocytes on the ability of microglia to express dendritic cell (DC) markers CD11c, MHC Class II and co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86.

5.1 Astrocytes Modulate the Maturation of Microglial Cells into a Dendritic Cell-like Phenotype

The sequential treatment of isolated microglia with GM-CSF and LPS has been shown by us and others to induce a program of transcription that culminates in the generation of microglia with a DC-like phenotype (Aloisi et al., 2000; Ponomarev et al., 2007). However, most if not all studies to-date have dealt with microglia in isolation, and there is a dearth of research investigating microglial interactions with other cells commonly found throughout the CNS, especially astrocytes. To investigate the effect of astrocytes on the induction of a microglial DC-like phenotype, isolated microglia (labeled "OFF") and mixed glial cultures (labeled "ON") were sequentially treated with GM-CSF and LPS (see *Materials and Methods*) and the simultaneous expression of the DC marker CD11c and co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, CD86 or MHC Class II assessed by flow cytometry.

Compared to microglia in the presence of astrocytes, a significantly higher percentage of isolated microglia expressed the DC marker CD11c (73.4 \pm 4.2 % [OFF] vs. 41.9 \pm 6.5% [ON]; n=4; *p*=0.007). Moreover, the percentage of isolated microglia

simultaneously expressing CD11c and CD40, CD80, or CD86 was also significantly higher than microglia cultured in the presence of astrocytes (Figures 5.1A and B). However, there was no significant difference in the percentage of microglia expressing CD11c and MHC Class II in the different environments (Figure 5.1B). While the percentages of cells expressing DC markers was strikingly different, the mean fluorescence index (MFI), a measure of the number of molecules per cell, shows that only CD40 differs significantly between the two culture conditions (Figure 5.1C).

The kinetics of CD11c and CD40 expression after the addition of LPS was examined to further distinguish between isolated microglia and microglia cultured on astrocytes. The percentage of co-cultured microglia expressing CD11c and CD40 increases in a time-dependent manner following the addition of LPS, while the percentage of isolated microglia expressing CD11c and CD40 remains unchanged (Figure 5.1D) suggesting that it had reached maximum levels with the treatment of GM-CSF alone.

To ensure that astrocytes were the only cells affecting the phenotype of the microglia, microglia from mixed glial cultures were purified through CD11b magnetic cell sorting and plated onto an enriched culture of astrocytes prepared as described above in *Materials and Methods*. Other microglia remained with a more heterogeneous population of mixed glia. Following treatment with GM-CSF and LPS, microglia from both settings were assessed for CD11c and CD40 expression. The percentage of CD11b⁺ enriched microglia that expressed CD11c and CD40 on enriched astrocytes is lower than microglia cultured in a more heterogeneous environment. These data, along with Figure 5.3 (see below), confirm that astrocytes, and not other constituents of the mixed glial

environment, are the primary inhibitors of microglia (Figure 5.1E). Figure 5.1 on page 56.

Figure 5.1



Figure 5.1 Astrocytes inhibit microglial production of a mature DC phenotype. Microglia were cultured with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml) in the presence (ON) or absence (OFF) of astrocytes for 5 days. LPS (50 ng/ml) was added for an additional two days. (Continued on page 57.)



Co-stimulatory molecule surface expression was determined by flow cytometry (A and B). Numbers in the upper right quadrants represent the percentage of $CD11c^+$ cells simultaneously positive for CD40, CD80, CD86 and MHC Class II respectively.

(B) Microglial surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules in isolation is significantly higher than those on microglia cultured with astrocytes. Data are expressed as the percentage of cells expressing both CD11c and another co-stimulatory molecule \pm SEM over three individual experiments. Data from isolated and co-cultured microglia were compared by a Student's t-test. An asterisk indicates p < 0.05. (C) Only microglial CD40 Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) differs in the presence (ON) and absence (OFF) of astrocytes. Data are expressed as the MFI \pm SEM and compared by a Student's t-test. The asterisk indicates p < 0.05. (D) Percentage of co-cultured (ON) microglia simultaneously expressing CD11c and CD40 increases over the course of 48 hours. Microglia were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml) in the presence (ON) or absence (OFF) of astrocytes for 5 days. LPS (50 ng/ml) was added and cells were harvested at various time points after the addition of LPS and examined by flow cytometry for the expression of CD11c and CD40. The data are representative of two experiments performed. (E) Fewer CD11b⁺ enriched microglia cultured in the presence of astrocytes express CD11c and CD40 compared to microglia cultured in a more heterogeneous population. This experiment was performed once.
5.2 Microglia in the Presence of Astrocytes Express Higher Levels of Co-stimulatory Molecule mRNA

Because isolated microglia express higher surface levels of co-stimulatory molecules than their co-cultured counterparts, the temporal expression of these molecules following LPS treatment was assessed using RT-PCR (Figure 5.2A-D). In microglia co-cultured with astrocytes mRNA levels for CD40, CD80 and CD86 increased rapidly, peaking at 3 hrs and declining thereafter. By contrast, MHC Class II mRNA levels rose slowly but steadily reaching highest levels at the 12 hr time point. In the isolated microglia, CD40, CD80, CD86 and MHC Class II expression showed a similar temporal pattern. However, at all time points examined, steady-state mRNA levels in isolated microglia were significantly lower than those of co-cultured microglia. In the case of CD86 and MHC Class II, these levels were strikingly lower. Because mRNA levels rose rapidly following LPS treatment, it was clear that microglia -- even in the presence of astrocytes -- were responsive to LPS signaling.

Unexpectedly, the mRNAs for various "housekeeping" genes such as GAPDH, ARP and HTRP1 also showed significant differences between the two culture conditions (data not shown) making standardization to a housekeeping gene impossible. Figure 5.2 on page 59.

Figure 5.2



Figure 5.2 RT-PCR analysis of microglial expression of mRNA for MHC Class II and co-stimulatory molecules following a 24-hr LPS time course. Microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON) or in their absence (OFF) were treated with GM-CSF (25ng/ml) for 5 days and LPS (50ng/ml). Microglia were harvested at various time points indicated after LPS addition and (A) CD40 (B) CD80 (C) CD86 (D) MHC class II mRNA expression assessed through real-time PCR. The data are expressed as arbitrary units \pm SEM from 3 separate experiments. Levels at each time point were compared by a Student's t-test. The asterisk indicates *p*<0.05.

(Data are courtesy of Giselles Acevedo.)

5.3 Astrocytes Prevent the Efficient Maturation of Bone Marrow-derived DC (BM-DC) Precursor Cells into Fully Mature DCs.

BM-DCs are considered to be professional APCs of the immune system and are a vital component of the adaptive immune response. To investigate the effect of astrocytes on the maturation of BM-DC precursor cells, precursors were extracted and cultured in the presence of GM-CSF (15-20 ng/ml) for three days in isolation. After three days, floating cells were collected and either plated onto enriched astrocytic cultures or cultured alone and treated with GM-CSF for a further 5 days and LPS (50 ng/ml) for an additional 2 days to induce maturation. BM-DC precursors cultured alone expressed robust levels of co-stimulatory markers as measured by flow cytometry (Figure 5.3A and B). By contrast, BM-DCs in the presence of astrocytes expressed significantly lower levels of CD11c and CD40, CD80 or CD86. Similar to microglia, the percentage of BM-DCs simultaneously expressing CD11c and MHC Class II was the same in both conditions (Figure 5.3B).

Bone marrow cells are a heterogeneous mix of assorted precursor cells as well as cells at various stages of maturation. Thus, in order to ensure that the results observed were due solely to an interaction between BM-DCs and astrocytes alone CD11c⁺ cells were isolated through magnetic cell sorting prior to placement onto astrocytes. Before purification, 35% of the precursor cells were CD11c⁺; after purification, the percentage of CD11c⁺ cells rose to 97% (Figure 5.3C). Purified CD11c⁺ BM cells in the presence or absence of astrocytes were then treated as described above and the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 or CD80 was ascertained by flow cytometry. As observed earlier, a higher percentage of isolated BM-DCs were CD11c⁺ and CD40⁺ or CD80⁺ compared to BM-DCs in the presence astrocytes (35.4% vs. 62.2% and 19.8% vs. 54.5%) respectively (Figure 5.3D) Figure 5.3 on page 61.

Figure 5.3

Α



Figure 5.3 Astrocytes inhibit the expression of a mature DC phenotype in bone marrowderived cells. BM precursors were obtained from the femurs of B10.A mice and cultured for 3 days in the presence of GM-CSF (25 ng/ml). Floating cells were collected and treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml) for 5 days and LPS (50 ng/ml) for an additional 2 days in the presence (ON) or absence (OFF) of astrocytes. (A) CD11c and co-stimulatory molecule surface expression was determined by flow cytometry. Numbers in the upper right quadrants represent the percentage of CD11c⁺ cells simultaneously positive for CD40, CD80, CD86 and MHC Class II respectively. (B) BM-DC surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules in isolation is significantly higher than those on BM-DCs cultured with astrocytes. Data are expressed as the percentage of cells expressing both CD11c and another co-stimulatory molecule \pm SEM over 3 individual experiments. Data from isolated and co-cultured BM-DCs were compared by a Student's t-test. An asterisk indicates *p*<0.05. A higher percentage of purified CD11c⁺ cells cultured in the presence of astrocytes show surface expression of CD40 and CD80. (Continued on page 62.)



(C) Selection of CD11c^+ cells by magnetic cell sorting from bone marrow cells yielded an almost pure population of cells. (D) Purified CD11c^+ BM precursors were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml) for 5 days and LPS (50 ng/ml) for two more days in the presence (ON) or absence (OFF) of astrocytes. Cells were then analyzed for CD11c and CD40 or CD80. Numbers in the upper right corner represent the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 or CD80. Fewer CD11c⁺ enriched BM precursors cultured in the presence or absence of astrocytes express CD11c and CD40 or CD11c and CD80 compared to BM precursors cultured alone. This last experiment was performed once.

5.4 Astrocytes Preserve the Expression of the Fractalkine Receptor (CX3CR1) on Microglia

Fractalkine is a 373 amino-acid chemokine that is widely expressed in the CNS (Bazan et al., 1997; Chinnery et al., 2007; Rossi et al., 1998). It is constitutively expressed by neurons whereas astrocytes can be induced to express it in the presence of proinflammatory stimuli (Harrison et al., 1998; Hatori et al., 2002). It can exist as a membrane bound molecule or -- when proteolytically cleaved -- as a soluble 90 kD isoform (Hatori et al., 2002). CX3CR1, the receptor for fractalkine, is expressed throughout the body by various cell types; among them are monocytes, DCs and T cells (Jung et al., 2000). Microglia are the only cell type in the CNS to express the fractalkine receptor (Hatori et al., 2002), and as a result, microglia respond to fractalkine by converging towards its source (Tarozzo et al., 2002). In addition to its chemotactic properties, fractalkine, by inhibiting microglial activation, can promote neuronal survival. In vitro, microglia activated with LPS in the presence of fractalkine down-regulate the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators detrimental to neuronal survival (Mizuno et al., 2003; Zujovic et al., 2000). While LPS-treated isolated monocytes and microglia down-regulate the expression of CX3CR1 (Boddeke et al., 1999; Ramos et al., 2010) little else is known about the regulation of the receptor on microglia.

To determine the effect of astrocytes on microglial expression of CX3CR1, mixed glial cultures were obtained from neonatal B6.129P-Cx3cr1^{tm1Litt}/J mice. In these transgenic mice, GFP has been placed under the control of the CX3CR1 promoter and is expressed instead of the fractalkine receptor in all cells derived from a monocytic lineage (Jung et al., 2000). This allows not only the identification of microglia but also allows measurement of their expression of CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP}. After treatment with GM-CSF and

LPS a significantly higher percentage of microglia in the presence of astrocytes retain their expression of CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} compared to microglia cultured alone (Figure 5.4A) a fact confirmed by immunohistochemistry (Figure 5.4B). The mere withdrawal of microglia from an astrocytic environment is sufficient to induce the down-regulation of CX3CR1. A high percentage (~56%) of microglia 48 hours after isolation from astrocytes and in the absence of any exogenously added ligands do not express GFP whereas more than 95% of freshly isolated microglia are GFP positive (Figure 5.4C). Taken together these data show the importance of an astrocytic environment for the expression of microglial CX3CR1.

Because of the dramatic decrease in GFP expression, the experiment was repeated on wild-type C57Bl/6J animals using a antibody against CX3CR1. After 48 hrs, 53% (n=2) of isolated microglia retained cell surface expression of CX3CR1 (Not shown). Figure 5.4 on page 65.

Figure 5.4



Treated with GM-CSF and LPS

Figure 5.4 Astrocytes preserve microglial CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} expression. Mixed glial cultures were obtained from neonatal B6.129P-CX3R1^{tm1Litt/J} transgenic mice. CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia were cultured with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml) in the presence (ON) or absence (OFF) of astrocytes for 5 days. LPS (50 ng/ml) was added for an additional two days. CD11c and GFP expression was determined by flow cytometry. (A) A higher percentage of microglia in the presence of astrocytes are CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} positive than microglia cultured in isolation. The figure is representative of data replicated 4 times. (B) Isolation of microglia from astrocytes leads to a decrease in CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} expression. Microglia were cultured in isolation for 48 hours in the absence of any exogenously added ligands. CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} expression was examined by flow cytometry. Numbers in the quadrants indicate the percentage of microglia expressing GFP. This experiment was performed once. (C) Removal of microglia from an astrocytic environment leads to a loss of microglial GFP expression. "ON" and "OFF" microglia were examined by by fluorescence microscopy for GFP expression. Microglia were cultured in the presence or absence of astrocytes and treated with GM-CSF (25ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50ng/ml, 2 days). Microglia with astrocytes (+Astrocytes) or in isolation (- Astrocytes) were fixed, stained with DAPI and examined by florescence microscopy for GFP and DAPI.

specific molecules was the result of soluble or contact-mediated events.

Conclusions from Specific Aim 1:

In the presence of astrocytes:

- a significantly smaller percentage of microglia express CD11c together with costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86, molecules necessary for T cell activation;
- microglial mRNA for CD40, CD80 and CD86 and MHC Class II is significantly higher than in isolated microglia;
- a significantly smaller percentage of bone marrow-derived DCs express CD11c together with co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86;
- •
- neither microglial nor BMDC MHC Class II surface expression differs from that seen in isolated cells;
- •
- microglia maintain expression of CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP}.

Specific Aim 2: To determine whether differences in surface expression of these DC-specific molecules is the result of soluble or contact-mediated events.

5.5 Neither PGE2, IL-10 nor TGF-β Mediate Microglial Suppression

Several anti-inflammatory cytokines -- PGE2, IL-10 or TGF- β -- produced by astrocytes were examined as possible mediators of microglial suppression. Data from the Jonakait lab and from others (Levi et al., 1998) suggest that the addition of PGE2 to isolated microglial inhibits the expression of CD40 (Figure 5.5A and B). In addition, the data here and that of others (Kim et al., 2002; Qin et al., 2006) suggested that IL-10 is significantly elevated in the mixed glial cultures (Figure 5.5D). Others have pointed to TGF β as a highly anti-inflammatory molecule (Paglinawan et al., 2003; Wei and Jonakait, 1999). These three molecules were, therefore, selected as likely soluble mediators of the microglial suppression. To test the effect of these factors on isolated or mixed glial cultures, they were either exogenously supplied or their endogenous activity neutralized through specific antibodies.

In order to determine whether PGE2 qualified as a glial-derived factor responsible for suppressing co-stimulatory molecule expression, it was added to isolated microglial and mixed glial cultures in a concentration (10 μ M) shown to suppress CD40 expression in isolated cultures (Figure 5.5B). With the exception of MHC Class II, the percentage of isolated microglia expressing CD11c and the other co-stimulatory molecules was suppressed by PGE2 (Figure 5.5C). By contrast, addition of PGE2 to mixed glial cultures increased the percentage of microglia expressing CD11c and CD40, CD80 or MHC Class II. CD86 remained unchanged (Figure 5.5C). These data suggest that PGE2 is not the mediator of microglial suppression in the presence of mixed glia.

The addition of IL-10 to isolated microglia did not lower the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 (Figure 5.5E). There was no significant difference in the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ cells even with increasing concentrations of IL-10 (assessed by an ANOVA; p=.701). Moreover, a neutralizing antibody against IL-10 that was used to counteract the high levels of endogenous IL-10 in the mixed glial cultures did not reverse the effect of astrocytes (Figure 5.5F). There was no significant difference in the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ cells even with increasing concentrations of the antibody (assessed by an ANOVA; p=.786). If IL-10 were the mediator, this antibody would be expected to raise the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 particularly in the mixed glial environment. An IgG control for the antibody had no effect on the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ microglia in either culture condition (Figure 5.5G). IL-10 failed to meet the requirement for an appropriate mediator.

Next, the effect of TGF- β was examined on both "ON" and "OFF" microglia. rhTGF- β 1 added to isolated microglia increased the percentage of microglia coexpressing CD11c and CD40 while significantly reducing that expression in a mixed glial environment (Figure 5.5H). Moreover, TGF- β 1 exerted its effect on mixed glia even at the relatively low concentration of 10 ng/ml. In order to determine whether endogenous TGF- β was responsible for the observed effect of astrocytes on inhibiting CD40, endogenous TGF- β was neutralized using a pan-anti-TGF- β antibody. This particular antibody efficiently neutralizes most of the common isoforms of TGF- β (R&D Systems). The addition of the pan-anti-TGF- β antibody to the mixed glial cultures did not enhance the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ microglia in the mixed glial condition (Figure 5.5I). The IgG control for the antibody had no effect on the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ microglia in either culture condition (Figure 5.5J). Had TGF- β been the mediator of suppression, the addition of the antibody would have been expected to reverse the suppression. Because this did not happen, TGF- β was eliminated as a possible mediator.

Taken together, these data show that neither PGE2, IL-10 nor TGF- β is the astrocytic mediator responsible for suppressing microglial activation in a mixed glial environment. Figure 5.5 on page 70.







С



Figure 5.5 PGE2 treatment downregulates CD40 mRNA expression in isolated microglia. (A) Isolated microglia were treated with LPS and increasing doses of PGE2 and the expression of CD40 mRNA determined by RT-PCR. (B) The percentage of isolated microglia expressing CD40 and CD11c is significantly reduced in the presence of PGE2. Isolated microglia were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). PGE2 was added in increasing doses before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS. Microglia were collected and the expression of CD11c and CD40 determined by flow cytometry. Data are expressed as %CD11c⁺CD40⁺ cells ± SEM (n=3 or more). An asterisk represents a difference with PGE2 untreated control (*p<.05). (C) PGE2 is not the mediator of astrocytic action. ON and OFF microglia were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). PGE2 (10µM) was added before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS. Microglia were collected and the expression of CD11c and CD40 and CD11c and CD40 or CD80 or CD86 or MHC II determined by flow cytometry. (Continued on page 71.)



(D) Mixed glial cultures produce higher amounts of IL-10. Mixed glial and isolated microglial cultures were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days) and supernatants collected at the indicated times after the addition of LPS. The concentrations of IL-10 were determined by an ELISA. IL-10 is not the mediator of astrocytic action. ON and OFF microglia were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). Data are expressed as $pg/ml \pm SEM$ from triplicate samples. Asterisk indicates a significant difference of "ON" vs. "OFF" at each time point (p<0.05). One of two experiments is shown. (Continued on page 72.)



(E) IL-10 was added at varying doses before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS to isolated and mixed glial cultures. CD11c and CD40 were determined by flow cytometry. An ANOVA showed the addition of IL-10 did not significantly alter the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 in isolated microglia (p=0.701) (F) Neutralizing antibodies for IL-10 were added at varying doses before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS to isolated and mixed glial cultures. CD11c and CD40 were determined by flow cytometry. An ANOVA showed that the addition of the antibodies did not significantly alter the percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 in co-cultured microglia (p=0.786). (G) A control IgG control had no effect. (H) Microglia in both culture settings were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). TGF-β was added at 10 ng/ml before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS to isolated and mixed glial cultures. Microglia were collected and the expression of CD11c and CD40 determined by flow cytometry. Data are expressed as percentage of $CD11c^+CD40^+$ cells + SEM. An asterisk represents a difference from TGF-B-untreated co-cultured (ON) microglia (p=0.02, n=3). (I) Microglia in both culture settings were treated with GM-CSF (25) ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). Pan-antibodies against all forms of TGFB were added at varying doses before and 24 hrs after the addition of LPS to isolated and mixed glial cultures. Microglia were collected and the expression of CD11c and CD40 determined by flow cytometry. This experiment was performed once. (J) A control IgG control had no effect.

5.6 Repression of Microglial Activation and Maintenance of Microglial CX3CR1 Requires Continued Contact with an Astrocytic Environment.

In order to determine whether soluble astrocytic molecule(s) were responsible for the repression of microglial activation and maintenance of CX3CR1, microglia were cultured over astrocytes in a TranswellTM chamber. This design allows the two cell types to share any soluble factors while preventing the two cell types from coming into contact. Mixed glial cultures were plated onto 6 well plates and isolated microglia onto TranswellTM inserts (0.4 μ m pore size) before being treated with GM-CSF and LPS. Microglia thus separated from astrocytes but in contact with soluble factors coming from them failed to mimic the repressed DC-like phenotype typical of "ON" microglia. Instead, "transwell" microglia closely resembled their isolated counterparts (Figure 5.6A).

Similarly, microglial maintenance of CX3CR1 also requires physical contact with astrocytes since microglia in the TranswellTM inserts lose their CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} expression after being treated with GM-CSF and LPS (Figure 5.6B). To further clarify the mode of astrocytic action, CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia were cultured in isolation, in the presence of GM-CSF. After 5 days, microglia were trypsinized and plated onto a confluent bed of enriched wild-type astrocytes and cultured for a further 2 days before being assessed for CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} expression. Thus treated, ~37% of microglia recover their expression of CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} when compared to microglia grown in isolation (Figure 5.6C). Taken together these data effectively eliminate most soluble factors as the astrocyte-derived mediators of microglial activity and suggest that contact with the astrocytic environment is essential. Figure 5.6 on page 74.

Figure 5.6



Figure 5.6 Contact with the astrocytic environment is necessary for astrocytes to modulate microglial DC maturation. (A) B10.A microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON) or absence of astrocyte (OFF) and microglia separated from mixed glial cultures with a Transwell[™] apparatus (Transwell) were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). Surface expression of CD11c and CD40 were assayed by flow cytometry. Representative data from one of two experiments are shown. (B) Cell contact with the astrocytic environment is required for CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia to retain GFP expression. CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia cultured with astrocytes (ON, black), without astrocytes (OFF, pink) or separated from mixed glial cultures with a Transwell[™] apparatus (Transwell, blue) were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days) and assessed for GFP expression by flow cytometry. Control (green line) represents wild-type cells used to compensate for auto-fluorescence. (C) CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia recover their GFP expression after being replated onto astrocytes. CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia were isolated from astrocytes and cultured with GM-CSF (25ng/ml) for 5 days. Microglia were then harvested by gentle trypsinization and plated onto a bed of wild-type enriched astrocytes, cultured for an additional 2 days and GFP expression measured by flow cytometry. Numbers above the histogram represent the percentage of GFP-expressing microglia. This experiment was performed once.

5.7 Astrocytic Extracellular Matrix Molecules may Play a Role in Suppressing Microglial Expression of Co-stimulatory Molecules.

Astrocytes express a wide variety of molecules which are involved in forming the extra cellular matrix (ECM). To further clarify the nature of the astrocytic membrane-bound molecule, microglia were cultured in the presence of MatrigelTM, a heterogeneous mixture of various extracellular matrix proteins, primarily laminin and collagen IV (BD Biosciences). It can be induced to form a 3D gel on plastic and has been shown by various studies to significantly affect cell behavior (Kleinman and Martin, 2005). To examine the effect of MatrigelTM on microglial activation, isolated microglia were treated with GM-CSF and LPS in flasks coated with MatrigelTM. The expression of CD11c and CD40 was assessed after treatment with GM-CSF and LPS. Compared to microglia expressing CD11c and CD40 in the presence of MatrigelTM (Figure 5.7A). However, when compared to isolated microglia the amount of surface CD40 (as assessed by MFI) expressed per cell is lower in microglia cultured in the presence of MatrigelTM (Figure 5.7A).

Microglia derived from CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} mixed glial cultures were similarly treated in the presence of MatrigelTM. Isolated CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia retain their expression of GFP to a large extent when cultured on MatrigelTM (Figure 5.7B). These data suggest that in addition to astrocytic membrane-bound molecules, the ECM secreted by astrocytes may also play a role in mediating the suppression of microglial activation. Figure 5.7 on page 76.

Figure 5.7



Figure 5.7 MatrigelTM partially mimics the effect of astrocytes on microglia. (A) B10.A microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON), isolated from astrocytes (OFF) and in the presence of MatrigelTM (OFF+Matrigel) were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days) and assessed for the expression of CD11c and CD40 by flow cytometry. Numbers in the quadrants represent the percentage of CD11c⁺ and CD40⁺ microglia. MFI is mean florescence intensity. This experiment was performed once. (B) A higher percentage of isolated CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia retain GFP expression in the presence of MatrigelTM. Microglia derived from CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} mice were treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days) in the presence (ON) or absence of astrocytes (OFF) or on MatrigelTM (OFF+Matrigel). Microglial GFP was assessed at the end of the treatment by flow cytometry. Numbers above the histogram indicate the percentage of GFP⁺ microglia.

Conclusions from Specific Aim 2:

- Neither PGE2, IL-10 nor TGF β is responsible for the astrocytic effect on microglial DC phenotype.
- Contact with the astrocytic environment is required for astrocytic inhibition of the microglial DC phenotype and CX3CR1 retention.

Specific Aim 3: To examine the effects of differences in surface expression of these DC-specific molecules on T cell proliferation, Foxp3 expression and cytokine production.

5.8 A Mixed Glial Environment is More Conducive for T cell Activation and Proliferation

The data so far reveal that microglia and BM-DCs in the presence of astrocytes are not as efficient as either cell type alone in upregulating the DC marker CD11c or the costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 required for T cell activation and stimulation. To functionally differentiate between mixed and isolated microglial cultures, their ability to promote CD4⁺ T cell proliferation was ascertained. As described earlier, T cells require a primary signal provided by the T cell receptor and a co-stimulatory signal for proper activation. Here, the T cell receptor is stimulated through the addition of an exogenous CD3 antibody whereas the secondary signal is provided by the microglia with or without astrocytes or by the addition of exogenous CD28 antibody (α CD28). The optimal concentration of stimulatory CD3 antibody was determined to be 1 μ g/ml (Figure 5.8A). Due to the presence of a confluent bed of astrocytes, plate-bound anti-CD3 antibody could not be used (as is standard) to stimulate the T cells. Therefore, potential differences in T cell proliferation stimulated by plate-bound and soluble anti-CD3 antibody were assessed (Figure 5.8B). No differences were found, allowing the use of soluble anti-CD3.

 $CD4^+$ T cells were isolated by magnetic cell sorting from the spleens of B10.A mice and cultured with isolated microglia, microglia in the presence of astrocytes or astrocytes alone. All were stimulated for 3 days with CD3 antibody (1µg/ml) and T cell

proliferation determined by CFSE dilution. T cells responded robustly to the anti-CD3 stimulus (Figure 5.8C). However, when the T cells were stimulated in the presence of astrocytes, their proliferation was significantly suppressed. Moreover, in the presence of microglia together with astrocytes, that suppression was enhanced. In the presence of microglia alone, T cell proliferation was further reduced. This disparity between the effect of co-cultured microglia and isolated microglia on T cell proliferation was statistically significant. These results were puzzling given the hypothesis that higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules should promote T cell activation. In order to determine whether secondary signaling was, in fact, leading to a disparity in T proliferation, a secondary stimulus was provided exogenously by the inclusion of CD28 antibody which is expected to ligate T cell CD28 overriding the need for CD80 and CD86. Inclusion of this agonist antibody abrogated the suppressive effect of astrocytes. While microglia, unlike astrocytes, still suppressed T cell proliferation, the differences in microglial environments became inconsequential (Figure 5.8C). This would suggest that the difference in the expression of co-stimulatory molecules on microglia in the two environments was, indeed, a factor, but it did not explain why lower levels of costimulatory molecules (on co-cultured microglia) lead to increased T cell proliferation.

This prompted an examination of other possible reasons for this finding. Figure 5.8 on page 80.

Figure 5.8



Figure 5.8 Glia affect T cell proliferation. (A) To determine the optimal concentration of the agonist anti-CD3, CD4⁺ T cells were simulated with various concentrations of soluble CD3 antibody and proliferation assessed by CFSE dilution. CD4⁺ T cells were magnetically isolated from the spleens of B10.A mice. 1X10⁶ CD4⁺ T cells were loaded with CFSE and cultured with increasing concentrations of CD3 antibody (0.0 - 2.0 µg/ml) for 3 days. T cell proliferation was optimal at 1 µg/ml. (B) Both plate-bound (pb) and soluble (sol) anti-CD3 stimulation leads to efficient CD4⁺ T cell proliferation. CD4⁺ T cells were obtained as before and $1X10^{6}$ CD4⁺ T cells were loaded with CFSE, cultured without exogenous stimulation (No α CD3) or with anti-CD3 (1.0 µg/ml) in a plate-bound (α CD3-pb) or soluble (α CD3-sol) format. Proliferation was measured after 3 days by assessing CFSE dilution through flow cytometry. Numbers above the histogram indicate the percentage of proliferating T cells. There was no difference in proliferation, allowing the use of soluble α CD3 in subsequent studies. (C) In the presence of α CD3 alone, both astrocytes and microglia impede T cell proliferation. 0.5 X 10⁶ CD4⁺ T cells were loaded with CFSE and cultured alone (T cell alone), in the presence of astrocytes alone (astrocytes), with 50,000 isolated microglia (OFF) or with 50,000 microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON). Astrocytes, isolated microglia and microglia in the presence of astrocytes were all previously treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). T cells were stimulated by soluble anti-CD3 (1.0 μ g/ml) alone or anti-CD3 (1.0 μ g/ml) together with anti-CD28 (0.5 μ g/ml). T cell proliferation was assessed by CFSE dilution through flow cytometry after 3 days. Data from three independent experiments are expressed as the percentage of T cell proliferation \pm SEM and compared by an ANOVA with a post-hoc Student-Newman-Keul's test for significance at the 95% confidence level. All groups were significantly different from each other in all conditions except T cells \pm astrocytes treated with α CD3 and α CD28 as well as T cells in the presence of microglia \pm astrocytes treated with α CD3 and α CD28. Comparison of T cell proliferation in the presence of ON and OFF microglia has been performed 9 times with similar results.

Because the presence of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} can suppress T cell proliferation, the presence of Foxp3⁺ cells in various culture environments was determined. In a syngeneic experimental set-up, CD4⁺ T cells obtained from B10.A mice were cultured with enriched astrocytes alone, microglia in the presence of astrocytes and microglia alone. As described above, T cells were stimulated at the TCR by soluble anti-CD3. After three days in culture, T cells were collected and stained for the T_{reg} transcription factor Foxp3. There was no difference in the expression of Foxp3 among groups of T cells cultured alone, with addition stimulation by α CD28, with astrocytes alone, or with microglia and astrocytes (Figure 5.9A). Only T cells plated together with isolated microglia showed a significant increase in the percentage of T cells expressing Foxp3.

In order to determine the role of CD28 in promoting Foxp3 expression, a secondary signal was provided by soluble anti-CD28 (0.5 μ g/ml). With this treatment, the percentage of Foxp3⁺ T cells was significantly reduced in the presence of isolated microglia (Figure 5.9B). These data suggest that co-stimulatory signals provided by isolated microglial CD80 and CD86 are weak or could be stimulating an inhibitory molecule on T cells, such as CTLA-4. This prompted an investigation of a possible role of CTLA-4 in promoting T_{regs} in an isolated microglial environment. Figure 5.9 on page 82.

Figure 5.9



В



Figure 5.9 Isolated microglia promote the generation of $Foxp3^+$ T cells. (A) CD4⁺ T cells were magnetically isolated from the spleens of B10.A mice. 0.5 X 10⁶ CD4⁺ T cells were cultured alone (first bar), in the presence of astrocytes alone (Astrocytes), with 50,000 isolated microglia (OFF) or with 50,000 microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON). Astrocytes, isolated microglia and microglia in the presence of astrocytes were all previously treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). T cells were stimulated by either soluble anti-CD3 antibody (1.0 µg/ml) alone or anti-CD3 antibody (1.0 µg/ml) and anti-CD28 antibody (0.5µg/ml). After 3 days T cells were harvested, fixed/permeabilized and intracellularly stained for Foxp3. Foxp3 expression was assessed by flow cytometry. (B) Foxp3 expression was also assessed in $CD4^+$ T cells stimulated with α CD3 (1.0 µg/ml) and α CD28 (0.5µg/ml) in the presence of astrocytes, isolated microglia and in mixed glia. Data in both A and B are expressed as the average percentage of $Foxp3^+$ T cells + SEM of 3 independent experiments and compared by an ANOVA with a post-hoc Student-Newman-Keuls test for significance at the 95% confidence level. An asterisk indicates p < 0.05 when compared to T cells cultured with isolated microglia in the presence of α CD3 alone.

5.10 CD80/CD86 Stimulation of Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte Antigen-4 (CTLA-4) is not Responsible for the Increased Percentage of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} in the Isolation Cultures

CTLA-4 is an important negative regulator of T cells and is significantly upregulated upon T cell activation. By binding CTLA-4, CD80/CD86 can help rein in the immune response in part through the generation of T_{regs} . To determine whether CD80/CD86 stimulation of CTLA-4 was responsible for the induction of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} in the isolated microglial cultures, varying doses of CTLA-4 neutralizing antibody were added to the cultures and Foxp3 expression assessed. Addition of increasing doses of neutralizing CTLA-4 antibodies or its IgG isotype did not affect the percentage of Foxp3⁺ T cells produced in the ON or OFF cultures (Figure 5.10). Even high doses of CTLA-4 neutralizing antibody failed to inhibit the induction of Foxp3⁺ cells, indicating that CD80/CD86 stimulation of CTLA-4 stimulation is not responsible for Foxp3 induction. Figure 5.10 on page 84.



Figure 5.10 Foxp3 induction is not affected by CTLA-4 inhibition. $CD4^+$ T cells were magnetically isolated from the spleens of B10.A mice. $0.5X10^6$ CD4⁺ T cells were cultured with 50,000 isolated microglia (OFF) or with 50,000 microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON). The microglia had been previously treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). T cells were stimulated by soluble anti-CD3 (1.0 µg/ml) in the presence of increasing amounts of a neutralizing anti-CTLA4 (0.0 – 10 µg/ml) or its IgG control (5µg/ml). After 3 days T cells were harvested, fixed/permeabilized and intracellularly stained for Foxp3. Foxp3 expression was assessed by flow cytometry. Data were assessed by regression analysis which rejected the hypothesis that there was a dose-response (r = 0.3493). A Student's t-test determined that none of the CTLA-4 antibody treatments differed from the 0 antibody control or from the IgG control (*p*=.878).

5.11 Foxp3⁺ T-regulatory Cells in the Isolated Microglial Cultures Suppress T cell Proliferation

Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} can affect the immune response by limiting the proliferation of other Thelper cell subtypes. The data show that T cell proliferation in the isolated microglial cultures -- which contain a high percentage of T_{regs} -- is significantly lower than T cell proliferation in the ON cultures. To test the effect of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} depletion on T cell proliferation, CD4⁺ T_{regs} were depleted of CD25⁺ cells through magnetic cell sorting and cultured alone, with isolated astrocytes, microglia alone or with microglia in the presence of astrocyctes. T cells were stimulated with α CD3 (1µg/ml) with or without α CD28 (0.5µg/ml) and proliferation assessed after 3 days. The differences in proliferation between T cells cultured in the presence of ON and OFF microglia disappears in the absence of CD25⁺ T cells suggesting that the presence of high numbers of CD25⁺ T_{regs} negatively affects T cell proliferation in the isolated microglial cultures. Figure 5.11 on page 86.

Figure 5.11



Figure 5.11 Depletion of CD25⁺ cells rescues CD4 T cell proliferation. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated and depleted of CD25⁺ T cells through magnetic cell sorting. 0.5 X 10^{6} CD4⁺CD25⁻ or CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells were loaded with CFSE (5µM) and cultured alone, with 50,000 isolated microglia (OFF) or with 50,000 microglia in the presence of astrocytes (ON). The microglia had been previously treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). T cells were stimulated by soluble anti-CD3 antibody (1.0 µg/ml) and anti-CD28 antibody (0.5µg/ml). After 3 days T cells were harvested, and proliferation was assessed by CFSE dilution. (n=1)

5.12 A Mixed Glial Environment is Less Conducive for Cytokine Production by CD4⁺ T cells

T cell-derived cytokines are important mediators of the immune response. To test the effect of various culture conditions on the production IFN- γ , IL-17A, IL-10 and IL-4 by T cells, supernatants were harvested from T cells activated with α CD3 in the presence of isolated microglia, microglia in the presence of astrocytes and astrocytes alone. ELISAs reveal that T cells cultured in a mixed glial environment produce significantly lower quantities of these cytokines compared to T cells cultured alone or in the presence of isolated microglia (Figure 5.12A-D). Figure 5.12 on page 88.

Figure 5.12



Figure 5.12 A mixed glial environment suppresses cytokine production. $CD4^+$ T cells were isolated from the spleens of B10.A mice through magnetic cell sorting. 0.5 X 10⁶ $CD4^+$ T cells were cultured alone, with 50,000 isolated microglia, 50,000 microglia in the presence of astrocytes or with astrocytes alone. Astrocytes, isolated microglia and microglia in the presence of astrocytes were all previously treated with GM-CSF (25 ng/ml, 5 days) and LPS (50 ng/ml, 2 days). T cells were stimulated by soluble anti-CD3antibody (1.0 µg/ml). After 3 days supernatants were harvested and assessed for (A) IFN- γ , (B) IL-17A, (C) IL-4 and (D) IL-10 using a sandwich ELISA. The data represent triplicates within a single assay and were compared by an ANOVA with a post-hoc Student-Newman-Keuls test for significance at the 95% confidence level. Asterisks reveal differences between groups. The assay has been done twice with similar results. Data courtesy of Divya Sagar.

Specific Aim 3: To examine the effects of differences in surface expression of these DC-specific molecules on T cell proliferation, Foxp3 expression and cytokine production.

Conclusions from specific aim 3:

- Glia impede T cell proliferation
- Isolated microglia promote generation of Foxp3⁺ T cells. CD80/86 interaction with CTLA-4 is not the cause of the increased Foxp3⁺ T cell generation.
- T cells cultured with microglia in the presence of astrocytes produce significantly less IFN- γ and IL-17

CHAPTER 6

DISCUSSION

There are many studies investigating the immune properties of microglia. However, a majority of these studies have been conducted on isolated microglia in the absence of other cell types – notably astrocytes. Astrocytes play a very important role in maintaining CNS homeostasis. In addition to maintaining the blood-brain barrier, they also play a vital role in preserving metabolic and biochemical homeostasis. It is not surprising, therefore, that they also have a strategic importance in regulating the brain's immune response. One of the ways in which they accomplish this is by assuring that pro-inflammatory mediators arising from the periphery or from within the CNS are kept under tight control. The ability of astrocytes to suppress immune reactions in the CNS is one reason why the brain has been labeled "immune privileged."

Microglia are considered to be the resident immune cells of the CNS and are derived from the same myeloid lineage that also gives rise to a subset of professional antigen presenting cells (APCs) of the immune system (Barron, 1995; Chan et al., 2007). Microglia themselves are able to become APCs, expressing both MCH Class II as well as co-stimulatory molecules necessary for efficient antigen presentation and T cell activation. However, microglia do not express these molecules in the healthy CNS (Becher et al., 2000b). These studies have found that astrocytes provide a brake on the expression of these molecules, and this thesis investigates the mechanism(s) by which astrocytes perform this essential homeostatic function. Astrocytic regulation of monocyte-derived cell behavior has been investigated by others. Both soluble and astrocytic-bound molecules have been found to exert their influence on microglial and monocyte activation. For instance, astrocyte-derived molecules down-regulate the production of IL-12 by microglia activated by IFN- γ /LPS (Aloisi et al., 1997). Though this effect on IL-12 production can occur in the presence of astrocyte conditioned medium, the effect is more potent when microglia are in contact with the astrocytes. In the presence of astrocytes or astrocytic conditioned medium, microglia are markedly less neurotoxic even when exposed to beta-amyloid peptide, a potent activator of isolated microglia in vitro (von Bernhardi and Eugenin, 2004), and recent bioinformatics studies have highlighted the importance of the microenvironment in regulating microglial expression of various molecules (Schmid et al., 2009). The results indicate that under inflammatory conditions, astrocytes temper the maturation of microglia into functional DCs.

The experiments conducted here show that microglia treated with the DC maturation factors GM-CSF and LPS in the presence of astrocytes assume an altered phenotype compared to microglia cultured in isolation. Microglia cultured with astrocytes are characterized by the reduced expression of the DC marker CD11c and T cell co-stimulatory molecules. A significantly greater proportion of the isolated microglia express CD11c together with co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 or CD86 than microglia cultured in the presence of astrocytes. Though there are significant differences in the pattern of T cell co-stimulatory molecule expression between the two culture conditions, the expression of MHC class II, a molecule essential for antigen presentation to T cells, is unaffected by the presence of astrocytes.

To assure that astrocytes were the primary glial components responsible for this phenomenon, CD11b⁺ microglia (isolated by magnetic cell sorting) were plated onto an enriched bed of confluent astrocytes. When co-cultured in this more homogeneous glial environment, microglia still exhibited low surface expression of CD40, thereby confirming that the active glial component of co-cultures was, indeed, astrocytes.

To elicit an adaptive immune response, DCs routinely capture, process and present antigens to the appropriate T cells using the MHC class II complex. Engagement of the CD3/TCR complex by the MHC class II molecule containing an antigenic peptide delivers the primary activation signal to a T cell. Since the data show no significant differences in the expression of microglial MHC Class II between the two culture conditions, one might be tempted to disregard it as an inconsequential defining factor. However, it is important to note that the data only examined the surface expression of MHC Class II and not total cellular expression. In addition to the T cell stimulatory functions – which occur at the cell membrane – endosomal MHC Class II has also been implicated in intracellular signaling events that are distinct from its classical functions. A study by Liu and colleagues shows that endosomal MHC Class II molecules – unlike their membrane-bound counterparts – can promote TLR-triggered activation/maturation of DCs and macrophages by functioning as a scaffolding molecule (Liu et al., 2011). By recruiting various downstream members of the TLR signaling pathway and the kinases required to activate them (notably the tyrosine kinase Btk), endosomal MHC class II substantially enhances the DC response to various TLR ligands. Thus, the production of various pro-inflammatory cytokines is significantly attenuated in the absence of endosomal MHC Class II. Interestingly, their data show that intracellular MHC Class II

needs to form a complex with Btk through endosomal CD40 which then interacts with other factors to induce efficient TLR signaling.

Even though isolated microglia express more surface CD40 than do microglia cultured with astrocytes, microglia cultured with astrocytes express significantly more total CD40 protein as characterized by western blot (Giselles Acevedo, personal communication). Moreover, several different isoforms of CD40 can be visualized from whole cell lysates derived from microglia cultured in the presence of astrocytes while lysates obtained from isolated microglia reveal only a single CD40 isoform. Immunocytochemical data also reveal intracellular depots of both CD40 and CD86 (Jonakait, unpublished observations; Cruz, unpublished observation).

Alternative mRNA splicing can generate at least five distinct CD40 isoforms (types – I to V) (Tone et al., 2001). Of these five isoforms, only the type-I isoform is able to induce intracellular signaling from the cell surface. Though they lack an endodomain required for signaling and are thus incapable of traditional signal transduction, types II-IV are not without function. Type-II-IV isoforms may inhibit CD40 signaling by either acting in a dominant-negative fashion at the cell surface (type-III and -IV) or by preventing the trafficking of the type-I isoform to the cell surface (type-II). Another important intracellular interaction is that described above in which intracellular MHC Class II molecules form a complex with CD40 and Btk in endosomes, and intracellular CD40 mediates the interaction between MHC Class II and Btk (Liu et al., 2011) thereby regulating TLR signaling. This potentially important intracellular interaction, however, has not been demonstrated in microglia.
Microglia respond to LPS by increasing co-stimulatory surface expression, and intracellular MHC class II may play a role in facilitiating that signaling (Liu et al., 2011). It is reasonable to consider the possibility that the presence of various non-signaling isoforms of CD40 in microglia cultured with astrocytes may interfere with TLR signaling that is mediated by intracellular MHC class II.

RT-PCR analysis of mRNA of MHC class II and the co-stimulatory molecules shows that microglia in both conditions upregulate mRNA expression following LPS treatment. In all cases, mRNA expression in microglia cultured with astrocytes is significantly higher compared to isolated microglia. Analysis of mRNA expression was complicated by the lack of suitable internal controls since "housekeeping" genes tested (GAPDH, HPRT1 and SDHA) also differed between the two culture conditions (data not shown), but repetitive assays were consistent in yielding this phenomenon. This was unexpected and seems inconsistent with the analysis of surface protein. The apparent inconsistency between message and protein data suggest that the surface expression of co-stimulatory molecules might be post-transcriptionally and/or post-translationally regulated. Indeed, recent studies have shown that expression of a brain-specific micro-RNA (miRNA-124) controls activation of peripheral macrophages and microglia (Ponomarev et al., 2011). Subsequent studies from the Jonakait laboratory have shown that other miRNAs implicated in controlling macrophage activation are elevated in cocultured microglia (Acevedo, personal communication) (Baltimore et al., 2008; Boldin et al., 2011; O'Connell et al., 2010). While these data are preliminary, they suggest the possibility that astrocytes regulate translation of co-stimulatory molecules by regulating microRNAs.

Other means of regulating surface expression of proteins include alternative mRNA splicing and/or trafficking. Recent data from the Jonakait lab have shown that CD40 exists in higher quantities and in multiple intracellular isoforms that are only present in microglia cultured with astrocytes (Acevedo, personal communication). It is thus reasonable to suggest that alternative splicing has created isoforms that lack the signal sequence that targets proteins to the membrane. While data are lacking, it is possible to hypothesize that CD80 and CD86 are regulated similarly.

Though microglia are the resident immune cells of the CNS, numerous studies utilizing various rodent models for EAE, as well as CNS-specific viral, bacterial and parasitic diseases clearly demonstrate that various subsets of peripheral DCs and T cells enter the CNS in response to these challenges (Brehin et al., 2008; Fischer et al., 2000; Kostulas et al., 2002; Pashenkov et al., 2002). Moreover, MHC class II^+ peripheral DCs have been identified in the choroid plexus, meninges and cerebrospinal fluid (Chinnery et al., 2010; Serot et al., 1997). The ability of astrocytes to express immunomodulatory capacity against peripherally derived DCs similar to that seen with microglia was determined. Consistent with the data of others (Hailer et al., 2001) the data show that astrocytes significantly suppress DC maturation of heterogeneous peripheral bone marrow-derived precursors. When $CD11c^+$ bone marrow-derived cells are purified by magnetic cell sorting and cultured on a bed of enriched astrocytes, there is a profound reduction in the percentage of cells that express CD40 and CD80 compared to cells cultured in isolation suggesting that it is astrocytes and not other hematopoietic cell types nor other glial components that are responsible for the down-regulation.

In addition to suppressing the co-stimulatory molecules and MHC class II, astrocytes also prevent the downregulation of the chemokine receptor CX3CR1 in microglia in response to GM-CSF and LPS treatment. Data show that the mere removal of microglia from an astrocytic environment is enough to cause the downregulation of CX3CR1. The ability of astrocytes to prevent the loss of this receptor is important in the control of microglial-mediated neural cell death. CX3CR1 has been shown to be neuroprotective in various CNS infectious diseases and neurodegeneration models (Corona et al., 2010; Jaworski et al., 2011; Suzuki et al., 2011). For instance, Cardona and colleagues utilizing these same transgenic mice and various clinically relevant models of neurodegeneration show that microglial cells unresponsive to fractalkine are significantly more neurotoxic (Cardona et al., 2006). Similarly, Cipriani et al. report that CX3CL1 by acting at the microglial CX3CR1 receptor protects against damage caused by microglial activation in a permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMCAO) model (Cipriani et al., 2011).

Given the data obtained from the transgenic CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} mice, the expression of endogenous CX3CR1 receptor in wildtype microglia was assessed. A flow cytometric analysis of the CX3CR1 receptor in WT C57BL6/J isolated microglia treated with GM-CSF and LPS revealed that approximately 50% of the microglia still retained the receptor (data not shown). This was surprising since none of the transgenic microglia retain their GFP expression in the absence of astrocytes. Moreover, since GFP is under the direct control of the CX3CR1 promoter, one would expect the presence or absence of GFP in the transgenic microglia to correlate directly with the presence or absence of the CX3CR1 in the wild-type microglia.

Though the discrepancies between the transgenic and wild-type data are admittedly troubling, the transgenic data might prove to be useful and may yet shed light on how CX3CR1 expression is regulated by astrocytes. For instance, data reveal that a large portion of isolated GFP-microglia retain their GFP expression when cultured with GM-CSF and LPS in the presence of MatrigelTM even in the absence of astrocytes. Furthermore, a sizeable percentage of isolated GFP microglia devoid of GFP expression *regain* GFP expression after being placed into an astrocytic environment indicating that contact with the astrocytic environment has initiated *de novo* transcription and translation of the CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} in the transgenic microglia. These data suggest that extrinsic cues provided by the astrocytic environment may somehow affect the transcription, translation and/or the stability of the CX3CR1.

Taken together, the above data demonstrate that an astrocytic environment not only prevents the efficient maturation of microglia and BM precursors into efficient DCs but it may also enhance neuroprotection by preserving microglial expression of the fractalkine receptor.

Since astrocytes are capable of secreting a wide variety of pro- and antiinflammatory immune cytokines, the effects of endogenous and exogenous PGE2, IL-10 and TGF- β on microglial maturation in the presence or absence of astrocytes was investigated. As described above (see Background), numerous studies have shown these cytokines to broadly suppress isolated microglial activation in response to inflammatory stimuli. In agreement with other studies, addition of PGE2 suppressed the expression of co-stimulatory molecules in isolated microglia. Intriguingly, PGE2 had the opposite effect when microglia were in the presence of astrocytes. This result, however, was not totally unexpected; others have also shown that PGE2 can be pro-inflammatory under certain conditions (Sheibanie et al., 2007).

Analysis of IL-10 expression through an ELISA revealed that the production of IL-10 in both culture conditions increased in a time-dependent manner. However, the amount of IL-10 in the mixed glial culture was significantly higher when compared to that in the isolated microglial cultures. Furthermore, unlike isolated microglial cultures, IL-10 was present consistently throughout the entire duration of LPS treatment in the mixed glial cultures. Given the elevated concentrations of endogenous IL-10, it is perhaps not surprising that the addition of exogenous IL-10 had no discernible effect. However, given the anti-inflammatory role of IL-10 on microglial activation, neutralizing IL-10 was expected to reverse the suppression of microglial activation. ELISA data showed that the addition of the antibody successfully neutralized IL-10 (data not shown). Even so, it had no significant effect in either culture condition ruling out IL-10 as the mediator of glial inhibition of the DC phenotype.

In addition to PGE2 and IL-10, the role of TGF- β 1 was tested. TGF- β 1 has been shown by others to mediate astrocytic neuroprotection (Dhandapani et al., 2003), to down-regulate activation of invading macrophages (Hailer et al., 1998) and microglia (Kim et al., 2004; Ledeboer et al., 2000; Suzumura et al., 1993), and promote an immature DC-like phenotype in isolated microglia (Xiao et al., 2002). The addition of exogenous TGF- β 1 to mixed glial cultures significantly reduced the number of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ microglia, suggesting a possible role in mediating the DC inhibition. In order to determine whether endogenous TGF- β was indeed responsible, the endogenous molecule was neutralized by a pan-TGF- β antibody capable of countering the effects of all three TGF- β isoforms. However, the addition of the antibody also decreased the percentage of CD11c⁺CD40⁺ microglia in mixed glial cultures. The apparent contradiction that both the addition and the neutralization of TGF- β had the same action might be explained by the fact that the antibody neutralized all three isoforms of TGF- β which might have contradictory effects. The consequences of adding exogenous TGF- β 2 and 3 was not pursued.

Because the three mediators examined did not appear to be the relevant candidates, a TranswellTM system was employed to examine the possibility that other astrocyte-derived soluble molecules were involved. $CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP}$ -expressing microglia were used in initial studies because the down-regulation of CX3CR1 in some conditions is inhibited by soluble factors such as IL-10 and IFN- γ (Ramos et al., 2010). Separation of microglia from a confluent bed of astrocytes failed to maintain GFP expression. The expression of CX3CR1 was maintained only when microglia were in direct contact with astrocytes thereby eliminating most soluble factors as mediators.

Similar results for CD40 were obtained when isolated microglia were cultured in the TranswellTM setting. The percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 is the same in microglia grown apart from astrocytes and those cultured in a TranswellTM system. These data conclusively show the need for contact between microglia and astrocytes in order for the latter to inhibit the maturation of the former.

These data, however, do not eliminate all soluble factors as potential astrocytederived mediators. One such factor that warrants further investigation is thromobospondin (TSP). Though TSP is a soluble factor, it can function as a "bridging" molecule capable of binding receptors on two different cells in very close proximity

(Brown and Frazier, 2001; Gao et al., 1996). TSP exerts its functions over distances that are much smaller than a TranswellTM apparatus allows. The anti-inflammatory properties of TSP are well characterized. Treatment of DCs with TSP-1 reduces the expression of molecules required for T cell stimulation (Doyen et al., 2003; Mittal et al., 2010). TSP-1 also decreases the production of inflammatory cytokines by PBMCs (Demeure et al., 2000). Furthermore, TSP-1 ligation of CD47 on T cells induces their differentiation into $Foxp3^+$ T_{regs} in response to inflammatory signals (Grimbert et al., 2006). And importantly, astrocytes produce copious amounts of TSP-1 (Lanz et al., 2010). TSP has some unique properties that make it a candidate for consideration as an astrocyticallyderived molecule that can affect microglial function. TSP-1 has a heparin binding domain (HBD) at its N-terminus and a C-terminal cell binding domain (CBD) (Krispin et al., 2006). These two domains can affect cells differently based on the specific receptors expressed by the cells. For instance, TSP-1 HBD when bound to DCs induces a phagocytic state whereas CBD binding induced a tolerizing phenotype (Tabib et al., 2009). Future studies should consider TSP as a possible astrocytic mediator of DC inhibition.

Other molecules within the astrocytic environment may be important. ECM molecules such as fibronectin and laminin secreted by astrocytes may negatively affect microglial maturation. Components of the ECM are known to suppress the induction of microglial iNOS/NO in response to LPS stimulation (Kim et al., 2006). Furthermore, in the presence of laminin or fibronectin, human DCs tend to maintain a "more immature" phenotype characterized by high endocytic capability and low T cell stimulatory

molecules (Garcia-Nieto et al., 2010). However, these same DCs were capable of efficient T cell stimulation upon their removal from the inhibitory ECM proteins.

The data presented here show that microglia are being similarly affected. Microglia treated with GM-CSF and LPS on MatrigelTM reveal a percentage of cells expressing CD11c and CD40 that is similar to that of isolated microglia. However, the MFI of CD40 is lower, reminiscent of the effect provided by an astrocytic environment. Similarly, CX3CR1^{GFP/GFP} microglia retain their GFP expression to a large extent in the presence of MatrigelTM. These data add support to the hypothesis that astrocyte-derived ECM proteins affect microglial maturation.

Though microglia cultured on MatrigelTM seem to mimic the phenotype of microglia grown in the presence of astrocytes, the data show that the components of MatrigelTM are not entirely sufficient to replicate the action of astrocytes. This implies that there might be other astrocytic factor(s) that also play a role in modulating microglial behavior. These factors could be molecules like thrombospondin that require membrane associated proteins for their effect and/or astrocytic membrane-bound molecules that microglia are required to touch and/or ECM constituents.

The phenotype expressed by DCs significantly affects their capacity to stimulate the activation and proliferation of T cells. Owing to their immature DC phenotype, microglia in the presence of astrocytes might be expected to be inefficient T cell stimulators. To test this hypothesis, T cells were cultured with microglia alone, astrocytes alone or microglia in the presence of astrocytes. CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated in an antigen non-specific manner by an exogenously supplied anti-CD3 antibody whereas microglial CD40, CD80 or CD86 stimulating their appropriate cognate ligand would theoretically provide the T cells with the secondary signal.

Compared to T cells cultured alone, the data show that a glial environment significantly impedes T cell proliferation. Though microglia in the presence of astrocytes were more effective in stimulating T cell proliferation than isolated microglia, T cell proliferation was significantly lower in both culture conditions when compared to T cells cultured alone or in the presence of an enriched astrocytic culture.

A different result is obtained if an exogenous stimulator for signal two is provided. The inclusion of an agonist CD28 antibody together with anti CD3 eliminates the differences between the proliferation of T cells cultured alone and with astrocytes alone. Moreover, the difference between the proliferation of T cells cultured with isolated and co-cultured microglia disappears. What remains, however, is the suppression of proliferation whenever microglia are present. Since T cells cultured in these conditions do not proliferate as much as those cultured alone or cultured with astrocytes alone, this suggests that microglia irrespective of their environment suppress T cell proliferation.

The inhibitory effect of astrocytes on T cell proliferation in the presence of anti-CD3 is unexplained, but could be the result of an unknown ligand from astrocytes interacting with inhibitory molecules on the T cell surface. The addition of activated microglia to the astrocytic environment is even less conducive to T cell proliferation. However, because isolated microglia (with their full complement of co-stimulatory molecules) are less effective than co-cultured microglia (with their immature complement of co-stimulatory molecules) in promoting T cell proliferation, molecules other than the ones investigated here may be important players. So, e.g., the rapid upregulation of CTLA-4 following T cell activation (Walunas et al., 1994) may allow for its ligands CD80 and CD86 to have an inhibitory effect on T cell activation and cell cycle progression. Moreover, CTLA-4 has additional binding partners that include B7-H2 which can bind CD28, thereby activating T cells. With an upregulation of CTLA-4, however, B7-H2 is prevented from activating CD28. B7-H2 expression on astrocytes and microglia has not been examined.

PD-L1 and PD-L2, present on astrocytes and microglia, are upregulated by proinflammatory signals (Pittet et al., 2011). Ligation of PD-1 on T cells inhibits PI3 kinase activity and lowers T cell proliferation (Sandner et al., 2005). Moreover, PD-1 mediated inhibition correlates with the strength of TCR ligation (Freeman et al., 2000). While both plate-bound and soluble anti-CD3 were equally efficacious in promoting T cell proliferation, there is no information on that strength relative to an in vivo stimulation. Importantly, PD-1 inhibition can be overcome by strong stimulation of CD28 (Freeman et al., 2000). If PD-L1 or PD-L2 were expressed on either microglia or astrocytes, this could account for their suppressive effects on T cell proliferation and explain why such suppression was overcome by the addition of anti-CD28.

An additional candidate for T cell inhibition is B7-H3, a newly-identified member of the B7 family of co-stimulatory molecules. A B7-H3 agonist fusion protein inhibits murine T cell proliferation generated by anti-CD3 (Leitner et al., 2009; Prasad et al., 2004; Suh et al., 2003). The expression of B7-H3 has not been studied in microglia or astrocytes. An important future direction of these studies would be an investigation of these inhibitory co-stimulatory molecules on isolated and co-cultured microglia to determine whether they may be players in the inhibition of T cell proliferation observed here.

The ability of the two culture conditions to induce $Foxp3^+$ T cells was assessed. Foxp3⁺ T cells are a subtype of T-helper cells that exhibit anti-inflammatory properties and have the capacity to downregulate the immune response. Studies show that $Foxp3^+$ T cell generation can be affected by the strength and timing of the primary and secondary signaling provided by DCs. Since microglia in the presence of astrocytes express lower amounts of the co-stimulatory CD40, CD80 and CD86 molecules one should expect a higher percentage of $Foxp3^+$ T cells in these cultures. However, the data show that the opposite is true, i.e., a significantly higher percentage of T cells harvested from isolated microglial cultures are Foxp3 positive compared to those isolated from the mixed glial environment. Two possible explanations can be invoked to account for this discrepancy. The higher percentage of $Foxp3^+$ cells in the isolated microglial cultures could be the result of proliferation of endogenous $Foxp3^+$ cells or it could be due to the *de novo* induction of Foxp3 in naïve CD4⁺ cells.

The CD4⁺ T cells used in the experiments were obtained through magnetic cell sorting from the spleens of B10.A mice. Without further purification steps, isolating T cells in this manner results in a heterogeneous mix of various $CD4^+$ T helper subtypes including naïve (Th0), Th1, Th2, Th17 and Foxp3⁺ T_{regs}. Data from the Jonakait lab (not shown) and others indicate that Foxp3⁺ cells may comprise 5-10% of the CD4⁺ T cell population in the spleen. The increase to approximately 20% in the presence of isolated

microglia could result from preferential proliferation of this endogenous population of Foxp3⁺ T cells or from the de novo induction of Foxp3 in Th0 cells.

While the here experiments did not distinguish between these possibilities, others have shown that a strong CD28 signal even in the presence of a weak TCR signal promotes proliferation of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} (Hombach et al., 2007). Similarly, such disparity in signaling also promotes de novo expression of Foxp3 (Gabrysova et al., 2011; Molinero et al., 2011). In the experiments here, T cells were stimulated with soluble anti-CD3 antibody. However, anti-CD3 antibody was used in a soluble form instead of the more conventional plate-bound antibody. A plate-bound antibody is deemed to provide T cells with a "stronger" primary signal than a soluble antibody. One reason for this is that the plate-bound antibody is more likely to cross-link the various signaling proteins than an antibody in solution. A weak primary signal coupled with the relatively stronger secondary signal provided by the isolated microglia may explain the higher percentage of Foxp3⁺ cells there. Given the disparity of the signaling strengths provided here, it is likely that the increased presence of T_{regs} is due to both induction and proliferation.

The addition of exogenous anti-CD28 did not change the percentage of Foxp3⁺ cells in T cells cultured alone or in the presence of co-cultured microglia. However, it did lower significantly the percentage of Fox3-expressing cells in the presence of isolated microglia. This may be due to an increased proliferation of other T cell types relative to T_{regs} . This would tend to lower the percentage of any single population. On the other hand, one report shows that the addition of soluble anti-CD28 in a pro-inflammatory environment lowers the percentage of Foxp3-expressing cells (Bouguermouh et al., 2009). The isolated microglial environment, having been stimulated with LPS, is

assuredly pro-inflammatory (see Figure 5.12). These data together confirm 1) the importance of the strength and timing of co-stimulatory signals and 2) the importance of astrocytes in regulating the microglia response.

An experiment using an antigen-dependent T cell stimulation protocol is an important future direction. In such an experiment microglia would have to phagocytose, process and present an antigen to a CD4⁺ T cell in an MHC class II context. Since this experiment would examine all the important functional aspects of a microglial-DC, it would provide a more complete picture of how isolated microglial behavior differs from microglia in an astrocytic environment.

Another consideration for Foxp3 induction is the effect of negative stimulation by CD80/86 of CTLA-4. By inducing apoptosis or anti-inflammatory properties in the target cells, negative stimulation of T cells by CD80 and CD86 can terminate the immune response at the appropriate time. Studies show that CD80 and CD86 bind CTLA-4 preferentially and with much greater affinity than CD28. Moreover, CD80/86 binding of CTLA-4 tends to elicit anti-inflammatory responses (Vandenborre et al., 1999; Walunas et al., 1994; Wells et al., 2001). One way this is accomplished is through the production of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs}. CD80/CD86 stimulation of CTLA-4 under certain conditions can lead to the induction of Foxp3 in T cells (Pletinckx et al., 2011). Since a significantly greater percentage of isolated microglia express CD80 and CD86, it was reasonable to hypothesize that CD80/CD86 stimulation of CTLA-4 might be the reason for the increased number of Foxp3⁺ T cells. A neutralizing antibody against CTLA-4 was used to test this hypothesis. Blocking CTLA-4 interaction with CD80/86 was expected to reduce the observed percentage of Foxp3⁺ cells. However, Foxp3⁺ T cell generation remained

unaffected even in the presence of the neutralizing antibody suggesting that CD80/86 stimulation of CTLA-4 is probably not the cause of the increase in Foxp3 cell numbers. Furthermore, the elimination of CTLA-4 as a mechanism for Foxp3 generation lends more support to the suggestion that weak TCR signaling coupled with strong co-stimulatory signaling might be the cause of Foxp3 induction in the isolated microglial cultures.

In addition to suppressing T cell proliferation, the stimuli arising from the glial environment also seem to inhibit the efficient secretion of various cytokines by T cells. The pro- or anti-inflammatory activity of T cells is determined in part by the type of cytokines they produce. An analysis of the supernatants by ELISAs reveals that a mixed glial environment hinders the secretion of cytokines by the T cells whereas, isolated microglia promote both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion by T cells. The production of pro-inflammatory IFN- γ , IL-17A and anti-inflammatory IL-10 and IL-4 is significantly reduced in T cells cultured in a mixed glial environment. Though a greater percentage of T cells cultured with isolated microglia assume a Foxp3⁺ T_{reg} phenotype, these cultures tended to produce significantly more IL-17A and IFN- γ two proinflammatory cytokines implicated in auto-immune disorders.

The cytokine milieu generated in the various culture conditions is likely due to the variability of the co-stimulatory signaling. The engagement of co-stimulatory molecules on DCs by their cognate ligands on naïve or differentiated T cells can modify the phenotype of the DCs themselves. For instance, the engagement of CD40 by CD40L (on T cells) is sufficient to induce the maturation of immature DCs in certain instances (Fujii et al., 2004). Moreover, following TLR signaling, CD40L-stimulated human DCs

significantly increase their production of IL-23, a cytokine essential for Th17 differentiation (Sender et al., 2010) revealing the importance of the crosstalk between DCs and T cells. The differentiation of Th17 cells also requires IL-6 and TGF- β . High levels of IL-6 were observed in both culture conditions, and it increases over time (data not shown). The presence or absence of TGF- β in the culture system was not assessed but presumably the TGF- β already present in serum is enough to drive Th17 generation. In light of this study and data showing the very high expression of surface CD40 in isolated microglia and the detection of high quantities of IL-17 in the supernatants, it is quite feasible that the mechanism put forth by Sender et al. is also at work in this study.

The production of an appropriate T cell response is of vital importance to the healthy brain, and the data indicate that an astrocytic environment plays an important role in maintaining brain homeostasis. This level of immunosuppression is generally thought to be beneficial. However, the interaction between becomes detrimental when that immunosuppression occurs within tumors. Tumors including gliomas tend to induce an anti-inflammatory environment as well as the formation of $Foxp3^+$ T_{regs} which compromise the immune response and contribute to the immune evasion of the tumor and poor prognosis (Hussain et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2010) While they contain resident microglia and even peripheral DCs, these are characterized by low expression of MHC class II, CD40 and CD86 and are unable to mount an appropriate immune response. Their immaturity with respect to antigen-presentation may contribute to an environment in which anti-inflammatory Foxp3⁺ T_{regs} are generated (Kostianovsky et al., 2008). Indeed the conversion to a more mature phenotype markedly reduces the immunosuppressive qualities of the cancer cells (Wei et al., 2010). Even more effective is the intra-tumoral

introduction of mature DCs pulsed with tumor antigens (Pellegatta et al., 2010). A recent paper of interest suggests that the introduction of gliomas into the CNS does not elicit an immune response, whereas implantation into the periphery does suggesting the profound immunosuppression elicited in a brain microenvironment (Biollaz et al., 2009).

Likewise, it appears that the depletion of endogenous $Foxp3^+ T_{reg}$ may also provide protection against gliomas by unleashing the latent potential of the hitherto suppressed immune system (Maes et al., 2009). The same study shows that the prognosis gets even better when T_{regs} ablation is coupled with the introduction of mature DCs pulsed with tumor antigens. This suggests that maximal immune response can only be achieved in the absence of T_{reg} mediated suppression as well as the presence of DCs in a proper state of maturation.

The data in this thesis show that microglia in the presence of astrocytes are characterized by their low expression of CD80, CD86 and MHC class II as well as their reduced capacity to stimulate T cell activation and proliferation when compared to T cells cultured alone. It is appears that the mechanisms that prevent an overblown T cell response in the healthy CNS are co-opted and exaggerated by tumor cells to their own advantage. Understanding the mechanism(s) through which this occurs in the healthy CNS may shed further light on how tumors evade immune surveillance.

In contrast to their detrimental role in the pathogenesis of gliomas, activation of microglia and CNS DCs has been shown to exert a neuroprotective effect. Spinal cord injury (SCI) studies indicate that the presence of activated microglia and/or mononuclear cells at the site of injury can be directly correlated with morphological and functional recovery (Mikami et al., 2004). The vaccination of immature DCs loaded with myelin

basic protein either directly into the site of the wound or in the peritoneum after the SCI lead to significant improvements in recovery (Hauben et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2009). Moreover, this recovery is contingent on the presence of mature T cells since the depletion T cells results in negligible improvement after SCI. In addition to recruiting T cells, activated DCs and microglia aided recovery by reducing the formation of glial scars that impede neuroregeneration (Hauben et al., 2003).

Glias scars comprise a heterogeneous mixture of cells including microglia, reactive astrocytes and CNS invading DCs. They produce high quantities of extracellular matrix molecules including chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG) and laminin (Katoh-Semba et al., 1995). The data here and that of others suggest that ECM molecules or their degradation products have an anti-inflammatory effect on microglia (Ebert et al., 2008; Rolls et al., 2004). While protecting against neuronal death, this down-regulation can also prevent the elimination of the glial scar either by microglial phagocytosis or T cell invasion.

Conclusions

The data presented here and that of others suggest that microglia are tightly controlled by an astrocytic environment that prevents when possible the over activation of microglia. This is neuroprotective in some instances where pro-inflammatory events could cause neuronal cell death or promote autoimmunity. But this inhibitory effect has a darker side. Microglial inflammation can be beneficial both in recovery from traumatic injury and is essential for an effective response against brain tumors. Understanding the mechanism(s) that regulate microglia in both the healthy and the diseased or injured brain are essential for proper therapeutic intervention. The data point to the complex astrocytic microenvironment as being an important focus for this understanding.

REFERENCES

- 1. Acuto O, Mise-Omata S, Mangino G, Michel F (2003) Molecular modifiers of T cell antigen receptor triggering threshold: the mechanism of CD28 costimulatory receptor. Immunol Rev 192: 21-31.
- 2. Adamus G, Amundson D, Vainiene M, Ariail K, Machnicki M, Weinberg A, Offner H (1996) Myelin basic protein specific T-helper cells induce experimental anterior uveitis. J Neurosci Res 44: 513-518.
- 3. Adler AJ, Marsh DW, Yochum GS, Guzzo JL, Nigam A, Nelson WG, Pardoll DM (1998) CD4+ T cell tolerance to parenchymal self-antigens requires presentation by bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells. J Exp Med 187: 1555-1564.
- 4. Afkarian M, Sedy JR, Yang J, Jacobson NG, Cereb N, Yang SY, Murphy TL, Murphy KM (2002) T-bet is a STAT1-induced regulator of IL-12R expression in naive CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol 3: 549-557.
- 5. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278: 1910-1914.
- 6. Akira S, Hoshino K, Kaisho T (2000) The role of Toll-like receptors and MyD88 in innate immune responses. J Endotoxin Res 6: 383-387.
- 7. Allavena P, Luini W, Bonecchi R, D'Amico G, Bianchi G, Longoni D, Vecchi A, Mantovani A, Sozzani S (1999) Chemokines and chemokine receptors in the regulation of dendritic cell trafficking. Chem Immunol 72: 69-85.
- 8. Aloisi F (1999) The role of microglia and astrocytes in CNS immune surveillance and immunopathology. Adv Exp Med Biol 468: 123-133.
- 9. Aloisi F (2001) Immune function of microglia. Glia 36: 165-179.
- 10. Aloisi F, Borsellino G, Care A, Testa U, Gallo P, Russo G, Peschle C, Levi G (1995) Cytokine regulation of astrocyte function: in-vitro studies using cells from the human brain. Int J Dev Neurosci 13: 265-274.
- Aloisi F, De Simone R, Columba-Cabezas S, Levi G (1999) Opposite effects of interferon-gamma and prostaglandin E2 on tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-10 production in microglia: a regulatory loop controlling microglia pro- and antiinflammatory activities. J Neurosci Res 56: 571-580.

- 12. Aloisi F, De Simone R, Columba-Cabezas S, Penna G, Adorini L (2000) Functional maturation of adult mouse resting microglia into an APC is promoted by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interaction with Th1 cells. J Immunol 164: 1705-1712.
- 13. Aloisi F, Penna G, Cerase J, Menendez IB, Adorini L (1997) IL-12 production by central nervous system microglia is inhibited by astrocytes. J Immunol 159: 1604-1612.
- 14. Antov A, Yang L, Vig M, Baltimore D, Van Parijs L (2003) Essential role for STAT5 signaling in CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cell homeostasis and the maintenance of self-tolerance. J Immunol 171: 3435-3441.
- 15. Appleman LJ, Berezovskaya A, Grass I, Boussiotis VA (2000) CD28 costimulation mediates T cell expansion via IL-2-independent and IL-2-dependent regulation of cell cycle progression. J Immunol 164: 144-151.
- 16. Attisano L, Wrana JL (2002) Signal transduction by the TGF-beta superfamily. Science 296: 1646-1647.
- 17. Avni O, Rao A (2000) T cell differentiation: a mechanistic view. Curr Opin Immunol 12: 654-659.
- 18. Bailey SL, Schreiner B, McMahon EJ, Miller SD (2007) CNS myeloid DCs presenting endogenous myelin peptides 'preferentially' polarize CD4+ T(H)-17 cells in relapsing EAE. Nat Immunol 8: 172-180.
- 19. Baltimore D, Boldin MP, O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Taganov KD (2008) MicroRNAs: new regulators of immune cell development and function. Nat Immunol 9: 839-845.
- 20. Banati RB, Gehrmann J, Schubert P, Kreutzberg GW (1993) Cytotoxicity of microglia. Glia 7: 111-118.
- 21. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K (2000) Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 18: 767-811.
- 22. Banchereau J, Paczesny S, Blanco P, Bennett L, Pascual V, Fay J, Palucka AK (2003) Dendritic cells: controllers of the immune system and a new promise for immunotherapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci 987: 180-187.
- 23. Banchereau J, Steinman RM (1998) Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 392: 245-252.
- 24. Barron KD (1995) The microglial cell. A historical review. J Neurol Sci 134 Suppl: 57-68.

- 25. Basu S, Binder RJ, Suto R, Anderson KM, Srivastava PK (2000) Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-kappa B pathway. Int Immunol 12: 1539-1546.
- 26. Bazan JF, Bacon KB, Hardiman G, Wang W, Soo K, Rossi D, Greaves DR, Zlotnik A, Schall TJ (1997) A new class of membrane-bound chemokine with a CX3C motif. Nature 385: 640-644.
- 27. Becher B, Blain M, Antel JP (2000a) CD40 engagement stimulates IL-12 p70 production by human microglial cells: basis for Th1 polarization in the CNS. J Neuroimmunol 102: 44-50.
- 28. Becher B, Giacomini PS, Pelletier D, McCrea E, Prat A, Antel JP (1999) Interferon-gamma secretion by peripheral blood T-cell subsets in multiple sclerosis: correlation with disease phase and interferon-beta therapy. Ann Neurol 45: 247-250.
- 29. Becher B, Prat A, Antel JP (2000b) Brain-immune connection: immunoregulatory properties of CNS-resident cells. Glia 29: 293-304.
- 30. Bechmann I, Galea I, Perry VH (2007) What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? Trends Immunol 28: 5-11.
- 31. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, Kelly TE, Saulsbury FT, Chance PF, Ochs HD (2001) The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet 27: 20-21.
- 32. Bensinger SJ, Bandeira A, Jordan MS, Caton AJ, Laufer TM (2001) Major histocompatibility complex class II-positive cortical epithelium mediates the selection of CD4(+)25(+) immunoregulatory T cells. J Exp Med 194: 427-438.
- Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441: 235-238.
- 34. Bianchi ME (2007) DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol 81: 1-5.
- Biollaz G, Bernasconi L, Cretton C, Puntener U, Frei K, Fontana A, Suter T (2009) Site-specific anti-tumor immunity: differences in DC function, TGF-beta production and numbers of intratumoral Foxp3+ Treg. Eur J Immunol 39: 1323-1333.
- 36. Blanco P, Palucka AK, Pascual V, Banchereau J (2008) Dendritic cells and cytokines in human inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 19: 41-52.

- Bogdan C, Vodovotz Y, Nathan C (1991) Macrophage deactivation by interleukin 10. J Exp Med 174: 1549-1555.
- Boise LH, Minn AJ, Noel PJ, June CH, Accavitti MA, Lindsten T, Thompson CB (1995) CD28 costimulation can promote T cell survival by enhancing the expression of Bcl-XL. Immunity 3: 87-98.
- 40. Boldin MP, Taganov KD, Rao DS, Yang L, Zhao JL, Kalwani M, Garcia-Flores Y, Luong M, Devrekanli A, Xu J, Sun G, Tay J, Linsley PS, Baltimore D (2011) miR-146a is a significant brake on autoimmunity, myeloproliferation, and cancer in mice. J Exp Med 208: 1189-1201.
- 41. Boniface K, Bak-Jensen KS, Li Y, Blumenschein WM, McGeachy MJ, McClanahan TK, McKenzie BS, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, de Waal MR (2009) Prostaglandin E2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation and function through cyclic AMP and EP2/EP4 receptor signaling. J Exp Med 206: 535-548.
- 42. Borkowski TA, Letterio JJ, Mackall CL, Saitoh A, Wang XJ, Roop DR, Gress RE, Udey MC (1997) A role for TGFbeta1 in langerhans cell biology. Further characterization of the epidermal Langerhans cell defect in TGFbeta1 null mice. J Clin Invest 100: 575-581.
- 43. Bouguermouh S, Fortin G, Baba N, Rubio M, Sarfati M (2009) CD28 costimulation down regulates Th17 development. PLoS One 4: e5087.
- 44. Brehin AC, Mouries J, Frenkiel MP, Dadaglio G, Despres P, Lafon M, Couderc T (2008) Dynamics of immune cell recruitment during West Nile encephalitis and identification of a new CD19+B220-BST-2+ leukocyte population. J Immunol 180: 6760-6767.
- 45. Bretscher PA (1999) A two-step, two-signal model for the primary activation of precursor helper T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 185-190.
- 46. Brown EJ, Frazier WA (2001) Integrin-associated protein (CD47) and its ligands. Trends Cell Biol 11: 130-135.
- 47. Brunkow ME, Jeffery EW, Hjerrild KA, Paeper B, Clark LB, Yasayko SA, Wilkinson JE, Galas D, Ziegler SF, Ramsdell F (2001) Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. Nat Genet 27: 68-73.
- 48. Burchill MA, Yang J, Vogtenhuber C, Blazar BR, Farrar MA (2007) IL-2 receptor beta-dependent STAT5 activation is required for the development of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 178: 280-290.

- 49. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, Ley TJ (2007) Granzyme B and perform are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. Immunity 27: 635-646.
- 50. Cardona AE, Li M, Liu L, Savarin C, Ransohoff RM (2008) Chemokines in and out of the central nervous system: much more than chemotaxis and inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 84: 587-594.
- 51. Cardona AE, Pioro EP, Sasse ME, Kostenko V, Cardona SM, Dijkstra IM, Huang D, Kidd G, Dombrowski S, Dutta R, Lee JC, Cook DN, Jung S, Lira SA, Littman DR, Ransohoff RM (2006) Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor. Nat Neurosci 9: 917-924.
- 52. Castellani ML, Anogeianaki A, Felaco P, Toniato E, De Lutiis MA, Shaik B, Fulcheri M, Vecchiet J, Tete S, Salini V, Theoharides TC, Caraffa A, Antinolfi P, Frydas I, Conti P, Cuccurullo C, Ciampoli C, Cerulli G, Kempuraj D (2010) IL-35, an anti-inflammatory cytokine which expands CD4+CD25+ Treg Cells. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 24: 131-135.
- 53. Caux C, Massacrier C, Dubois B, Valladeau J, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, Durand I, Schmitt D, Saeland S (1999) Respective involvement of TGF-beta and IL-4 in the development of Langerhans cells and non-Langerhans dendritic cells from CD34+ progenitors. J Leukoc Biol 66: 781-791.
- 54. Cayrol R, Wosik K, Berard JL, Dodelet-Devillers A, Ifergan I, Kebir H, Haqqani AS, Kreymborg K, Krug S, Moumdjian R, Bouthillier A, Becher B, Arbour N, David S, Stanimirovic D, Prat A (2008) Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. Nat Immunol 9: 137-145.
- 55. Cederbom L, Hall H, Ivars F (2000) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells downregulate co-stimulatory molecules on antigen-presenting cells. Eur J Immunol 30: 1538-1543.
- 56. Chan WY, Kohsaka S, Rezaie P (2007) The origin and cell lineage of microglia: new concepts. Brain Res Rev 53: 344-354.
- 57. Chen W, Frank ME, Jin W, Wahl SM (2001a) TGF-beta released by apoptotic T cells contributes to an immunosuppressive milieu. Immunity 14: 715-725.
- 58. Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, McGrady G, Wahl SM (2003) Conversion of peripheral CD4+. J Exp Med 198: 1875-1886.
- 59. Chen W, Jin W, Tian H, Sicurello P, Frank M, Orenstein JM, Wahl SM (2001b) Requirement for transforming growth factor beta1 in controlling T cell apoptosis. J Exp Med 194: 439-453.

- 60. Cheon H, Rho YH, Choi SJ, Lee YH, Song GG, Sohn J, Won NH, Ji JD (2006) Prostaglandin E2 augments IL-10 signaling and function. J Immunol 177: 1092-1100.
- 61. Chikuma T, Yoshimoto T, Ohba M, Sawada M, Kato T, Sakamoto T, Hiyama Y, Hojo H (2009) Interleukin-6 induces prostaglandin E(2) synthesis in mouse astrocytes. J Mol Neurosci 39: 175-184.
- 62. Chinnery HR, Ruitenberg MJ, McMenamin PG (2010) Novel characterization of monocyte-derived cell populations in the meninges and choroid plexus and their rates of replenishment in bone marrow chimeric mice. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 69: 896-909.
- 63. Chinnery HR, Ruitenberg MJ, Plant GW, Pearlman E, Jung S, McMenamin PG (2007) The chemokine receptor CX3CR1 mediates homing of MHC class II-positive cells to the normal mouse corneal epithelium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48: 1568-1574.
- 64. Chua AO, Wilkinson VL, Presky DH, Gubler U (1995) Cloning and characterization of a mouse IL-12 receptor-beta component. J Immunol 155: 4286-4294.
- 65. Cipriani R, Villa P, Chece G, Lauro C, Paladini A, Micotti E, Perego C, De Simoni MG, Fredholm BB, Eusebi F, Limatola C (2011) CX3CL1 is neuroprotective in permanent focal cerebral ischemia in rodents. J Neurosci 31: 16327-16335.
- 66. Cohen SJ, Cohen IR, Nussbaum G (2010) IL-10 mediates resistance to adoptive transfer experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in MyD88(-/-) mice. J Immunol 184: 212-221.
- 67. Collison LW, Pillai MR, Chaturvedi V, Vignali DA (2009) Regulatory T cell suppression is potentiated by target T cells in a cell contact, IL-35- and IL-10-dependent manner. J Immunol 182: 6121-6128.
- 68. Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM, Cross R, Sehy D, Blumberg RS, Vignali DA (2007) The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. Nature 450: 566-569.
- 69. Compston A, Zajicek J, Sussman J, Webb A, Hall G, Muir D, Shaw C, Wood A, Scolding N (1997) Glial lineages and myelination in the central nervous system. J Anat 190 (Pt 2): 161-200.
- 70. Constantinescu CS, Frei K, Wysocka M, Trinchieri G, Malipiero U, Rostami A, Fontana A (1996) Astrocytes and microglia produce interleukin-12 p40. Ann N Y Acad Sci 795: 328-333.

- Conti P, Kempuraj D, Frydas S, Kandere K, Boucher W, Letourneau R, Madhappan B, Sagimoto K, Christodoulou S, Theoharides TC (2003) IL-10 subfamily members: IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24 and IL-26. Immunol Lett 88: 171-174.
- 72. Coquerelle C, Moser M (2008) Are dendritic cells central to regulatory T cell function? Immunol Lett 119: 12-16.
- 73. Corinti S, Albanesi C, la Sala A, Pastore S, Girolomoni G (2001) Regulatory activity of autocrine IL-10 on dendritic cell functions. J Immunol 166: 4312-4318.
- 74. Corona AW, Huang Y, O'Connor JC, Dantzer R, Kelley KW, Popovich PG, Godbout JP (2010) Fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) deficiency sensitizes mice to the behavioral changes induced by lipopolysaccharide. J Neuroinflammation 7: 93.
- 75. Cote-Sierra J, Foucras G, Guo L, Chiodetti L, Young HA, Hu-Li J, Zhu J, Paul WE (2004) Interleukin 2 plays a central role in Th2 differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 3880-3885.
- 76. Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T, Zurawski S, Wiekowski M, Lira SA, Gorman D, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421: 744-748.
- 77. Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lino AC, Kutchukhidze N, Lafaille JJ (2004) J Immunol 173: 7259-7268.
- 78. D'Cruz LM, Klein L (2005) Development and function of agonist-induced CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the absence of interleukin 2 signaling. Nat Immunol 6: 1152-1159.
- 79. Dardalhon V, Awasthi A, Kwon H, Galileos G, Gao W, Sobel RA, Mitsdoerffer M, Strom TB, Elyaman W, Ho IC, Khoury S, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2008) IL-4 inhibits TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGF-beta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(-) effector T cells. Nat Immunol 9: 1347-1355.
- de Waal MR, Abrams J, Bennett B, Figdor CG, de Vries JE (1991) Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J Exp Med 174: 1209-1220.
- 81. DeGroot CJ, Montagne L, Barten AD, Sminia P, Van Der Valk P (1999) Expression of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta1, -beta2, and -beta3 isoforms and TGF-beta type I and type II receptors in multiple sclerosis lesions and human adult astrocyte cultures. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 58: 174-187.

- 82. Demeure CE, Tanaka H, Mateo V, Rubio M, Delespesse G, Sarfati M (2000) CD47 engagement inhibits cytokine production and maturation of human dendritic cells. J Immunol 164: 2193-2199.
- 83. Dhandapani KM, Hadman M, De Sevilla L, Wade MF, Mahesh VB, Brann DW (2003) Astrocyte protection of neurons: role of transforming growth factor-beta signaling via a c-Jun-AP-1 protective pathway. J Biol Chem 278: 43329-43339.
- Dhodapkar MV, Steinman RM, Krasovsky J, Munz C, Bhardwaj N (2001) Antigen-specific inhibition of effector T cell function in humans after injection of immature dendritic cells. J Exp Med 193: 233-238.
- 85. Dietrich J, Neisig A, Hou X, Wegener AM, Gajhede M, Geisler C (1996) Role of CD3 gamma in T cell receptor assembly. J Cell Biol 132: 299-310.
- 86. Ding L, Linsley PS, Huang LY, Germain RN, Shevach EM (1993) IL-10 inhibits macrophage costimulatory activity by selectively inhibiting the up-regulation of B7 expression. J Immunol 151: 1224-1234.
- 87. Ding L, Shevach EM (1992) IL-10 inhibits mitogen-induced T cell proliferation by selectively inhibiting macrophage costimulatory function. J Immunol 148: 3133-3139.
- 88. Dittel BN (2008) CD4 T cells: Balancing the coming and going of autoimmunemediated inflammation in the CNS. Brain Behav Immun 22: 421-430.
- 89. Dong Y, Benveniste EN (2001) Immune function of astrocytes. Glia 36: 180-190.
- 90. Dong Y, Tang L, Letterio JJ, Benveniste EN (2001) The Smad3 protein is involved in TGF-beta inhibition of class II transactivator and class II MHC expression. J Immunol 167: 311-319.
- Doyen V, Rubio M, Braun D, Nakajima T, Abe J, Saito H, Delespesse G, Sarfati M (2003) Thrombospondin 1 is an autocrine negative regulator of human dendritic cell activation. J Exp Med 198: 1277-1283.
- 92. Ebert S, Schoeberl T, Walczak Y, Stoecker K, Stempfl T, Moehle C, Weber BH, Langmann T (2008) Chondroitin sulfate disaccharide stimulates microglia to adopt a novel regulatory phenotype. J Leukoc Biol 84: 736-740.
- 93. Edwards AD, Manickasingham SP, Sporri R, Diebold SS, Schulz O, Sher A, Kaisho T, Akira S, Reis e Sousa (2002) Microbial recognition via Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent pathways determines the cytokine response of murine dendritic cell subsets to CD40 triggering. J Immunol 169: 3652-3660.
- 94. Engelhardt B (2006) Molecular mechanisms involved in T cell migration across the blood-brain barrier. J Neural Transm 113: 477-485.

- 95. Fahlen L, Read S, Gorelik L, Hurst SD, Coffman RL, Flavell RA, Powrie F (2005) T cells that cannot respond to TGF-beta escape control by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. J Exp Med 201: 737-746.
- 96. Fallarino F, Grohmann U, You S, McGrath BC, Cavener DR, Vacca C, Orabona C, Bianchi R, Belladonna ML, Volpi C, Fioretti MC, Puccetti P (2006) Tryptophan catabolism generates autoimmune-preventive regulatory T cells. Transpl Immunol 17: 58-60.
- 97. Farina C, Aloisi F, Meinl E (2007) Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity. Trends Immunol 28: 138-145.
- 98. Fife BT, Bluestone JA (2008) Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. Immunol Rev 224: 166-182.
- 99. Finkelman FD, Lees A, Birnbaum R, Gause WC, Morris SC (1996) Dendritic cells can present antigen in vivo in a tolerogenic or immunogenic fashion. J Immunol 157: 1406-1414.
- 100. Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Vieira P, Mosmann TR, Howard M, Moore KW, O'Garra A (1991) IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. J Immunol 146: 3444-3451.
- Fischer HG, Bonifas U, Reichmann G (2000) Phenotype and functions of brain dendritic cells emerging during chronic infection of mice with Toxoplasma gondii. J Immunol 164: 4826-4834.
- 102. Flohe SB, Bruggemann J, Lendemans S, Nikulina M, Meierhoff G, Flohe S, Kolb H (2003) Human heat shock protein 60 induces maturation of dendritic cells versus a Th1-promoting phenotype. J Immunol 170: 2340-2348.
- 103. Fontana A, Constam DB, Frei K, Malipiero U, Pfister HW (1992) Modulation of the immune response by transforming growth factor beta. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 99: 1-7.
- 104. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY (2003) Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 4: 330-336.
- 105. Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Williams LM, Dooley JL, Farr AG, Rudensky AY (2005) Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. Immunity 22: 329-341.
- 106. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, Fitz LJ, Malenkovich N, Okazaki T, Byrne MC, Horton HF, Fouser L, Carter L, Ling V, Bowman MR, Carreno BM, Collins M, Wood CR, Honjo T (2000) Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med 192: 1027-1034.

- 107. Frei K, Lins H, Schwerdel C, Fontana A (1994) Antigen presentation in the central nervous system. The inhibitory effect of IL-10 on MHC class II expression and production of cytokines depends on the inducing signals and the type of cell analyzed. J Immunol 152: 2720-2728.
- 108. Frei K, Malipiero UV, Leist TP, Zinkernagel RM, Schwab ME, Fontana A (1989) On the cellular source and function of interleukin 6 produced in the central nervous system in viral diseases. Eur J Immunol 19: 689-694.
- 109. Fujii S, Liu K, Smith C, Bonito AJ, Steinman RM (2004) The linkage of innate to adaptive immunity via maturing dendritic cells in vivo requires CD40 ligation in addition to antigen presentation and CD80/86 costimulation. J Exp Med 199: 1607-1618.
- 110. Gabrysova L, Christensen JR, Wu X, Kissenpfennig A, Malissen B, O'Garra A (2011) Integrated T-cell receptor and costimulatory signals determine TGF-betadependent differentiation and maintenance of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. Eur J Immunol 41: 1242-1248.
- 111. Gao AG, Lindberg FP, Dimitry JM, Brown EJ, Frazier WA (1996) Thrombospondin modulates alpha v beta 3 function through integrin-associated protein. J Cell Biol 135: 533-544.
- 112. Garcia-Nieto S, Johal RK, Shakesheff KM, Emara M, Royer PJ, Chau DY, Shakib F, Ghaemmaghami AM (2010) Laminin and fibronectin treatment leads to generation of dendritic cells with superior endocytic capacity. PLoS One 5: e10123.
- 113. Gehrmann J, Matsumoto Y, Kreutzberg GW (1995) Microglia: intrinsic immuneffector cell of the brain. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 20: 269-287.
- 114. Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang XP, Tato CM, McGeachy MJ, Konkel JE, Ramos HL, Wei L, Davidson TS, Bouladoux N, Grainger JR, Chen Q, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Sun HW, Eberl G, Shevach EM, Belkaid Y, Cua DJ, Chen W, O'Shea JJ (2010) Generation of pathogenic T(H)17 cells in the absence of TGF-beta signalling. Nature 467: 967-971.
- 115. Glezer I, Simard AR, Rivest S (2007) Neuroprotective role of the innate immune system by microglia. Neuroscience 147: 867-883.
- 116. Gondek DC, Lu LF, Quezada SA, Sakaguchi S, Noelle RJ (2005) Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism. J Immunol 174: 1783-1786.

- 117. Gonzalez P, Burgaya F, Acarin L, Peluffo H, Castellano B, Gonzalez B (2009) Interleukin-10 and interleukin-10 receptor-I are upregulated in glial cells after an excitotoxic injury to the postnatal rat brain. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 68: 391-403.
- 118. Gorelik L, Flavell RA (2002) Transforming growth factor-beta in T-cell biology. Nat Rev Immunol 2: 46-53.
- 119. Gran B, Zhang GX, Yu S, Li J, Chen XH, Ventura ES, Kamoun M, Rostami A (2002) IL-12p35-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination. J Immunol 169: 7104-7110.
- 120. Green JM, Noel PJ, Sperling AI, Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Stack R, Gray GS, Bluestone JA, Thompson CB (1995) T cell costimulation through the CD28 receptor. Proc Assoc Am Physicians 107: 41-46.
- 121. Grimbert P, Bouguermouh S, Baba N, Nakajima T, Allakhverdi Z, Braun D, Saito H, Rubio M, Delespesse G, Sarfati M (2006) Thrombospondin/CD47 interaction: a pathway to generate regulatory T cells from human CD4+. J Immunol 177: 3534-3541.
- 122. Gross JA, Callas E, Allison JP (1992) Identification and distribution of the costimulatory receptor CD28 in the mouse. J Immunol 149: 380-388.
- Gualde N, Harizi H (2004) Prostanoids and their receptors that modulate dendritic cell-mediated immunity. Immunol Cell Biol 82: 353-360.
- 124. Guermonprez P, Valladeau J, Zitvogel L, Thery C, Amigorena S (2002) Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 20: 621-667.
- 125. Guleria I, Gubbels BM, Dada S, Fife B, Tang Q, Ansari MJ, Trikudanathan S, Vadivel N, Fiorina P, Yagita H, Azuma M, Atkinson M, Bluestone JA, Sayegh MH (2007) Mechanisms of PDL1-mediated regulation of autoimmune diabetes. Clin Immunol 125: 16-25.
- 126. Guo F, Iclozan C, Suh WK, Anasetti C, Yu XZ (2008) CD28 controls differentiation of regulatory T cells from naive CD4 T cells. J Immunol 181: 2285-2291.
- 127. Hailer NP, Heppner FL, Haas D, Nitsch R (1998) Astrocytic factors deactivate antigen presenting cells that invade the central nervous system. Brain Pathol 8: 459-474.

- 129. Harizi H, Gualde N (2006) Pivotal role of PGE2 and IL-10 in the cross-regulation of dendritic cell-derived inflammatory mediators. Cell Mol Immunol 3: 271-277.
- 130. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6: 1123-1132.
- 131. Harrison JK, Jiang Y, Chen S, Xia Y, Maciejewski D, McNamara RK, Streit WJ, Salafranca MN, Adhikari S, Thompson DA, Botti P, Bacon KB, Feng L (1998) Role for neuronally derived fractalkine in mediating interactions between neurons and CX3CR1-expressing microglia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 10896-10901.
- 132. Hatori K, Nagai A, Heisel R, Ryu JK, Kim SU (2002) Fractalkine and fractalkine receptors in human neurons and glial cells. J Neurosci Res 69: 418-426.
- 133. Hauben E, Gothilf A, Cohen A, Butovsky O, Nevo U, Smirnov I, Yoles E, Akselrod S, Schwartz M (2003) Vaccination with dendritic cells pulsed with peptides of myelin basic protein promotes functional recovery from spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 23: 8808-8819.
- 134. Hawiger D, Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Ravetch JV, Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC (2001) Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. J Exp Med 194: 769-779.
- He F, Sun YE (2007) Glial cells more than support cells? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39: 661-665.
- 136. Hermans MH, Malissen B (1993) The cytoplasmic tail of the T cell receptor zeta chain is dispensable for antigen-mediated T cell activation. Eur J Immunol 23: 2257-2262.
- 137. Heyen JR, Ye S, Finck BN, Johnson RW (2000) Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits IL-6 production in microglia by preventing activation of NF-kappaB. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 77: 138-147.
- 138. Hickey WF (2001) Basic principles of immunological surveillance of the normal central nervous system. Glia 36: 118-124.
- 139. Ho IC, Tai TS, Pai SY (2009) GATA3 and the T-cell lineage: essential functions before and after T-helper-2-cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol 9: 125-135.
- 140. Hollander GA, Peterson P (2009) Learning to be tolerant: how T cells keep out of trouble. J Intern Med 265: 541-561.

142. Hopken UE, Lipp M (2004) All roads lead to Rome: triggering dendritic cell migration. Immunity 20: 244-246.

signal that cannot be substituted by IL-2. J Immunol 179: 7924-7931.

- 143. Hsieh CS, Macatonia SE, Tripp CS, Wolf SF, O'Garra A, Murphy KM (1993) Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. Science 260: 547-549.
- 144. Hu S, Chao CC, Ehrlich LC, Sheng WS, Sutton RL, Rockswold GL, Peterson PK (1999) Inhibition of microglial cell RANTES production by IL-10 and TGF-beta. J Leukoc Biol 65: 815-821.
- 145. Huang H, Dawicki W, Zhang X, Town J, Gordon JR (2010) Tolerogenic dendritic cells induce CD4+CD25hiFoxp3+ regulatory T cell differentiation from CD4+CD25-/loFoxp3- effector T cells. J Immunol 185: 5003-5010.
- 146. Hussain SF, Yang D, Suki D, Aldape K, Grimm E, Heimberger AB (2006) The role of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages in mediating antitumor immune responses. Neuro Oncol 8: 261-279.
- 147. Ifergan I, Kebir H, Bernard M, Wosik K, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Arbour N, Prat A (2008) The blood-brain barrier induces differentiation of migrating monocytes into Th17-polarizing dendritic cells. Brain 131: 785-799.
- Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T (2000) Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol 165: 6107-6115.
- 149. Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 126: 1121-1133.
- 150. Jaworski T, Lechat B, Demedts D, Gielis L, Devijver H, Borghgraef P, Duimel H, Verheyen F, Kugler S, Van Leuven F (2011) Dendritic degeneration, neurovascular defects, and inflammation precede neuronal loss in a mouse model for tau-mediated neurodegeneration. Am J Pathol 179: 2001-2015.
- 151. Jin Y, Fuller L, Esquenazi V, Blomberg BB, Burke GW, III, Ciancio G, Tzakis AG, Ricordi C, Miller J (2007) Induction of auto-reactive regulatory T cells by stimulation with immature autologous dendritic cells. Immunol Invest 36: 213-232.

- 152. Johann S, Kampmann E, Denecke B, Arnold S, Kipp M, Mey J, Beyer C (2008) Expression of enzymes involved in the prostanoid metabolism by cortical astrocytes after LPS-induced inflammation. J Mol Neurosci 34: 177-185.
- 153. Jonuleit H, Schmitt E, Steinbrink K, Enk AH (2001) Dendritic cells as a tool to induce anergic and regulatory T cells. Trends Immunol 22: 394-400.
- 154. Jordan MS, Boesteanu A, Reed AJ, Petrone AL, Holenbeck AE, Lerman MA, Naji A, Caton AJ (2001) Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. Nat Immunol 2: 301-306.
- 155. Jung S, Aliberti J, Graemmel P, Sunshine MJ, Kreutzberg GW, Sher A, Littman DR (2000) Analysis of fractalkine receptor CX(3)CR1 function by targeted deletion and green fluorescent protein reporter gene insertion. Mol Cell Biol 20: 4106-4114.
- 156. Kabashima K, Sakata D, Nagamachi M, Miyachi Y, Inaba K, Narumiya S (2003) Prostaglandin E2-EP4 signaling initiates skin immune responses by promoting migration and maturation of Langerhans cells. Nat Med 9: 744-749.
- 157. Kaisho T, Akira S (2003) Regulation of dendritic cell function through toll-like receptors. Curr Mol Med 3: 759-771.
- 158. Kaisho T, Akira S (2006) Toll-like receptor function and signaling. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117: 979-987.
- 159. Kano S, Sato K, Morishita Y, Vollstedt S, Kim S, Bishop K, Honda K, Kubo M, Taniguchi T (2008) The contribution of transcription factor IRF1 to the interferon-gamma-interleukin 12 signaling axis and TH1 versus TH-17 differentiation of CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol 9: 34-41.
- 160. Katoh-Semba R, Matsuda M, Kato K, Oohira A (1995) Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans in the rat brain: candidates for axon barriers of sensory neurons and the possible modification by laminin of their actions. Eur J Neurosci 7: 613-621.
- 161. Kaur C, Hao AJ, Wu CH, Ling EA (2001) Origin of microglia. Microsc Res Tech 54: 2-9.
- 162. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, Giuliani F, Arbour N, Becher B, Prat A (2007) Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nat Med 13: 1173-1175.
- 163. Khader SA, Bell GK, Pearl JE, Fountain JJ, Rangel-Moreno J, Cilley GE, Shen F, Eaton SM, Gaffen SL, Swain SL, Locksley RM, Haynes L, Randall TD, Cooper AM (2007) IL-23 and IL-17 in the establishment of protective pulmonary CD4+ T cell responses after vaccination and during Mycobacterium tuberculosis challenge. Nat Immunol 8: 369-377.

- 164. Kim WK, Ganea D, Jonakait GM (2002) Inhibition of microglial CD40 expression by pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide is mediated by interleukin-10. J Neuroimmunol 126: 16-24.
- 165. Kim WK, Hwang SY, Oh ES, Piao HZ, Kim KW, Han IO (2004) TGF-beta1 represses activation and resultant death of microglia via inhibition of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. J Immunol 172: 7015-7023.
- Kim YJ, Hwang SY, Han IO (2006) Insoluble matrix components of glioma cells suppress LPS-mediated iNOS/NO induction in microglia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 347: 731-738.
- 167. Kleinman HK, Martin GR (2005) Matrigel: Basement membrane matrix with biological activity. Seminars in Cancer Biology 15: 378-386.
- 168. Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2006) IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 177: 566-573.
- 169. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2007) IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature 448: 484-487.
- 170. Kostianovsky AM, Maier LM, Anderson RC, Bruce JN, Anderson DE (2008) Astrocytic regulation of human monocytic/microglial activation. J Immunol 181: 5425-5432.
- 171. Kostulas N, Li HL, Xiao BG, Huang YM, Kostulas V, Link H (2002) Dendritic cells are present in ischemic brain after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. Stroke 33: 1129-1134.
- 172. Krakowski M, Owens T (1996) Interferon-gamma confers resistance to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol 26: 1641-1646.
- 173. Kreutzberg GW (1995) Microglia, the first line of defence in brain pathologies. Arzneimittelforschung 45: 357-360.
- 174. Kreutzberg GW (1996) Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. Trends Neurosci 19: 312-318.
- 175. Krispin A, Bledi Y, Atallah M, Trahtemberg U, Verbovetski I, Nahari E, Zelig O, Linial M, Mevorach D (2006) Apoptotic cell thrombospondin-1 and heparinbinding domain lead to dendritic-cell phagocytic and tolerizing states. Blood 108: 3580-3589.
- 176. Kwidzinski E, Bunse J, Aktas O, Richter D, Mutlu L, Zipp F, Nitsch R, Bechmann I (2005) Indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase is expressed in the CNS and down-regulates autoimmune inflammation. FASEB J 19: 1347-1349.

- 177. Lafferty KJ, Woolnough J (1977) The origin and mechanism of the allograft reaction. Immunol Rev 35: 231-262.
- 178. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 201: 233-240.
- 179. Lanz TV, Ding Z, Ho PP, Luo J, Agrawal AN, Srinagesh H, Axtell R, Zhang H, Platten M, Wyss-Coray T, Steinman L (2010) Angiotensin II sustains brain inflammation in mice via TGF-beta. J Clin Invest 120: 2782-2794.
- 180. Laouar Y, Town T, Jeng D, Tran E, Wan Y, Kuchroo VK, Flavell RA (2008) TGF-beta signaling in dendritic cells is a prerequisite for the control of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 10865-10870.
- 181. Latchman YE, Liang SC, Wu Y, Chernova T, Sobel RA, Klemm M, Kuchroo VK, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH (2004) PD-L1-deficient mice show that PD-L1 on T cells, antigen-presenting cells, and host tissues negatively regulates T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 10691-10696.
- 182. Ledeboer A, Breve JJ, Poole S, Tilders FJ, Van Dam AM (2000) Interleukin-10, interleukin-4, and transforming growth factor-beta differentially regulate lipopolysaccharide-induced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide in co-cultures of rat astroglial and microglial cells. Glia 30: 134-142.
- 183. Ledeboer A, Breve JJ, Wierinckx A, van der JS, Bristow AF, Leysen JE, Tilders FJ, Van Dam AM (2002) Expression and regulation of interleukin-10 and interleukin-10 receptor in rat astroglial and microglial cells. Eur J Neurosci 16: 1175-1185.
- 184. Lee GK, Park HJ, Macleod M, Chandler P, Munn DH, Mellor AL (2002a) Tryptophan deprivation sensitizes activated T cells to apoptosis prior to cell division. Immunology 107: 452-460.
- 185. Lee JJ, Takei M, Hori S, Inoue Y, Harada Y, Tanosaki R, Kanda Y, Kami M, Makimoto A, Mineishi S, Kawai H, Shimosaka A, Heike Y, Ikarashi Y, Wakasugi H, Takaue Y, Hwang TJ, Kim HJ, Kakizoe T (2002b) The role of PGE(2) in the differentiation of dendritic cells: how do dendritic cells influence T-cell polarization and chemokine receptor expression? Stem Cells 20: 448-459.
- 186. Lees JR, Archambault AS, Russell JH (2006) T-cell trafficking competence is required for CNS invasion. J Neuroimmunol 177: 1-10.
- 187. Leitner J, Klauser C, Pickl WF, Stockl J, Majdic O, Bardet AF, Kreil DP, Dong C, Yamazaki T, Zlabinger G, Pfistershammer K, Steinberger P (2009) B7-H3 is a potent inhibitor of human T-cell activation: No evidence for B7-H3 and TREML2 interaction. Eur J Immunol 39: 1754-1764.

- Levi G, Minghetti L, Aloisi F (1998) Regulation of prostanoid synthesis in microglial cells and effects of prostaglandin E2 on microglial functions. Biochimie 80: 899-904.
- 189. Li MO, Flavell RA (2008) TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. Cell 134: 392-404.
- 190. Li MO, Wan YY, Sanjabi S, Robertson AK, Flavell RA (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 24: 99-146.
- 191. Licona-Limon P, Soldevila G (2007) The role of TGF-beta superfamily during T cell development: new insights. Immunol Lett 109: 1-12.
- 192. Lighvani AA, Frucht DM, Jankovic D, Yamane H, Aliberti J, Hissong BD, Nguyen BV, Gadina M, Sher A, Paul WE, O'Shea JJ (2001) T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 15137-15142.
- 193. Ling EA, Ng YK, Wu CH, Kaur C (2001) Microglia: its development and role as a neuropathology sensor. Prog Brain Res 132: 61-79.
- 194. Liu K, Iyoda T, Saternus M, Kimura Y, Inaba K, Steinman RM (2002) Immune tolerance after delivery of dying cells to dendritic cells in situ. J Exp Med 196: 1091-1097.
- 195. Liu M, Zhao J, Liang H, Bian X (2009) Vaccination with dendritic cells pulsed with homogenate protein of spinal cord promotes functional recovery from spinal cord injury in mice. Spinal Cord 47: 360-366.
- 196. Liu X, Zhan Z, Li D, Xu L, Ma F, Zhang P, Yao H, Cao X (2011) Intracellular MHC class II molecules promote TLR-triggered innate immune responses by maintaining activation of the kinase Btk. Nat Immunol 12: 416-424.
- 197. Lodge PA, Sriram S (1996) Regulation of microglial activation by TGF-beta, IL-10, and CSF-1. J Leukoc Biol 60: 502-508.
- 198. Logan A, Frautschy SA, Gonzalez AM, Sporn MB, Baird A (1992) Enhanced expression of transforming growth factor beta 1 in the rat brain after a localized cerebral injury. Brain Res 587: 216-225.
- 199. Lotze MT, Deisseroth A, Rubartelli A (2007a) Damage associated molecular pattern molecules. Clin Immunol 124: 1-4.
- 200. Lotze MT, Zeh HJ, Rubartelli A, Sparvero LJ, Amoscato AA, Washburn NR, Devera ME, Liang X, Tor M, Billiar T (2007b) The grateful dead: damageassociated molecular pattern molecules and reduction/oxidation regulate immunity. Immunol Rev 220: 60-81.

- 201. Lubetzki C, Williams A, Stankoff B (2005) Promoting repair in multiple sclerosis: problems and prospects. Curr Opin Neurol 18: 237-244.
- Lucas PJ, Negishi I, Nakayama K, Fields LE, Loh DY (1995) Naive CD28deficient T cells can initiate but not sustain an in vitro antigen-specific immune response. J Immunol 154: 5757-5768.
- 203. Lugo-Villarino G, Maldonado-Lopez R, Possemato R, Penaranda C, Glimcher LH (2003) T-bet is required for optimal production of IFN-gamma and antigenspecific T cell activation by dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 7749-7754.
- 204. Lutz MB, Schuler G (2002) Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? Trends Immunol 23: 445-449.
- 205. Maes W, Rosas GG, Verbinnen B, Boon L, De Vleeschouwer S, Ceuppens JL, van Gool SW (2009) DC vaccination with anti-CD25 treatment leads to long-term immunity against experimental glioma. Neuro Oncol 11: 529-542.
- 206. Mahnke K, Schmitt E, Bonifaz L, Enk AH, Jonuleit H (2002) Immature, but not inactive: the tolerogenic function of immature dendritic cells. Immunol Cell Biol 80: 477-483.
- 207. Malipiero UV, Frei K, Fontana A (1990) Production of hemopoietic colonystimulating factors by astrocytes. J Immunol 144: 3816-3821.
- 208. Manetti R, Parronchi P, Giudizi MG, Piccinni MP, Maggi E, Trinchieri G, Romagnani S (1993) Natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin 12 [IL-12]) induces T helper type 1 (Th1)-specific immune responses and inhibits the development of IL-4-producing Th cells. J Exp Med 177: 1199-1204.
- 209. Manfredi AA, Capobianco A, Bianchi ME, Rovere-Querini P (2009) Regulation of dendritic- and T-cell fate by injury-associated endogenous signals. Crit Rev Immunol 29: 69-86.
- 210. Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Wahl SM, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 441: 231-234.
- 211. Manicassamy S, Reizis B, Ravindran R, Nakaya H, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Wang YC, Pulendran B (2010) Activation of beta-catenin in dendritic cells regulates immunity versus tolerance in the intestine. Science 329: 849-853.
- 212. Maresz K, Pryce G, Ponomarev ED, Marsicano G, Croxford JL, Shriver LP, Ledent C, Cheng X, Carrier EJ, Mann MK, Giovannoni G, Pertwee RG, Yamamura T, Buckley NE, Hillard CJ, Lutz B, Baker D, Dittel BN (2007) Direct suppression of CNS autoimmune inflammation via the cannabinoid receptor CB1 on neurons and CB2 on autoreactive T cells. Nat Med 13: 492-497.
- 213. MartIn-Fontecha A, Sebastiani S, Hopken UE, Uguccioni M, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2003) Regulation of dendritic cell migration to the draining lymph node: impact on T lymphocyte traffic and priming. J Exp Med 198: 615-621.
- 214. Masuda ES, Imamura R, Amasaki Y, Arai K, Arai N (1998) Signalling into the Tcell nucleus: NFAT regulation. Cell Signal 10: 599-611.
- 215. Matyszak MK, Denis-Donini S, Citterio S, Longhi R, Granucci F, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P (1999) Microglia induce myelin basic protein-specific T cell anergy or T cell activation, according to their state of activation. Eur J Immunol 29: 3063-3076.
- 216. Matzinger P (2002) The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science 296: 301-305.
- 217. McColl SR (2002) Chemokines and dendritic cells: a crucial alliance. Immunol Cell Biol 80: 489-496.
- 218. McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Cua DJ (2007) TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T(H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. Nat Immunol 8: 1390-1397.
- 219. McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan TK, O'Shea JJ, Cua DJ (2009) The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. Nat Immunol 10: 314-324.
- 220. McMahon EJ, Bailey SL, Castenada CV, Waldner H, Miller SD (2005) Epitope spreading initiates in the CNS in two mouse models of multiple sclerosis. Nat Med 11: 335-339.
- McQuaid S, Cunnea P, McMahon J, Fitzgerald U (2009) The effects of bloodbrain barrier disruption on glial cell function in multiple sclerosis. Biochem Soc Trans 37: 329-331.
- 222. Medzhitov R (2001) Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 1: 135-145.
- 223. Medzhitov R, Janeway C, Jr. (2000a) Innate immune recognition: mechanisms and pathways. Immunol Rev 173: 89-97.
- 224. Medzhitov R, Janeway C, Jr. (2000b) The Toll receptor family and microbial recognition. Trends Microbiol 8: 452-456.

- 225. Meinl E, Aloisi F, Ertl B, Weber F, de Waal MR, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R (1994) Multiple sclerosis. Immunomodulatory effects of human astrocytes on T cells. Brain 117 (Pt 6): 1323-1332.
- 226. Mellman I, Steinman RM (2001) Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. Cell 106: 255-258.
- 227. Mellman I, Turley SJ, Steinman RM (1998) Antigen processing for amateurs and professionals. Trends Cell Biol 8: 231-237.
- 228. Meloni F, Accapezzato D, Agresti C, Aloisi F, Ristori G, Salvetti M, Furlan R, Martino G, Barnaba V, Paroli M (2008) Dendritic cells loaded with apoptotic oligodendrocytes as a source of myelin T-cell epitopes in multiple sclerosis. Clin Immunol 129: 286-294.
- 229. Mikami Y, Okano H, Sakaguchi M, Nakamura M, Shimazaki T, Okano HJ, Kawakami Y, Toyama Y, Toda M (2004) Implantation of dendritic cells in injured adult spinal cord results in activation of endogenous neural stem/progenitor cells leading to de novo neurogenesis and functional recovery. J Neurosci Res 76: 453-465.
- 230. Miller SI, Ernst RK, Bader MW (2005) LPS, TLR4 and infectious disease diversity. Nat Rev Microbiol 3: 36-46.
- 231. Min HY, Song SH, Lee B, Kim S, Lee SK (2010) Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production by antofine and its analogues in RAW 264.7 macrophage cells. Chem Biodivers 7: 409-414.
- 232. Minghetti L, Levi G (1998) Microglia as effector cells in brain damage and repair: focus on prostanoids and nitric oxide. Prog Neurobiol 54: 99-125.
- 233. Minghetti L, Polazzi E, Nicolini A, Levi G (1998) Opposite regulation of prostaglandin E2 synthesis by transforming growth factor-beta1 and interleukin 10 in activated microglial cultures. J Neuroimmunol 82: 31-39.
- 234. Mittal R, Gonzalez-Gomez I, Prasadarao NV (2010) Escherichia coli K1 promotes the ligation of CD47 with thrombospondin-1 to prevent the maturation of dendritic cells in the pathogenesis of neonatal meningitis. J Immunol 185: 2998-3006.
- 235. Mizuno T, Kawanokuchi J, Numata K, Suzumura A (2003) Production and neuroprotective functions of fractalkine in the central nervous system. Brain Res 979: 65-70.
- 236. Mizuno T, Sawada M, Marunouchi T, Suzumura A (1994a) Production of interleukin-10 by mouse glial cells in culture. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 205: 1907-1915.

- 237. Mizuno T, Sawada M, Suzumura A, Marunouchi T (1994b) Expression of cytokines during glial differentiation. Brain Res 656: 141-146.
- 238. Molinero LL, Miller ML, Evaristo C, Alegre ML (2011) High TCR stimuli prevent induced regulatory T cell differentiation in a NF-kappaB-dependent manner. J Immunol 186: 4609-4617.
- 239. Moore KW, de Waal MR, Coffman RL, O'Garra A (2001) Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 19: 683-765.
- 240. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (1986) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136: 2348-2357.
- 241. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (2005) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. 1986. J Immunol 175: 5-14.
- 242. Mosser DM, Zhang X (2008) Interleukin-10: new perspectives on an old cytokine. Immunol Rev 226: 205-218.
- 243. Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ (2003) Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 198: 1951-1957.
- 244. Murphy KM, Heimberger AB, Loh DY (1990) Induction by antigen of intrathymic apoptosis of CD4+CD8+TCRlo thymocytes in vivo. Science 250: 1720-1723.
- 245. Murphy KM, Murphy TL, Szabo SJ, Jacobson NG, Guler ML, Gorham JD, Gubler U (1997) Regulation of IL-12 receptor expression in early T-helper responses implies two phases of Th1 differentiation: capacitance and development. Chem Immunol 68: 54-69.
- 246. Murphy KM, Reiner SL (2002) The lineage decisions of helper T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2: 933-944.
- 247. Nakamura Y (2002) Regulating factors for microglial activation. Biol Pharm Bull 25: 945-953.
- 248. Needleman P, Turk J, Jakschik BA, Morrison AR, Lefkowith JB (1986) Arachidonic acid metabolism. Annu Rev Biochem 55: 69-102.
- 249. Niedbala W, Wei XQ, Cai B, Hueber AJ, Leung BP, McInnes IB, Liew FY (2007) IL-35 is a novel cytokine with therapeutic effects against collagen-induced arthritis through the expansion of regulatory T cells and suppression of Th17 cells. Eur J Immunol 37: 3021-3029.

- Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F (2005) Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. Science 308: 1314-1318.
- 251. Nishikomori R, Usui T, Wu CY, Morinobu A, O'Shea JJ, Strober W (2002) Activated STAT4 has an essential role in Th1 differentiation and proliferation that is independent of its role in the maintenance of IL-12R beta 2 chain expression and signaling. J Immunol 169: 4388-4398.
- 252. Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, Sasayama S, Mizoguchi A, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T (2001) Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science 291: 319-322.
- 253. O'Connell RM, Kahn D, Gibson WS, Round JL, Scholz RL, Chaudhuri AA, Kahn ME, Rao DS, Baltimore D (2010) MicroRNA-155 promotes autoimmune inflammation by enhancing inflammatory T cell development. Immunity 33: 607-619.
- 254. O'Garra A, Murphy KM (2009) From IL-10 to IL-12: how pathogens and their products stimulate APCs to induce T(H)1 development. Nat Immunol 10: 929-932.
- 255. O'Keefe GM, Nguyen VT, Benveniste EN (1999) Class II transactivator and class II MHC gene expression in microglia: modulation by the cytokines TGF-beta, IL-4, IL-13 and IL-10. Eur J Immunol 29: 1275-1285.
- 256. O'Neill LA (2008) The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: 10 years of progress. Immunol Rev 226: 10-18.
- 257. Ohno K, Suzumura A, Sawada M, Marunouchi T (1990) Production of granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor by cultured astrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 169: 719-724.
- 258. Olson JK, Miller SD (2004) Microglia initiate central nervous system innate and adaptive immune responses through multiple TLRs. J Immunol 173: 3916-3924.
- 259. Oppmann B, Lesley R, Blom B, Timans JC, Xu Y, Hunte B, Vega F, Yu N, Wang J, Singh K, Zonin F, Vaisberg E, Churakova T, Liu M, Gorman D, Wagner J, Zurawski S, Liu Y, Abrams JS, Moore KW, Rennick D, Waal-Malefyt R, Hannum C, Bazan JF, Kastelein RA (2000) Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. Immunity 13: 715-725.
- 260. Pacholczyk R, Kraj P, Ignatowicz L (2002) Peptide specificity of thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol 168: 613-620.

- 262. Pai SY, Truitt ML, Ho IC (2004) GATA-3 deficiency abrogates the development and maintenance of T helper type 2 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 1993-1998.
- 263. Palucka K, Banchereau J (1999a) Dendritic cells: a link between innate and adaptive immunity. J Clin Immunol 19: 12-25.
- 264. Palucka K, Banchereau J (1999b) Linking innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Med 5: 868-870.
- 265. Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ (2007) CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol 8: 1353-1362.
- 266. Pashenkov M, Teleshova N, Kouwenhoven M, Smirnova T, Jin YP, Kostulas V, Huang YM, Pinegin B, Boiko A, Link H (2002) Recruitment of dendritic cells to the cerebrospinal fluid in bacterial neuroinfections. J Neuroimmunol 122: 106-116.
- 267. Pazmany T, Kosa JP, Tomasi TB, Mechtler L, Turoczi A, Lehotzky A (2000) Effect of transforming growth factor-beta1 on microglial MHC class II expression. J Neuroimmunol 103: 122-130.
- Pellegatta S, Poliani PL, Stucchi E, Corno D, Colombo CA, Orzan F, Ravanini M, Finocchiaro G (2010) Intra-tumoral dendritic cells increase efficacy of peripheral vaccination by modulation of glioma microenvironment. Neuro Oncol 12: 377-388.
- Pierre P, Turley SJ, Gatti E, Hull M, Meltzer J, Mirza A, Inaba K, Steinman RM, Mellman I (1997) Developmental regulation of MHC class II transport in mouse dendritic cells. Nature 388: 787-792.
- Pittet CL, Newcombe J, Antel JP, Arbour N (2011) The majority of infiltrating CD8 T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis lesions is insensitive to enhanced PD-L1 levels on CNS cells. Glia 59: 841-856.
- 271. Pletinckx K, Dohler A, Pavlovic V, Lutz MB (2011) Role of dendritic cell maturity/costimulation for generation, homeostasis, and suppressive activity of regulatory T cells. Front Immunol 2: 39.
- 272. Ponomarev ED, Shriver LP, Dittel BN (2006) CD40 expression by microglial cells is required for their completion of a two-step activation process during central nervous system autoimmune inflammation. J Immunol 176: 1402-1410.

- 273. Ponomarev ED, Shriver LP, Maresz K, Dittel BN (2005) Microglial cell activation and proliferation precedes the onset of CNS autoimmunity. J Neurosci Res 81: 374-389.
- 274. Ponomarev ED, Shriver LP, Maresz K, Pedras-Vasconcelos J, Verthelyi D, Dittel BN (2007) GM-CSF production by autoreactive T cells is required for the activation of microglial cells and the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 178: 39-48.
- 275. Ponomarev ED, Veremeyko T, Barteneva N, Krichevsky AM, Weiner HL (2011) MicroRNA-124 promotes microglia quiescence and suppresses EAE by deactivating macrophages via the C/EBP-alpha-PU.1 pathway. Nat Med 17: 64-70.
- 276. Prasad DV, Nguyen T, Li Z, Yang Y, Duong J, Wang Y, Dong C (2004) Murine B7-H3 is a negative regulator of T cells. J Immunol 173: 2500-2506.
- 277. Presky DH, Yang H, Minetti LJ, Chua AO, Nabavi N, Wu CY, Gately MK, Gubler U (1996) A functional interleukin 12 receptor complex is composed of two beta-type cytokine receptor subunits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 14002-14007.
- 278. Punt JA, Osborne BA, Takahama Y, Sharrow SO, Singer A (1994) Negative selection of CD4+CD8+ thymocytes by T cell receptor-induced apoptosis requires a costimulatory signal that can be provided by CD28. J Exp Med 179: 709-713.
- 279. Qin H, Roberts KL, Niyongere SA, Cong Y, Elson CO, Benveniste EN (2007) Molecular mechanism of lipopolysaccharide-induced SOCS-3 gene expression in macrophages and microglia. J Immunol 179: 5966-5976.
- 280. Qin H, Wang L, Feng T, Elson CO, Niyongere SA, Lee SJ, Reynolds SL, Weaver CT, Roarty K, Serra R, Benveniste EN, Cong Y (2009) TGF-beta promotes Th17 cell development through inhibition of SOCS3. J Immunol 183: 97-105.
- 281. Qin H, Wilson CA, Roberts KL, Baker BJ, Zhao X, Benveniste EN (2006) IL-10 inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced CD40 gene expression through induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling-3. J Immunol 177: 7761-7771.
- 282. Quezada SA, Jarvinen LZ, Lind EF, Noelle RJ (2004) CD40/CD154 interactions at the interface of tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 22: 307-328.
- 283. Raivich G, Gehrmann J, Moreno-Floros M, Kreutzberg GW (1993) Microglia: growth factor and mitogen receptors. Clin Neuropathol 12: 293-295.
- 284. Ramos MV, Fernandez GC, Brando RJ, Panek CA, Bentancor LV, Landoni VI, Isturiz MA, Palermo MS (2010) Interleukin-10 and interferon-gamma modulate surface expression of fractalkine-receptor (CX(3)CR1) via PI3K in monocytes. Immunology 129: 600-609.

- 285. Randolph GJ, Angeli V, Swartz MA (2005) Dendritic-cell trafficking to lymph nodes through lymphatic vessels. Nat Rev Immunol 5: 617-628.
- 286. Ransohoff RM, Liu L, Cardona AE (2007) Chemokines and chemokine receptors: multipurpose players in neuroinflammation. Int Rev Neurobiol 82: 187-204.
- Rao A, Avni O (2000) Molecular aspects of T-cell differentiation. Br Med Bull 56: 969-984.
- 288. Re F, Belyanskaya SL, Riese RJ, Cipriani B, Fischer FR, Granucci F, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Brosnan C, Stern LJ, Strominger JL, Santambrogio L (2002) Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor induces an expression program in neonatal microglia that primes them for antigen presentation. J Immunol 169: 2264-2273.
- 289. Read S, Malmstrom V, Powrie F (2000) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med 192: 295-302.
- 290. Rebenko-Moll NM, Liu L, Cardona A, Ransohoff RM (2006) Chemokines, mononuclear cells and the nervous system: heaven (or hell) is in the details. Curr Opin Immunol 18: 683-689.
- 291. Rezaie P, Male D (2002) Mesoglia & microglia--a historical review of the concept of mononuclear phagocytes within the central nervous system. J Hist Neurosci 11: 325-374.
- 292. Rock RB, Gekker G, Hu S, Sheng WS, Cheeran M, Lokensgard JR, Peterson PK (2004) Role of microglia in central nervous system infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 17: 942-64, table.
- 293. Rolls A, Avidan H, Cahalon L, Schori H, Bakalash S, Litvak V, Lev S, Lider O, Schwartz M (2004) A disaccharide derived from chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan promotes central nervous system repair in rats and mice. Eur J Neurosci 20: 1973-1983.
- 294. Roncarolo MG, Levings MK, Traversari C (2001) Differentiation of T regulatory cells by immature dendritic cells. J Exp Med 193: F5-F9.
- 295. Rossi DL, Hardiman G, Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Jenkins N, Zlotnik A, Bazan JF (1998) Cloning and characterization of a new type of mouse chemokine. Genomics 47: 163-170.
- 296. Rudner XL, Happel KI, Young EA, Shellito JE (2007) Interleukin-23 (IL-23)-IL-17 cytokine axis in murine Pneumocystis carinii infection. Infect Immun 75: 3055-3061.

- 297. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M (1995) Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 155: 1151-1164.
- 298. Sakaguchi S, Toda M, Asano M, Itoh M, Morse SS, Sakaguchi N (1996) T cellmediated maintenance of natural self-tolerance: its breakdown as a possible cause of various autoimmune diseases. J Autoimmun 9: 211-220.
- 299. Sallusto F, Schaerli P, Loetscher P, Schaniel C, Lenig D, Mackay CR, Qin S, Lanzavecchia A (1998) Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. Eur J Immunol 28: 2760-2769.
- 300. Salomon B, Lenschow DJ, Rhee L, Ashourian N, Singh B, Sharpe A, Bluestone JA (2000) B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. Immunity 12: 431-440.
- 301. Sandner SE, Clarkson MR, Salama AD, Sanchez-Fueyo A, Domenig C, Habicht A, Najafian N, Yagita H, Azuma M, Turka LA, Sayegh MH (2005) Role of the programmed death-1 pathway in regulation of alloimmune responses in vivo. J Immunol 174: 3408-3415.
- 302. Sauter B, Albert ML, Francisco L, Larsson M, Somersan S, Bhardwaj N (2000) Consequences of cell death: exposure to necrotic tumor cells, but not primary tissue cells or apoptotic cells, induces the maturation of immunostimulatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med 191: 423-434.
- Sawada M, Kondo N, Suzumura A, Marunouchi T (1989) Production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha by microglia and astrocytes in culture. Brain Res 491: 394-397.
- 304. Sawada M, Suzumura A, Hosoya H, Marunouchi T, Nagatsu T (1999) Interleukin-10 inhibits both production of cytokines and expression of cytokine receptors in microglia. J Neurochem 72: 1466-1471.
- 305. Sawada M, Suzumura A, Marunouchi T (1992) TNF alpha induces IL-6 production by astrocytes but not by microglia. Brain Res 583: 296-299.
- 306. Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME (2002) Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature 418: 191-195.
- 307. Schmid CD, Melchior B, Masek K, Puntambekar SS, Danielson PE, Lo DD, Sutcliffe JG, Carson MJ (2009) Differential gene expression in LPS/IFNgamma activated microglia and macrophages: in vitro versus in vivo. J Neurochem 109 Suppl 1: 117-125.

- 308. Scott P, Natovitz P, Coffman RL, Pearce E, Sher A (1988) Immunoregulation of cutaneous leishmaniasis. T cell lines that transfer protective immunity or exacerbation belong to different T helper subsets and respond to distinct parasite antigens. J Exp Med 168: 1675-1684.
- 309. Sender LY, Gibbert K, Suezer Y, Radeke HH, Kalinke U, Waibler Z (2010) CD40 ligand-triggered human dendritic cells mount interleukin-23 responses that are further enhanced by danger signals. Mol Immunol 47: 1255-1261.
- 310. Serot JM, Foliguet B, Bene MC, Faure GC (1997) Ultrastructural and immunohistological evidence for dendritic-like cells within human choroid plexus epithelium. Neuroreport 8: 1995-1998.
- 311. Sheibanie AF, Yen JH, Khayrullina T, Emig F, Zhang M, Tuma R, Ganea D (2007) The proinflammatory effect of prostaglandin E2 in experimental inflammatory bowel disease is mediated through the IL-23-->IL-17 axis. J Immunol 178: 8138-8147.
- 312. Sher A, Coffman RL (1992) Regulation of immunity to parasites by T cells and T cell-derived cytokines. Annu Rev Immunol 10: 385-409.
- 313. Sher A, Coffman RL, Hieny S, Cheever AW (1990) Ablation of eosinophil and IgE responses with anti-IL-5 or anti-IL-4 antibodies fails to affect immunity against Schistosoma mansoni in the mouse. J Immunol 145: 3911-3916.
- 314. Shrikant P, Benveniste EN (1996) The central nervous system as an immunocompetent organ: role of glial cells in antigen presentation. J Immunol 157: 1819-1822.
- 315. Simard AR, Rivest S (2004) Bone marrow stem cells have the ability to populate the entire central nervous system into fully differentiated parenchymal microglia. FASEB J 18: 998-1000.
- 316. Singh-Jasuja H, Hilf N, Scherer HU, Arnold-Schild D, Rammensee HG, Toes RE, Schild H (2000a) The heat shock protein gp96: a receptor-targeted cross-priming carrier and activator of dendritic cells. Cell Stress Chaperones 5: 462-470.
- 317. Singh-Jasuja H, Scherer HU, Hilf N, Arnold-Schild D, Rammensee HG, Toes RE, Schild H (2000b) The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. Eur J Immunol 30: 2211-2215.
- 318. Slepko N, Minghetti L, Polazzi E, Nicolini A, Levi G (1997) Reorientation of prostanoid production accompanies "activation" of adult microglial cells in culture. J Neurosci Res 49: 292-300.

- 319. Sozzani S, Allavena P, D'Amico G, Luini W, Bianchi G, Kataura M, Imai T, Yoshie O, Bonecchi R, Mantovani A (1998) Differential regulation of chemokine receptors during dendritic cell maturation: a model for their trafficking properties. J Immunol 161: 1083-1086.
- 320. Starr TK, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA (2003) Positive and negative selection of T cells. Annu Rev Immunol 21: 139-176.
- 321. Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC (2003) Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 21: 685-711.
- 322. Steinman RM, Inaba K, Turley S, Pierre P, Mellman I (1999) Antigen capture, processing, and presentation by dendritic cells: recent cell biological studies. Hum Immunol 60: 562-567.
- 323. Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC (2002) Avoiding horror autotoxicus: the importance of dendritic cells in peripheral T cell tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 351-358.
- 324. Steinman RM, Turley S, Mellman I, Inaba K (2000) The induction of tolerance by dendritic cells that have captured apoptotic cells. J Exp Med 191: 411-416.
- 325. Stockinger B, Veldhoen M, Martin B (2007) Th17 T cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. Semin Immunol 19: 353-361.
- 326. Stoll G, Jander S (1999) The role of microglia and macrophages in the pathophysiology of the CNS. Prog Neurobiol 58: 233-247.
- 327. Streit WJ, Graeber MB, Kreutzberg GW (1988) Functional plasticity of microglia: a review. Glia 1: 301-307.
- 328. Streit WJ, Walter SA, Pennell NA (1999) Reactive microgliosis. Prog Neurobiol 57: 563-581.
- 329. Suh WK, Gajewska BU, Okada H, Gronski MA, Bertram EM, Dawicki W, Duncan GS, Bukczynski J, Plyte S, Elia A, Wakeham A, Itie A, Chung S, Da Costa J, Arya S, Horan T, Campbell P, Gaida K, Ohashi PS, Watts TH, Yoshinaga SK, Bray MR, Jordana M, Mak TW (2003) The B7 family member B7-H3 preferentially down-regulates T helper type 1-mediated immune responses. Nat Immunol 4: 899-906.
- 330. Suter T, Biollaz G, Gatto D, Bernasconi L, Herren T, Reith W, Fontana A (2003) The brain as an immune privileged site: dendritic cells of the central nervous system inhibit T cell activation. Eur J Immunol 33: 2998-3006.
- 331. Suto A, Kashiwakuma D, Kagami S, Hirose K, Watanabe N, Yokote K, Saito Y, Nakayama T, Grusby MJ, Iwamoto I, Nakajima H (2008) Development and characterization of IL-21-producing CD4+ T cells. J Exp Med 205: 1369-1379.

 Suzumura A, Sawada M, Marunouchi T (1996) Selective induction of interleukin-6 in mouse microglia by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Brain Res 713: 192-198.

Neurodegener 6: 78.

- Suzumura A, Sawada M, Yamamoto H, Marunouchi T (1993) Transforming growth factor-beta suppresses activation and proliferation of microglia in vitro. J Immunol 151: 2150-2158.
- 335. Swain SL, McKenzie DT, Weinberg AD, Hancock W (1988) Characterization of T helper 1 and 2 cell subsets in normal mice. Helper T cells responsible for IL-4 and IL-5 production are present as precursors that require priming before they develop into lymphokine-secreting cells. J Immunol 141: 3445-3455.
- 336. Swain SL, Weinberg AD, English M, Huston G (1990) IL-4 directs the development of Th2-like helper effectors. J Immunol 145: 3796-3806.
- 337. Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH (2000) A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell 100: 655-669.
- 338. Tabib A, Krispin A, Trahtemberg U, Verbovetski I, Lebendiker M, Danieli T, Mevorach D (2009) Thrombospondin-1-N-terminal domain induces a phagocytic state and thrombospondin-1-C-terminal domain induces a tolerizing phenotype in dendritic cells. PLoS One 4: e6840.
- 339. Takahashi T, Tagami T, Yamazaki S, Uede T, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi N, Mak TW, Sakaguchi S (2000) Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. J Exp Med 192: 303-310.
- 340. Takeda K, Akira S (2007) Toll-like receptors. Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 14: Unit.
- 341. Taki S, Sato T, Ogasawara K, Fukuda T, Sato M, Hida S, Suzuki G, Mitsuyama M, Shin EH, Kojima S, Taniguchi T, Asano Y (1997) Multistage regulation of Th1-type immune responses by the transcription factor IRF-1. Immunity 6: 673-679.
- 342. Tan JK, O'Neill HC (2005) Maturation requirements for dendritic cells in T cell stimulation leading to tolerance versus immunity. J Leukoc Biol 78: 319-324.

- 343. Tarozzo G, Campanella M, Ghiani M, Bulfone A, Beltramo M (2002) Expression of fractalkine and its receptor, CX3CR1, in response to ischaemia-reperfusion brain injury in the rat. Eur J Neurosci 15: 1663-1668.
- 344. Taylor A, Akdis M, Joss A, Akkoc T, Wenig R, Colonna M, Daigle I, Flory E, Blaser K, Akdis CA (2007) IL-10 inhibits CD28 and ICOS costimulations of T cells via src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120: 76-83.
- 345. Taylor A, Verhagen J, Blaser K, Akdis M, Akdis CA (2006) Mechanisms of immune suppression by interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta: the role of T regulatory cells. Immunology 117: 433-442.
- 346. Teft WA, Kirchhof MG, Madrenas J (2006) A molecular perspective of CTLA-4 function. Annu Rev Immunol 24: 65-97.
- 347. Thery C, Amigorena S (2001) The cell biology of antigen presentation in dendritic cells. Curr Opin Immunol 13: 45-51.
- 348. Tone M, Tone Y, Fairchild PJ, Wykes M, Waldmann H (2001) Regulation of CD40 function by its isoforms generated through alternative splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 1751-1756.
- 349. Trinchieri G, Pflanz S, Kastelein RA (2003) The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines: new players in the regulation of T cell responses. Immunity 19: 641-644.
- 350. Tuosto L, Acuto O (1998) CD28 affects the earliest signaling events generated by TCR engagement. Eur J Immunol 28: 2131-2142.
- 351. Turley SJ, Inaba K, Garrett WS, Ebersold M, Unternaehrer J, Steinman RM, Mellman I (2000) Transport of peptide-MHC class II complexes in developing dendritic cells. Science 288: 522-527.
- 352. van Kooten C, Banchereau J (1997) Immune regulation by CD40-CD40-L interactions. Front Biosci 2: d1-11.
- 353. van Rossum D, Hanisch UK (2004) Microglia. Metab Brain Dis 19: 393-411.
- 354. Vandenborre K, van Gool SW, Kasran A, Ceuppens JL, Boogaerts MA, Vandenberghe P (1999) Interaction of CTLA-4 (CD152) with CD80 or CD86 inhibits human T-cell activation. Immunology 98: 413-421.
- 355. Vassiliou E, Jing H, Ganea D (2003) Prostaglandin E2 inhibits TNF production in murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. Cell Immunol 223: 120-132.

- 356. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24: 179-189.
- 357. Vijayakrishnan L, Slavik JM, Illes Z, Greenwald RJ, Rainbow D, Greve B, Peterson LB, Hafler DA, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH, Wicker LS, Kuchroo VK (2004) An autoimmune disease-associated CTLA-4 splice variant lacking the B7 binding domain signals negatively in T cells. Immunity 20: 563-575.
- 358. Vincent VA, Lowik CW, Verheijen JH, de Bart AC, Tilders FJ, Van Dam AM (1998) Role of astrocyte-derived tissue-type plasminogen activator in the regulation of endotoxin-stimulated nitric oxide production by microglial cells. Glia 22: 130-137.
- 359. Vincent VA, Tilders FJ, Van Dam AM (1997) Inhibition of endotoxin-induced nitric oxide synthase production in microglial cells by the presence of astroglial cells: a role for transforming growth factor beta. Glia 19: 190-198.
- 360. von Bernhardi R, Eugenin J (2004) Microglial reactivity to beta-amyloid is modulated by astrocytes and proinflammatory factors. Brain Res 1025: 186-193.
- Wallet MA, Sen P, Tisch R (2005) Immunoregulation of dendritic cells. Clin Med Res 3: 166-175.
- 362. Walunas TL, Lenschow DJ, Bakker CY, Linsley PS, Freeman GJ, Green JM, Thompson CB, Bluestone JA (1994) CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. Immunity 1: 405-413.
- 363. Wan YY, Flavell RA (2006) The roles for cytokines in the generation and maintenance of regulatory T cells. Immunol Rev 212: 114-130.
- 364. Wang X, Chen M, Wandinger KP, Williams G, Dhib-Jalbut S (2000) IFN-beta-1b inhibits IL-12 production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in an IL-10dependent mechanism: relevance to IFN-beta-1b therapeutic effects in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol 165: 548-557.
- 365. Watanabe M, Watanabe S, Hara Y, Harada Y, Kubo M, Tanabe K, Toma H, Abe R (2005) ICOS-mediated costimulation on Th2 differentiation is achieved by the enhancement of IL-4 receptor-mediated signaling. J Immunol 174: 1989-1996.
- 366. Wegener AM, Letourneur F, Hoeveler A, Brocker T, Luton F, Malissen B (1992) The T cell receptor/CD3 complex is composed of at least two autonomous transduction modules. Cell 68: 83-95.
- 367. Wei J, Barr J, Kong LY, Wang Y, Wu A, Sharma AK, Gumin J, Henry V, Colman H, Sawaya R, Lang FF, Heimberger AB (2010) Glioma-associated cancer-initiating cells induce immunosuppression. Clin Cancer Res 16: 461-473.

- Wei L, Laurence A, Elias KM, O'Shea JJ (2007) IL-21 is produced by Th17 cells and drives IL-17 production in a STAT3-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 282: 34605-34610.
- 369. Wei R, Jonakait GM (1999) Neurotrophins and the anti-inflammatory agents interleukin-4 (IL-4), IL-10, IL-11 and transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) down-regulate T cell costimulatory molecules B7 and CD40 on cultured rat microglia. J Neuroimmunol 95: 8-18.
- Wells AD, Walsh MC, Bluestone JA, Turka LA (2001) Signaling through CD28 and CTLA-4 controls two distinct forms of T cell anergy. J Clin Invest 108: 895-903.
- 371. Wesolowska A, Kwiatkowska A, Slomnicki L, Dembinski M, Master A, Sliwa M, Franciszkiewicz K, Chouaib S, Kaminska B (2008) Microglia-derived TGF-beta as an important regulator of glioblastoma invasion--an inhibition of TGF-betadependent effects by shRNA against human TGF-beta type II receptor. Oncogene 27: 918-930.
- 372. Willart MA, Lambrecht BN (2009) The danger within: endogenous danger signals, atopy and asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 39: 12-19.
- 373. Williams K, Dooley N, Ulvestad E, Becher B, Antel JP (1996) IL-10 production by adult human derived microglial cells. Neurochem Int 29: 55-64.
- 374. Workman CJ, Szymczak-Workman AL, Collison LW, Pillai MR, Vignali DA (2009) The development and function of regulatory T cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 66: 2603-2622.
- 375. Wu CY, Kaur C, Sivakumar V, Lu J, Ling EA (2009) Kv1.1 expression in microglia regulates production and release of proinflammatory cytokines, endothelins and nitric oxide. Neuroscience 158: 1500-1508.
- 376. Wu CY, Warrier RR, Carvajal DM, Chua AO, Minetti LJ, Chizzonite R, Mongini PK, Stern AS, Gubler U, Presky DH, Gately MK (1996) Biological function and distribution of human interleukin-12 receptor beta chain. Eur J Immunol 26: 345-350.
- 377. Wu Y, Borde M, Heissmeyer V, Feuerer M, Lapan AD, Stroud JC, Bates DL, Guo L, Han A, Ziegler SF, Mathis D, Benoist C, Chen L, Rao A (2006) FOXP3 controls regulatory T cell function through cooperation with NFAT. Cell 126: 375-387.
- 378. Xiao BG, Xu LY, Yang JS (2002) TGF-beta 1 synergizes with GM-CSF to promote the generation of glial cell-derived dendriform cells in vitro. Brain Behav Immun 16: 685-697.

- 379. Xiao S, Jin H, Korn T, Liu SM, Oukka M, Lim B, Kuchroo VK (2008) Retinoic acid increases Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibits development of Th17 cells by enhancing TGF-beta-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 receptor expression. J Immunol 181: 2277-2284.
- 380. Xu LY, Yang JS, Xiao BG (2002) TGF-beta1-conditioned glial cell-derived dendritic cells inhibit expansion of MBP-reactive T cells in vitro. Neuroreport 13: 35-39.
- 381. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Uematsu S, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S (2003) TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4-mediated MyD88-independent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4: 1144-1150.
- 382. Yamazaki S, Bonito AJ, Spisek R, Dhodapkar M, Inaba K, Steinman RM (2007) Dendritic cells are specialized accessory cells along with TGF- for the differentiation of Foxp3+ CD4+ regulatory T cells from peripheral Foxp3 precursors. Blood 110: 4293-4302.
- 383. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J, Shellito JE, Bagby GJ, Nelson S, Charrier K, Peschon JJ, Kolls JK (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194: 519-527.
- 384. Yu A, Zhu L, Altman NH, Malek TR (2009) A low interleukin-2 receptor signaling threshold supports the development and homeostasis of T regulatory cells. Immunity 30: 204-217.
- 385. Yunis EJ, Hong R, Grewe MA, Martinez C, Cornelius E, Good RA (1967) Postthymectomy wasting associated with autoimmune phenomena. I. Antiglobulin-positive anemia in A and C57BL-6 Ks mice. J Exp Med 125: 947-966.
- 386. Zheng SG, Wang J, Horwitz DA (2008) Cutting edge: Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by IL-2 and TGF-beta are resistant to Th17 conversion by IL-6. J Immunol 180: 7112-7116.
- 387. Zheng W, Flavell RA (1997) The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. Cell 89: 587-596.
- 388. Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W (2007) Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 445: 648-651.
- 389. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR (2007) IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol 8: 967-974.

- 390. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, Shen Y, Du J, Rubtsov YP, Rudensky AY, Ziegler SF, Littman DR (2008) TGF-beta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. Nature 453: 236-240.
- 391. Zhu J, Guo L, Watson CJ, Hu-Li J, Paul WE (2001) Stat6 is necessary and sufficient for IL-4's role in Th2 differentiation and cell expansion. J Immunol 166: 7276-7281.
- 392. Zhu J, Paul WE (2008) CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood 112: 1557-1569.
- 393. Zujovic V, Benavides J, Vige X, Carter C, Taupin V (2000) Fractalkine modulates TNF-alpha secretion and neurotoxicity induced by microglial activation. Glia 29: 305-315.